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Brammer is a pan-European, added value technical
distnibutor with a strong local presence
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Our priorities

We provide power transmission
components, engineering and
other related industrial services
and fulfil a pivotal role between
customers and supphers, adding
value to both through services
of the highest quality.

Our strategy has been clear
and consistent over the past
six years - and 1s focused on
the four key areas of growth,
capabilities, costs and
synergles.

Growth

Country organic growth
Key Accounis

Insites

Product range extension
Geographical development

v

Suppler rationalisation
European buying

IT and other cost reductions
Capital employed
management

Our number ong pnonty 1s growth — actuaved n five man areas by using our wealth

of expenence to focus on key market segments and producing sotutions for our
customers based on this expenence, by providing solutions for Key Account customers
on both a national and a pan-European basis by developing the insite concept with
our larger customers, by cross-selling, and through acquisiien

Our capabilities strategy aims to ensure that our people are the best recruited,
best trained, and most highly skilled people in the industry

Our cost strategy ensures that we source product under the most advantageous terms
for our customers, and that our sales, distnbution and administration costs are spent

as efficiently as possible

Our synergies strategy provides benefits by leveraging the fact that we supply the same
service and products {0 the same type of customer in over 300 locations in 15 countries
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» Systems integration
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Over 300 locations in 15 countries

European market leader

With over 300 locations in 15 countries, Brammer has the widest coverage
avallable to supply those customers who wish to reduce their supplier
base and purchase our products on a pan-European basis. Most of our
customers find that there 1s a Brammer branch local to their operations

In most of our countries.

We believe the market opportunity for our chosen product
range has a value of €20 biion We therefore have a less
than 3% market share of this extremely fragmented market,
but nevertheless are the market leader Whilst we enjoy
more than a 10% share of the beanngs market in Europe,
significantly more than any other player we have less than
2% share of the market for power transmission products
fiuid power and the tools and general mantenance market,
gving us a huge opportunity to cross-sell as we establish
the full product range in each country
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Our value proposition

Custorner requires | Brammer capability
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Our extensive range of added value services are categorised under ()} the extensive
porttolio of mechanical MRO products that we have avalable - from bearings to belts,
from seals to chain, from motors to gearboxes, (i} the way in which we can modify and
adapt these products to ensure that our customers’ specific needs can be addressed,
{n} the business processes by which we can assist our customers improve their
nternal efficiencies and (v} the orgamisation solutions through which we can assist
our customers manage more effectively their mechanical MRQ requirements




Brammer I1s the nght partner

“Brammar has been ouwr suppher for two
years now and we can completely rely on thewr
technical support Over 95% of the delvenes
are on tune  They offer sotutions {or our
custom-specific spare parts which decreases
our costs Qur contacts within Brammer

are very positive and we are looking forward
to continuing business with them for many
more years to come "

Jersm Zweerus - Maintenance Manager,
Nutrixo, Delifrance

Chairman’s statement

“Brarmmer supports us 24/7 They make
constructive suggeshons and we ind them
10 be very flexible and reliable ”

Richard Luten - Cabot Multi-site Buyer

“Bramrher 1s the nghl partner for us BP
has started working with Brammer in order
10 resolve our 1ssues we have wilh bearings
The first results took very promismg ™
Vincent Hack — Maintenance Manager,
“Brammer makes a difference They respond CBU BP Refinery
vary quickly, at any tane of the day or rught

and they are really dedicated tous *

Menno Timmermans - EECV Purchase

Manager Thyssen Krupp Group

In the iInterim review | expressed cautious optimism for Brammer's
second half prospects. The outcome indicates a continuance of both
the recovery, which became evident towards the end of the first quarter
of 2010, and further market share gains Consequently the group has
been able to report mproving results as the year progressed.

Operabions in every country reported higher trading profits
than for 2009 and i most cases with substantial double
digit gains The cost reductions implemented in 2009
combmed with higher sales volumes tc produce a strong
recovery In profits Together with a welcome improvement
in our markets these results also demonstrate the
soundness of the group's strategy and the high quality

of the management team

Strategy

Dunng the year the Board conducted a full review of the
strategy which was ongnally concenved in 2004 As has
been stated previously our strategy 1s based on clanty

With the excepiion of the global recession in 2008/2009,
the group's results have been rabust and growing since 2004
The Board beleves that with the substantal opporiunities
for growth through Key Accounts and new products there
s a significant and coninuing potential for further organic
growth Coupled with the ongomg development of our
systems and people skills there s a great opportunity

to continue growing strongly We do still require a greater
presence In certan of our European terntonas and remaimn
alert to the possibilities for any suitable acquisitions
However we do believe the emphasis should be very
clearly focused on realising the organic growth potential
as a first prionty

and simplicity and 1s solidly embedded and understood
by management at all levels It 1s our clear intantion
to continue wath the principles of the onginal strategy
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Our record

Figure one — Revenue
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Figure two = Profit before tax, before amortisation and exceptional items
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Dawvid Dunn — Chairman

“Ouwr performance tin 2010 demaonstrated
the success of our strategy with strong
organic growth clearly confirming significant
market share gains The Board remains
confident that Brammer's business model
and the strength of its people will continue
to deliver satisfactory returns for all of its
stakeholders "




Chairman’s statement continued

Results for 2010

Sales totalied £468 4 milhon representing a 9 9% Increase
year on year In constant cumrency the increase was

12 5%, and n terms of sales per working day was 11 6%
At the 2010 intenms the reported increase was 6 3%
demonstratng the growing mamentum as the year
progressed Key Accounts sales were again an important
element in this growth increasing by 17 2% in the year
There continues o be an exciing prpeling of new Key
Account prospects as many large corporations recognise
the benelits of consohdatng ther mantenance, repair
and operations {“MRO") purchases Brammer ramains
uniguely placed to take advantage of this trend with

its wide European distnbution network

That gross margins for 2010 (at 30%) wera broadly similar
{0 200915 encouraging given the level of new product
introductions which initially tend to dilute margins  Sales,
distnbution, and administrative costs increased by £8 8
miflion or 7 6% on a hke for like basis The two principal
factors accounting for this were bonus and sales cormmission
accruals across the group and the cessation of short tme
working in Germany Due to the recession and our results

In 2009 group payrolls were frozen and mirmal bonuses
and sales commissions were pawd for that year With the
improvemant in results, bonuses and sales commissions
wili be paid for 2030 and this has required a cost Increase
of some £5 6 miflian in these accounts compared to last year

The resultant trading outcome for 2010 1s an operating profit
{before amortisation of goodwill and intangibles} of £23 0
mithion compared with £18 4 milhion in 2008, an ncreass

of 25% Pre tax profits on the same basis were £20 6 millicn
benefiing from a much reduced nterest cost following

the Novermber 2008 rights 1ssue, and were 49% ahead

of the pnor year There were no exceptional items reported
in 2010

EPS (continuing operaticns before amortisation and
exceptional tems) ncreased to 13 9p (2009 13 1p)
despite the waighted average number of shares reflecting
the full year impact of the 2009 1 for 1 nghts issue
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Balance sheet

Net debt at the year end was £36 7 million compared

to last year's £39 9 mihon The reduction was after paying
£7 9 mihon of deferred acquisiion payments from prior
years, but includes a favourable currency movement

of £1 7 milion Working capal remained well under control
throughout the year with improvements in all the key ratios
and a significantly better cash to cash ¢ycle at 63 6 days
{2009 78 4 days)

Dwidend

The intenm dmdend for 2010 was increased by 10 5%

to 2 1p per share The outlook has continued to improve
n tha second half and, reflecting the Board's confidence,
a final dvidend of 4 5p per share 15 now proposed

This 1s & 25% ncrease over last year's final dwvidend
and gives a total of 6 6p for the year compared to the

5 5p for 2009 In total, this represents an increase of 20%
year on year At 6 6p the dwidend 1s covered 2 1 times

Prospects

QOur performance in 2010 demonstrated the success

of our strategy, with strong orgamc growth clearly confirming
significant market share gans There 1s high morale across
the group and 1t 1s a credit to all of our employees that
having endured a difficult penod through the recent recession
the business has emerged in such good order | should like
to thank them all for therr effort and commitment

The early evidence in 201115 encouraging with over

20% organic revertue growth in January, continued strong
margins, and all four growth drivers contributing to further
market share gains Whilst there 1s still a high degree

of economic uncertainty In Europe, the Board remains
confident that Brammer’s business model and the strength
of its people will continue to deliver satisfactory returns

for all of its stakeholders




Jakeb Alkil — Group growth drector

“We have been apphlying our industnal
market segmentation approach since 2004
and recogrsed the strategic advantage
of expanding our business within the
defensive industry seciors to reduce the
impact of market cyclicality on bottorn
ine performance The top market segment
in 2010 for Brarmmer in revenue terms
was the Food & Dnnk segment gensrating
total revenues of £59 millon 1epresenting
growth of 35% against 2008 "




Strategic drver - Market segmentation

This slrategy has proven successful, our
mcreased foous an tradiicnally resihent
ndustry segiments, such as Food and Drink,
FMCG and Utilities, means these industry
sectors now maka up 17% of the Brammer
business and have contributed substantially
to our robust results in what most have found
to be a challenging business climate

Ouwr approach has remaned the same
thratighout, first wa develop a clear under-
standing of the target segment - the overall
s1ze, dnvers, customers and therr unique

neads Wa then use the mformaton to gan

a detaled understanding of the manufacturng
process and the vanous apphcations which
generate demand for the MRO products

and senices we supply The resulting report
provides detaled descnption of the application
of Brammer products within that industry and
gives our sales teams all the mformation they
need to successfully target that sector Each
country's operating business then selects the
key target segments and executes a detaled
markseting and sales programme that provides
the basis for further business growth

Metals was the second biggest segment for

us I revenue tanns across the group in 2010
with significant growth of 11% generating sales
af £52 millon In 2010, the Automotive segment
showed a sigruficant sign of recovery for us
and was our third targest segment in revenus
terms with growth of 41% translating into sales
of £43 milion In 2010

Chief executive’s review

2010 marked a return to significant growth and market

share gains for Brammer.

In 2009 we faced the worst economic conditions since
becoming a isted company, but weathered the storm well
with reported sales down just 10 9% Although we worked
hard to ameligrate the mordant impact of the unfavourable
economic conditions, reducing costs ke many other
companes, we did not cut back investment in our key
growth drivers of Key Accounts, Product Range Extension,
Insites and segment based marketing, nor did we close
any branches This approach served us well, and our
performance improved throughout 2010, where, once agan,
our strategy remained unchanged, we continued to focus
on our four growth drivers, and ended 2010 with a year

on year organic growth rate in sales per working day

at constant currency (SPWD) of 15 7% in the fourth quarter
We bekeve we have continued to gain market shars 1n most
terntones throughout this penod

In June 2010, we carried out a review of our strategy and

estabhshed a new five year plan The conclusion was that
our strategy based on Growth, Capabilities, Costs and
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Synergies, continued to be appropriate for the future

We concluded that our tned and tested growth drivers wall
continue to effectively differentiate us from cur competition,
and will enable us to win market share whatever the market
conditions Moreover, we found amongst iop management
an increased belief and confidence in the strategy, and

a strong view that our growth drivers will allow us to increase
revenues at the rate of 12-15% per annum for some years
to comae, even if our markets are flat at best Our five

year plan 1s based on this confident outlook, and we have
established appropnate plans, country by country, to utlise
our growth drvers to achieve this level of revenue growth
Therafore, we will continue to invest n nitiatives to grow

In defensive segments such as Food and Drink, Fast Mowving
Consumer Goeds ('FMCG"), and Utiities Our Key Account
activity will continue unabated, with our value and cost
saving propositions bacoming ever more important to

our existing and potential Key Account customers We will
Increase our investment 1N our Insite programme and our
Product Range Extenston and cross-selling iniiatives will




Ralf Hellwig - Key Accounts director

~Our Key Account customers benefit from
significant cost savings {a total of more than
€35 milion customer venfied cost savings

N 2010) as we help them to rationalise ther
supply base, improved production efficiency.,
as aresult of Brarnmer s unigue technical
expertise obtained through working across
virtually all industnal sectors with all top
MRO brands and considerable reductions
n therr working capital *




Strategic driver - Key Accounts

Key Accounts reman fundamenttal to
Brammer's conlinued growth - and both

our pan-European and national Key Accounts
have grown from strength to strength In 2010
we won a further 12 pan-European major
contracts now totalling 34 of the ggest
manufacturing companies in Europe, Ahlstrom,
Alcoa Bosch, Cabot, Cargill, Coca-Cola
Entemnses, Continental, Crown Cork & Seal,
DuPont, Eaton, Emcon, GKN, HDC - Hanson,
Heinz, Henkel, Hutchinson, Ideal Standard,
Inwista, Knorr-Bramse, Kraft Foods Michelin
Moniar, Phulp Momns International Procter

& Gamble, Rexam, Rhodia, Rio Tinto Alcan,
Sam Goban, Schaeider Electric, SKG,

TI Automotive, TRW Valeo and Yara

As mote and more major national and mult-
national manufactunng companies sesk 1o
reduce and consolidate thewr supply base they
look to supplers who can meet ther needs
and supply at consistently hugh levels of service
across the whole of Europe  Also, our national
Key Accounts have grown throughout Europe
and in totat, Key Accounts now rapresents

36 1% of total Brammer sales

PSA Peugeot Citroén

PSA Peugeot Citrodn has bean Brammer's
partner since the site In Mulhouse was opened
in 1974 PSA Peugeot Citroén has 14 major
factones in France and all of them are being
served by Brammer The current contract was

signed n 2009 for three years Asked how PSA
Group raled Brammer's performance tor 2010,
the very positive 1esponse was "As a result

of Brammer's understanding of all our ndustnal
processaes, they are ideally placed 10 become
our preferred supplier for all of PSA's European
plants Brammer's outstanding techmical
expertise as well as ther well established
position n the market helps

us optimise costs and quality

for industnal supphes

Brammer's excellent

qualty of service has been
awarded the PSA Supphers
Award 2011 7

Chief executive's review cantinued

contnue to give us good growth in product lines such

as Mechanical Power Transmission, Fluid Power, and Tools
and General Maintenance products especially on the
continent where we are significantly under-represented

" these product ines

Finally, our scale, geographic coverage, and focus as a
technical specialist in a core range of products will continue
to reinforce to our potential customers that we are a strong
partner that adds real value to ther business Qur ability

to provide a consistent qualty of product and service across
the entre Beanngs, Power Transmission, Flud Power and
Tools and General Maintenance product range in Europe
remans unparalfeled

Operational review

Brammer 1s the leading European suppher of technical
components and related services to the MRO markets

In 2010, revenue increasad by 9 9% to £468 4 milion (2009
£426 1 milhon), whilst operating profit before amortsation
and exceptional items increased by 25% to £23 0 milhon
{2009 £18B 4 milicn}) Earnings per share (before amortisation
and exceptional items and restated for the effect of the
nghts 1ssue} Increased by 6 1% to 13 9 pence per share
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{2009 13 1 pence per share) Cash generated from
cperations before outflows relating to exceptional items was
£27 5 milkon (2008 £33 3 milion), dnven significantly by an
improvernent in inventory days {from 91 days to 73 days)

Operating margin {operating profit before amortisation
and exceptional items) increased from 4 3% to 4 9% and
revanue per head was £195,000 {2009 £183 000)

UK

Qur largest operation, and the cne where the Brammer
strategy 1s most mature, achieved sales per working day
{SPWD) growth of 8%, and increased operating profit
by 41% to £6 5 million The growth rate accelerated
throughout the year

Key Account sales grew by 12 0% in the year, and now
represent 58% of turnover Several new contracts were won
with customers such as Diageo, Royal Mint, GKN Aerospace
and Cargll Our value proposttion continues to be attractive
to customers and we have further honed our skdls in delvenng
cost savings and adding value for our customers In 2010
we recorded nearly 3 000 indmidual cost savings for 800
customers, with a combined saving of more than £17 million




John Veale — Commarcral director

“The Insite strategy 1s a powerful growth diver
helping Brammar to broaden and accelerate
the support for our most important customers
Qur customers benefit from the in-house
best-n-class industnal engineenng knowtedge
resource accredited 1o Brammer's vast
axpenance working in virtually avery incustry
sector across Eurcpe insites help Brammer
cross-sell products and services whilst
reducing the customers' total acquisition
cost, reducing ther working capitai and
mproving the overall proeduction efficiency ™




Strategic driver - Insites

We accelerated our Insite enplementations

m 2010 By the end of 2010 Brammer had
222 Insites across Europe 83 full-time and
139 part-time Total growth i all our Insites
was 20 0% compared to 2008 with generated
sales of £65 1 mithon

Insites remaned a very important part of the
Brammer strategy in 2010 and proved that

it wall rermian our biggest opportunity to increase
our non-beanng sales We keep strengthening
our Insite capabiites by continuous training
through extensive Internal training programmes
and workshops ensunng we assist and service
our Key Account customers i the best
possible way

Chief executive’s review contnued

We have Brammet employses working within
our custorners’ sites virtually all over Eurcpe in
a whote vanety of ndustres and with a whole
range of world class manufacturing companies
including such market leading orgarusatons
as Coca-Cola Enterpnses, Kraft Foods, Rexam,
Procter & Gamble, Alcoa and Micheln This
shows that our customers have embraced our
Insite concept acress Europe we now have
our majorty of Insites in Span {15 Instes),
France {22 Insites), Germany {20), Potand

{10} and an impresswve 143 Insites In the UK

Through the close relationship and imore
detaled understanding of the customers’
needs we work 10 delver true production

efticiencies and cost savings to clients
nrefation to streamlining of shop floor stock,
decreasing transaction costs, improving
productmty through engagement of Brammer
and suppher staff, reducing working capatal,
reducing energy consumption through
consultancy services frerm Brammer, supplier
rabionaksation leading to cost reductions,

and vishdty of Brammer's entre pan-European
inventory on sie

We opened twelve new full tme Insites and increased sales
through these Insites and part-tme Insites (those locations
where we have several regular chnics with the customer's
staff each weel} by 17 4% Eight existing Insites closed
{including three factory closures, with the rest resulting from
a decline In the customer's business) gving a net increase
of four We opened two new branches in Inverness and
Pernbroke and expect to open moere in the future We also
opened a company In Iceland to support new business
opportunittes In the Power Generation Metals and Food
and Beverage sectors

Finadly, our cross seling tntiatives continued to be successiul
with sales growth of 11 1% in our Fluid Power range and
14 9% m our Tools and General Mantenanca range

Germany

SPWD on a constant currency basis grew by 13 6%, with
an exit rate in the fourth quarter of 22 7% Operating profit
improved by 14% Our investment in Key Accounts paid

off with an increase in sales in this segment of 20 2% and
we won new coniracts with Cystar, Wepa, GDF Suez, Carglll,
Ideal Standard, Yara, Schneider Electnc and Tl Automotve
No contracts were lost We accelerated the development

of our value proposition and provided €6 7 millon of savings
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to our Key Account customers Key Accounts now represent
23 1% of total revenues

Qur earlier focused investment in Mechanical Power
Transmission and Motors generated healthy sales growth

of 26 6%, whilst our new investment in Tools and General
Maintenance Products resulted in growth of 27 2% We won
ten new Insites with Insite sales growing 30 8% Our focus
on the market segments of Food and Drink, Utiities, and
Construction and Aggregates resulted in several new contract
wins and ncreased market shars, 112 customer events
ware held across Germany addressing more than 1,400
MRO specialists from those segments, raising the awareness
of Brammer as a solution provider The first Brammer
Germany MRO catalogue was introducsd, with 11,000
copies distrbuted to 5,800 customers

France

SPWOD in constant currency increased by 11 1%, with

an exit rate of 12 7% in the fourth quarter Operating profit
increased by 11 1% Key Account sales increased 18 8%
and, including automotve, now reprasent 45% of turnover
We delivered a total of 558 signed off cost sawings to our
customers, representing €3 3 millon of savings New
contracts were won with Clemessy, La Boulangere, SNOP.




Carl-Friedrich Wayand - Eurcpean
purchasing director

“We have a substantial custorner base and

a broad product portioho ofiered by our
strategic and preferred suppliers This simple
but powerful strategy enables us to sell mora
products to existing customers with whom
we have a close relationship and who prefer
buying from us to consokdats their supplier
base Tharefore, Product Range Extension
and cross-selling will be key growth drivers
for Brammer over the coming years ”




Strategic driver - Product range extansion

Our product range of bearings, Methanical
Power Transmission (MPT), Flud Power
(hydraulics and pneurnatics), and Tools and
General Maintenance items, are all used in the
mantenance ol tha plant regardiess of the
INGusiry our customer operates in With the
continued addition of new product ranges
across our country terntones, our vary extensive
product range means that the MRO market
opportunity avadabls to us 15 more than €20
bilhon, wath bearings representing orly around
10% That means there s a significant
mechanical MBO opportunity in relation to
selling ather products in owr extended range

With a less Lhan 1% share of the mdrkel
potential {estimated 1o be in excess ol €10
biflon) a key area of opportunity for Branune:

18 1n the fd power sector, and more specificaly
in the hydraulics area where there 1s a significant
growth opporturity

In October 2010, Brarmmer and Parker
Hannifin (the world's largest manufacturer of
motion and control technologies and systems}
signed a strategec pan-European partnership
agresment, designed to extend the level of
support and product avallability that Brammer
and Parker Hannifin offer to customers

Another key area ¢f opporturity for Brammer
15 1 the Tools and General Maintenance
product group where wea achieved growth
of 24% (1o £29 midhon} n 2010 gnvang us a less
than 1% share of the market potantial
esumated to be worth more than €5 bilion
in Europe Adding more tools and general
maintenance products helps Brammer
cross-sell to our existing customers whilst
helping them congsokdate thew supply base
and reduce total acquisition costs

Chief executive's review continued

Claas, and DS Smith Packaging The recently launched new
product intiative of Tools and General Maintenance produced
sales growth of 52 1% and this segment now represents
5% of total sales in France Fluid Power also continued to
grow, with sales up 28 0%. and now represents 14% of total
sales We continued to focus our marketing actwvty on Food
and Drink and Utililes with 60 customer events attracting
naarly 2,000 existing and potantial customers

Spain

SPWD on a constant currency basis Increased by 9 5%,
with an exit rate of 15 1% n the fourth quarter, whilst
operating profit Increased by 20 8% Our Key Account
revenues increased by 19 5%, and wa won new contracts
with Berlys, Europastry, Nestle, Schneider Elecinc Micheln,
Henkel and T} Automotive Key Accounts now represent

26 8% of sales and we prowvided over €1 6 millan of cost
savings to our Key Account customers Three new Insites
were won, with Insite sales increasing by 22% Our marketing
focus was on Food and Dnnk {up 13%), Automotive {up
24%), Metals (up 309%) and Chemical (Up 25%) Seventeen
customer symposiums attracted 271 customers Good
progress was made in Product Range Extension, with sales
of the Tools and General Mantenance range up 48 0%,
and Fluid Power up 34 2% These two product ranges
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which represented only 8% of sales in 2009 contnbuted
over one third of total revenue growth in 2010

Benelux

SPWD In the Benelux countnes grew by 10 7%, with an
exit rate of 17 4% in the fourth quarter, whist operating
profit increased by 62 5% We opened a new branch

in Zeeland We won new contracts with Cargill, AGC Glass,
Yara, Tl Automotive, Mora, and many others In Holland

we Introduced many new preduct ines, with Mechanical
Power Transmission sales growing by 20 1% and Fluid
Power by 24 3% In Belgiumn, Fluid Power grew by 32%,
and Tools and General Mamntenance by 71 2% We opened
five new Insites n Belkgum, ncreasing sales through Insites
by 87 1% OQur focus on Food and Drink gave nse to

819 growth i Holland and 39% growth in Belgium in this
segment, and now represents 11 2% of Benelux sales

Eastern Europe

In our Eastern European businesses (compnsing Poland,
Hungary, the Czech Republic and Slovakia), total SPWD

in constant currency grew by 17 6% whilst operaung profit
increased by 26 3% In Poland, SPWD increased by 19 3%
at consiani currency The new Key Account team continued
to be successful, with Key Account growth of 50 4% and




Chief executive's review continued

good development with Colgate, Timken Saint Gobain,
Cadbury, Michelin, Kraft Foods, Heinz and Procter & Gamble
In the Czech Republic and Slovakia, SPWD in constant
currency increased by 15 5% Key Accounts grew by

37 1%, and new contracts were won with tdeal Standard,
PMIi and Tl Automotive We opened our first two Insites

'n Hungary, the SPWD growth was 26 2%, and new
contracts wera won with Alcoa, Coca-Cola Enterprises

and Michelin We opened our first Insite in Hungary

during the year

Other segments

In respact of the other segments, Austna, Ireland and liaty,
SPWD grew by 19 8%, whilst operating profit increased

to £0 2 mullion from a loss of £0 3 millon In Austria SPWD
were up 7 4%, in ltaly SPWD were up 25 7% and in Ireland
SPWD were up 22 3%

Strategy
Ourr strategy remains unchanged under the headings
of Growth, Capabilities, Synergies and Costs

Growth

Overall revenue growth in constant currency was 12 5%,

a result we believe 15 significantly better than the market

It 1s evident that our strategies of attacking market segments
with focused marketing maternal and specialist sales people,
growth through Key Accounts, the development of Instes,
and growth through cross-seling and Product Range
Extension are contrbuting to significant market share

gains In most terntores

We continued to focus on a market segmentation approach,

increasing our knowladge of customers’ processes and

salling to their specific needs In particular

e Food and Dnnk, a strong focus area for many of our
businesses and a key strategic segment for Brammer,
grew by £15 4 million or 35 3%, to £59 1 mullon
Ower the last three years our Food and Drnk business
has grown by 104% and increased from 6 7% of sales
in 2007 10 12 2% of sales in 2010

o Pulp and Paper grew by 32% overall to £22 million

e Utiities a relatively new segment for many of our
businesses, declined by 2 5% due to a small number
of large customers decreasing therr demand

o Automotive saw a good recovery with sales up 41%
to £42 9 miflion

Key Account sales grew by 17 2% and now represent

36 1% of total sales Twelve new European contracts were
won, each with a minimum contract penod of three years,
and ultimate potential annual revenues in excess of £70
millon We continued to focus our business on dafensive
segments and increased our sales te the Food and Drink
segment by 23 2%, FMCG by 33 9%, and Chemical by

29 1% We also saw good recovery in the more cyclical
sectors of Automotive {up 36 1%), Construction (up 13 7%)},

14 | Brammer pic | Annual Report 2010

and Matals {up 22 2%} Our value proposiuon proved
tincreasingly attractive to customers and we provided
nearty 5,000 separate cost savings to our customers
worth over €35 milon

We opened 44 new Insites 18 full time and 26 part tme,
with overall growth of 20% to £65 milken Howaver,

35 Insites were closed due to customer factory closures
or reduced demand gming nse to a total of 222 Insites
at the year end

Extending the product offering to reflect the full Brammer
range In every terntory continued and whilst beanng sales
grew by 7%, non bearng sales rose 15 6%. suggesting
significant market share gans dnven by growth of 24 2%

In Tools and Mantenance to £28 9 million and 15% growih
n Fiwd Power to £74 1 milion Interestingly, our ¢ross saling
activites became significant in the base business In the
second half of 2010 Overali sales growth in the second
half was 17 0%, which represented 18 5% growth in Key
Accounts (37 1% of the total sales) and 16 1% growth

in the bhase business (62 9% of total sales) This growth rate
In the base business represents a significant improvement
compared with anything we have seen before Clearly
having introduced the product ranges of Hydraulics,

and Tools and General Maintenance (o our Key Account
custorners, which necessHated the introduction of many
new suppliers and extenstve traning of the sales force,

our sales teams are now able o Introduce those products
to our base business customers As a result we saw Flud
Power grow 17 8% 1n the base business in the second half,
Tools and General Maintenance by 23 1%, and Fasteners
and Standard Parts by 24 4% This 1s clearly a very exciting
development as we have significantly less than 1% market
share across Europe n Fluid Power and Tools and Genaral
Maintenance

We eschewed acquisittons n 2010 but mantamed contact
with and are monitoring a number of Interesting opportunities

Capabilities

The focus of our people and organisational capability

1S ©n supporting our growth To that end, our pan-European
Marketing team are continuing the roll out of our Market
Segmentation matenal across the group, with an on-going
audit of the branch network and continued implementation
work and training on how to use our sector specific matenal
Through our pan-European sales team we continued our
development of the Brammer Manual for Insite Operations
with this manual avalable in English, French German and
Sparush and in 2011 we will be testing and roling out an
Insite training programme to help raise the awareness of the
processes and tools involved in identfying, targeting and
sethng up Insites Furthermore, a sales traming programme
has been developed considenng best practices. mdustry
sector approach and our value proposition The course

will be launched in all businesses during 2011




In our developing businesses we have focused on
strengthening the management teams and traning particularly
In market segmentation, value proposition and specialist
products We have also significantly strengthened

our Key Accounts’ central team and management teams
througheout Europe

Following feedback from our customer survay, we have
contnued work on identifying the energy saving potential

of manufactunng and process driven comparues in Europe
The conservative assessment remains that over €13 billon
of energy 1s wasted across Europe In the production
processes Wa have had great support from some of our
partner suppliers and have set up a research activity with

a German Techrical Institute 1o identdfy how we can maxmise
the benefits from this work Dunng 2010, there was significant
progress through the research done by the Technical Institute
which has now given us the basic tocls we need to develop
our Energy Savings proposition in 2011 Development

of the Brammer Energy Audit 1s continuing and will be tested,
finalised and marketed to customers in 2011

In January and February 2011 we ara also conducting

an n-depth customer satisfaction survey, which unlike our
previcus surveys involves 250 telephone interviews with
customers across Europe, along with an online questionnarre
sent out to a random sample of our 80,000 customers

This will bring us a greater lavel of Insight about our
customers and will help us really understand cur customers'
neads more comprehansively and so be able to serve

them imore effectively

We continue to roll out our bespcoke suite of Distributed
Learning programmes which 1s made available electronically
to our people N eight languages In crucial customer facing
areas of the business the goal i1s to achieve 100% take-up
of the two major foundation programmes which explain the
technical aspects of the product range, and the fundamental
way the business works These foundation programmes
have been rebuilt with improved functionality and will be
relaunched in early 2011 together with new product training
modules to provide a better learning experience We will
continue to work with our suppliers ensunng cur pegple
recewve the best product traiming We also plan to upgrade
our learning management system to track, record and report
consistently on all traring actvity across the group

Fallowing our seventh annual internat survey we have
analysed the responses by region and by function for sach
of the larger countnes in order to develop detalded action
plans which were rofled out in the second half of the year
The target 1s to mantain and enhance the excellent knks
between our strategy and our people and to this end

we have worked with a new supplier to produce an updated
and improved survey using the feedback from our
European teams
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Wae have increased our use of the intranet for internal
communications and we have continued to produce

‘One Brammer’ Newsletters with the first electronic version
of this newsletter created and sent out to all of our people
this year This newsletter which 1s sent to each member

of Brammmer across Europe informs our people about
developments, successes, activities, and matters that
concern them about our performance

The Brammer European Council of employes represantatives
mests annually in June This forum faciitates commurication
betwean the Works Councils and Emgloyee Forums from
each country in the group, ensunng that the concerns and
issues raised by our people can be heard and addressed
Dunng the year we successfully launched the cycle to work
scheme in the UK Finally, n 2011 wa will be ntroducing

a new HR database to allow consolidation of all persorninel
nformation

Synergies

Dunng 2010, our pan-European Capital Employed Task
Force (“CETF"}, which began work on identifying and
delivenng opportuniies for capital smployed reduction
through stock optimisation in 2008, continued to produce
pleasing results The CETF utilises the Brammer Foundation
Systems to identify and implement best practice planning
processes across group operations, identifying excess
stocks, matching them using Master Data Management
{"MDM") and transfernng them internally using Brammer
Inling to countnes where they can be sold, together with
additional measures designed to elminate tardigradse
stock through a range of intiatves on both the supply
side and sales side

We continued to roll out the MDM application which now
contains over 2 7 miflon part numbers and over 5 million
techiical features The increasing velume and completeness
of the data held in MDM has supported a 29 3% increase

n the volume of product traded nternally using our Brammer
Inline platform Brammer Inkne provides wisibility of stock
across 10 European countries, and fully integrated electronic
trading between Brammer country businesses The Brammer
Inkne apphcation continued to evolve, with the focus on
reducing erder processing times and ¢osts, and has been
progressively extended to all internal warehouses as well

as suppliers’ stocks n 2011 we expect the MDM and

inkne platforms to form the basis for our first pan-European
webshop

The MOMASSE demand forecasting and planning tool
continued to be implemented successfully across Brammer,
and has dealt eflactively with an apparently stochastic sales
progression Each country has been able to opumise stock
levels and deliver higher levels of stock availability for

a lower nvestment in inventory Good progress was made
n developing pan-European nventory plans for certam
product groups




Figure five - External revenue by geography in constant currency terms
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Figure six - Operating profit/{loss) by geography before amortisation and exceptional items in constant currency terms
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Figure seven = Orgamic sales per working day growth
by geography in constant currency terms
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lan Fraser — Chief executive

“We have now enjoyed 19 consecutive
menths of sequential growth since the low
pont in Juns 2008 We have started 2011
at a very good rate with overall sales in
January up 21 8%, and SPWD up 17 5%,
and this rate has continued In the first
three weeks of February Encouragingly,
this strong start to the year has been
accompanied by a robust gross margin "




Chietf exacutive's review continued

The combination of MDM, Inlne, and MCMASSE hava
helped the CETF to deliver an increase in inventory of just
3% against revenue growth of 16 1% in the fourth quarter
of 2010 while maintaining and iImproving stock availability
for customer service This represents an increass n wrns
from 4 0 to 5 0 (hased on Q4 sales) despite pressures

on inventory ansing from cost increases, lengthening lead
times, and Brammer product range extensicn We estmate
that having taken these factors into account, we have
mitigated the increase in nventory by around €10 million

Costs

We continued to work on Increasing our spend with

a smaller number of supphers, and Improving tha level

of marketing support, pneing, and cooperation in the field
receved from those suppliers Gross margin remamned
more or less constant year on year

Control of costs was a hay focus of the group in 2009,
with an annualised reduction of £15 8 milkon at constant
exchange rates In 2010 reflecting the improved results,
incremental costs for bonus and sales commission of £5 6
million were charged, representing 4 8% of the total 7 6%
constant currency increase in Sales Distnbution and
Admiristrative expense (SDA) Tha batance of the increass,
£3 2 rmillon or 2 8%, represents inflation, the cessation of
short tme working In Germany, and investment 1 additonal
sales people in the final quarter of 2010 to support our
planned growth levels in 2011

The future

Our European footprint and our specialisation in the field

of Beanngs Mechanical Power Transmission, Fluid Power
and Tools and General Maintenance producis, Is a strong
platform upon which to achieve further gains in market share
in our fragmented market place Wa are now finding that
many of our customers are seeking to buy additional products
from us or accelerate contract implementation to achieve
the cost savings avallable to them as part of ther contract
with Brammer — and we have increased the rate at which
we are able to deliver those savings

Our strategy of developing a focused approach to defensive
market segments, demonstrating a clear understanding

of the unigue customer needs of that segment, will continue
to improve our new customer win rate and further Improve
the retention rate of existing customers We shall accelerate
the development of our Insite appreach to meet the demands
of our customers and will continue to strengthen the product
portfoho in each country, affording greater opportunites

for cross-selling Increasingly, we will transfer our abibity

to sell a wider product range and our skill n providing added
value cost saving to our base business_customers

Cur pipeline of acquisiion opportunities s substantial and
we will recommence acauisitve growth in 2011, albbent

at alower rate than in the 2004-2008 penod, to support

our strong organic growth
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We have now enjoyed 19 consecutive months of sequential
growth since the low point In June 2008 We have started
2011 at a very good rate with ovarall sales in January up
21 B%, and SPWD up 17 5%, and this rate has continued
in tha first three weeks of February Encouragingly, this
strong start to the year has been accomparved by a robust
gross margin Our Kay Account business growth continues
{up 24 1% 1n January). cross-seling initiatives to both
Key Accounts and the base business are proceeding

well and we expect to achieve healthy double digit growth
overall in 2011 Moraover, wa will continue to lead the
consolidation of the European market in Beanngs,
Mecharical Power Transmission, Fluid Power, and Tools
and General Mantenance prodiicts As a result, we are
increasngly confident that our strategy will continue

to give us growth substantially greater than the market




Figure eight - Trading dunng the year
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Figure nine - Cash flow

éash inflow fromnc_)pératlng activities

| Cash inflow from ch):oe.:at;.;:g actwities before exclapﬂonal items
g Cash outflow from exceptional items

! - - -
t

Cash inflow from operating activities
Net capital expenditure (purchases net of dispcsals)

Operational cash generation

Deferred consideration and earn out

Tax

Interest, dividends, pension cbligations and other
Net proceeds from nghts 1ssue

Purchase of own shares

Net proceeds from issue of shares

Decrease in net debt
Opening net debt
Exchange

C?Ios‘u;ﬁ net debt

Second half Full year

£m £m

238 4 488.4

120 230

209 8 426 1

96 184

2010 2009

£m &m

T 281 273
“215 333"
(1.4) (60}
261 273 !
- - 1

@3 (a7

228 256

(79 (88

27 (2 3}

(10 8) (115)

- 353

- 03}

01 -

T s " 380

(39 9) {84 0y

17 61

{387) {39 9)

Paut Thwaite - Finance director

“Both the first half and the second half
enjoyed substantial growth compared
to the prior year representing a strong
recovery fom the challenging economuc
environiment expenenced in that year”




Financial review

Qverview

The financial statements have besn prepared in accordance
with international Financial Reporting Standards (FRS) as
adopted by the European Union (EU)

Revenue

Revenue increased by 9 9%, of which continental Eurcpe
accounted for 7 3% of the increase and UK the remaining
2 6% Revenue i contingntal Europe increased by 11 9%
and in the UK by 8 5% Al constant exchange rates,
revenue increased by 12 5% This equates to an increase
N organic sales per working day of 11 6%, with growth
of 13 0% in continental Europse and 8 0% in tha UK
There were no acquisitions during the year

Gross profit

The gross profit for the year was £141 1 millon (2008
£128 1 mihon before exceptional items) Underlying gross
margins were mantaned at 30%

Profit/(loss)

The profit before tax from continuing operations for the
year was £19 3 milkon (2009 loss of £1 5 million having
borne net exceptional costs of £13 7 milion) Profit before
tax, amortisation and exceptonal iterns but after finance
expense was £20 6 million (2008 £13 8 million before
exceptional tems)

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share ncreased by 12 9p from 0 1p
to 13 Op n 2010 Earnings per share, on profit before
amortisaton and exceptional items increased by 6 1%
from 13 1p i 2009 to 13 9p in 2010

Return on operating capital employed

The return on operating capital employed, based on
operating profit before amortisation and exceptional stems,
was 31 0% (2008 24 1%) for the total group

Goodwill

Goodwill In the balance sheet stands at £74 8 millon at

the end of the year (2009 £76 6 million} In 2010, goodwill
decreased by a net £1 8 millon, £2 1 millon decrease due
to exchange movements on goodwill held in foreign
cumencies and £0 3 million increase from earn-out payments
Imparment reviews have been performed in accordance
with |AS 36 and no imparment has been identified

Trading during the year

Profit fom operations before exceptional tems, amortisation,
interes{ and tax {“undertying operating profit”) ncreased by
25 0% to £23 0 milhon (2009 €18 4 mulion), of which £11 0
millon was defivered in the first half and £12 0 mullion in the
second half {see figure 8)
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Both the first half and the second half enjoyed substantial
growth compared to the prior year representing a strong
recovery from the challenging economic environment
expenenced in that year For the first half, revenue increased
by £13 7 millon and underiving operating profit by £2 2
millon For the second half, revenue increased by £28 6
muflion resulting In an increase in underying profit of £2 4
miflon as this half reflected a significant proportion of the
ncrease N bonus charges

Exchange rales had an adverse impact on the year's results
offsetting 2 3% of the growth n revenue and 2 3% of the
growth in underlying operating profit

Exceptional tems

There are no exceptional tems n 2010 In 2009 n response
to the difficult trading conditions dunng the year, a wide
ranging review of tha cperating cost base, strategy working
capital and financing was performed The costs relating io
this exercise totaling £12 9 milion wera separately disclosed
as exceptional items within operating profit from continuing
operations There was a £0 7 milhon credit, bafore tax,
ansing from discontinued operations

Interast

The net nterest charge for the year was £2 § milion {2009
£5 4 millon) which included a discount unwind charge

on deferred consideration of £0 2 million {2009 £0 5 million)
There were no exceptional itemms in 2010 (2008 £0 8 million
expense) Excluding the discount unwind charge the effectve
nterest rate on average net borrowings was 4 3% (2009

4 7%) reflacting the benefit of qualifying for lower interest
bandings on pnmary debt due to reducing average debt
levels in 2010 The margn over interbank rates paid by

the group reduced by 0 22% Profil before tax on ordinary
activities before amortisation and exceptional items, covers
interest by 10 1 times (2009 4 6 times)

Tax

Tne overall tax charge for the year of £5 5 millon (2009

£1 1 millon cracit and a further £0 2 mifion charge relating
to discontinued operatons) comprses a current year charge
of £5 2 milkon and a prior year charge of £0 3 millon Current
year tax represents an effective tax rate of 26 9% which

15 lower than the expected rate of 28% prmarily as a result
of a credit ansing from a release of tax contngent lhabiliues
of £0 8 million less unrecognised losses ansing in the year of
£0 5 milhon and other permanent differences of £C 1 million

Cash flow

Net debt decreased by £3 2 mdlion from £39 9 million

to £36 7 million At the year end net debt/EBITDA stoed
at 139 1 tmes {2009 1 98 1 times)




Financial review continued

Net cash inflow from operating activities of £26 1 million
decreased by £1 2 million from £27 3 million in 2009, which
15 after £1 4 million outflow (2009 £6 0 milion) associated
with exceptional items n 2009 and assoctated provision
utisation in 2010 This inflow enabled the payment of

£7 9 millron of deferred consideration, £2 7 million taxation
payments, and £10 8 million for dvidends, interest and
pension obhigations Average net borrowings in 2010

wers £52 8 milion compared to £87 8 milion in 2009

Pensions

The net pension hability relating to the defined benefit
pension schemes decreased by £9 @ mulkon to £15 8 million
{2009 £25 7 milion} The principal factors contnbuting

to this reduction were a £7 4 milion higher than expected
return on scheme assets and a one-off reduction in scheme
labilities of £4 75 million relating to the UK scheme This
one-off reduction reflects the impact on the assessment

of the scheme liabihties due to the Government's decision
to use the Consumer Prices Index (CPI) rather than the
Retail Pnces Index (RPI} to determine the statutory minimum
rate at which pensions wilt increase in future For the UK
scheme this applies to pension increases N deferment only

The main financial assumptions used were a discount rate
of 5 5% (2009 5 75%), a 3 60% (2009 3 65%) rate of
increase for pensions n payment and a 3 1% (2009 3 65%)
rate of Increase for pensions in deferment, which reflects
the change to CP! The main demographic assumptions
used are unchanged The charge recogrisad in tha income
statement decreased by £0 7 million to £0 6 rillion (2009
£1 3 mibon} as a result of an increase 1n the expected
return on scheme assets

Treasury

In November 2008 the company entered nto a three year
revolving credit finance facility which provided for borrowings
of €185 million Following the nghts tssue in November
2008, the facihity was reduced by €20 7 million in December
2009 and €11 4 millon in May 2010 In October 2010

the company made a voluntary reduction of €12 9 mullion
The amount of finance available under this facikty as at 31
December 2010 was therefore €120 O milfion (2102 8 million}
This facility can be drawn until it expires on 28 February
2012 In addition to the revohing credit facility, the company
also has £21 milkon of other available financing faciities

The revolving credit facility requires, among other matters,
complance with three financial covenant ratos These
requirements are (1) the ratio of net debt to EBITDA shall
not be greater than 3 25 1, (2} consclidated net worth shall
exceed £25 million and {3} the ratio of consalidated profit
plus consolidated rent to net interest plus consolidated

rent shalf exceed 2 50 1 EBITDA 1s a measure of lquidity
and 1s defined in the finance facility
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The company has not breached these covenants throughout
the penod to 31 December 2010, and current {orecasts
indicate significant headroom for all covenants in the next
twelve months As at 31 December 2010 the company had
€60 milbon (£51 4 milkon) of borrowings drawn under the
revoling credit facility

Denvative mstruments and risk management

The campany has imited dealings in denvative mstruments
Oenvatives used in hedging activities are considered nsk
management tools and are not used for trading purposes
The company uses derivalive Instruments to manage
exposure to lluctuations i foreign currency exchange rates
The company does not enter Into speculative currency
lransactions

The company uses forergn currency forward exchange
contracts to minimise currency exposure from expected
future cash flows These contracts have not been
designated as hedging instruments

Group companies account m local currency and mostly
trada within ther domestic market in therr local currency
Investments In overseas companies are hadged with debt
n the same currency thus mintrmising exchange sk

on investments

The group 1s not subject to exposure from fixed pnce
contracts the group has a track record of mantaining gross
margin rrespective of sales volumes thereby successiully
pushing back market pncing pressurs to its suppliers

Principal risks and uncertainties
The management of the business and the execution of the
strategy are subject to a number of nsks and uncertainties

Operational nsks are assessed by Brammer subsidianes
These are reviewed with approprate mitigation considered
by Brammer management The Board reviews these
assessmerks on a regular basis

A formal group-wide review of strategic nsks 1s performed
by the board Appropriate processes and controls are also
put in place to monitor and mitigate these nsks

The prnincipal nsks affecting the group are as follows

Stowdown of industrial activity

The group has a well spread market and geographic
presence and has concentrated growth actvities in defensive
sectors such as Food and Dnnk, Utilities and Fast Mowing
Consumer Goods The company has demonstrated the
capability to reduce costs and the abibty to akgn the cost
base in rasponse to market conditions




Withdrawal of a mayjor supplier

Brammer 1s dependent on (ts key suppliers which

it represents N a multi-brand environment to Brammer's
existing custormer base The relatonship with strategic
suppliers 1s mutually dependant and enhanced by our
partnership approach to Key Accounts Brammer

15 continuing to secura addimonal suppert for its efforis
to increase market share and is confident any withdrawal
could be sourced from another supplies

Loss of mayor customers

Brammer does not have dependency on a single customer
Key Account customers are, however, continually monitored
by the serwor management team, who also document the
acknowledged cost savings aclveved Further growth in Key
Accounts in the current yaar suggests the template offenng
1S proving attractive to a profit conscious customer base

Customers relocating to lower cost countries
Brammer continues its strategy to grow its business
successfully by expanding In a fragmented market

and Brammer's Eastern European operations all reported
growth throughout 2010 We will continue to review
suitable opportunities in this region as they anse

Loss of infrastructure/systems

As with most large organisations that depend on Infermation
Technology for thewr day to day operations, there are disaster
recovery plans in place for the major countries where
Brammer operates In these termtones, there are overnight
back up systems in place which can be expected to mitigate
the worst effects of such disruption

Adverse euro exchange rates

Brammaér reports us results in stering howaver the company
trades significantly in euros Whilst there 1s a natural hedge
between buying and selling for the majonty of our business
the ultimate profitability 1s expressed at the year's average
exchange rate

Financial and capital nsks

The inherent interest rate nsks associated with the group's
nei debt are discussed above Following the successful
nghts 1ssue dunng 2009 the group has reduced its lavel

of external debt Along with the estabhished facility already
n place, Brammer has sufficient avalable resources to
meet its foreseeable requiremenis
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The closed defined benefit scherne in the UK coniinues

to be subject o vanous financial nsks, pnncipally based
around the value of the current deficit in the scheme

The company may be required to make excephonal additional
contnbutions outside the scope of its current funding plan
by The Pensions Regulator Dunng 2010 the group has
agreed a deficit funding plan with the trustees of the scheme
which providas for the group to make annual payments

of £2 7 million, indexed for nilation, In the years 2010

to 2023 inclusive

Expected benefits from acquisitions may not be realised
Acquistions nvolve a number of nsks related to the
performance of the acquired business and challenges
ansing from integration Brammer has a track record

of successiully integrating acquired businesses with

an established integration plan and an expenenced
management team Potential acquisitions are carefully
researched prior to any purchase and closely monitered

by Brammer's management subsequent to acquisiion

Loss of key employees

The group regularly reviews its succession plan arangements
to ensure that key managers are recognised and developed
The group remamns committed to a number of iIncentive
schemes inked to the group's results, which have been
designed to retain key managers

Risk of bad debt

Along with most businesses Brammer 1s exposed to bad
debt nsk Debtors are monitored both locally and at a central
levet and on an ongoing basis Working capital and debt
management forms a key part of how Brammer manages

s cash to cash cycle

Litrgation, environmental, employment

and health and safety related issues

Brammer 15 exposed to the nsk of htigation through the
ordinary course of business and operates in counines

and sectors requinng comphance with vanous laws and
regulations Brammer maintans nsurance coverage for

a wade range of potential clarms and mantains legal advisors
to address 1ssues ansing Brammer 1s focused on employee
safety and compiliance with applicable laws and regulations
and 1s currently working to ensure all ts businesses across
the group achieve environmental accreditation




Directors and officers

Dawvid Dunn**+

Non-executive chawrman

Joined the Brammer board in November 2001 as charman
and s also charman of the nominations committee and

a member of the remuneration committee and the audit
committee He 1s a chartered accountant and in 2002 retired
as charman of Scapa Group ple, where he had also served
since 1887 as finance director and chief executive

He has held non-executive director positions on a number
of UK bsted company boards ¢ recent years

lan Fraser+

Chref executive

Appointed to the board in 1998 He has an Oxford MA and
a Harvard MBA He held appontments in sales, marketing
and finance with Exxon Corporation both in the UK and
USA At Raychem Corporation he held senior roles in sales
marketing, manufactunng and general management

He became managing director of Reliance Security Services
Ltd in 1891 and was appointed their group managing
director n 1993 He becames a non-executive director

of Acal ple with effect from 1 January 2010

Terry Garthwaite*®+

Sentor independent non-executive director

Appaointed to the board in June 2004 He 1s charman

of the audit committee On quahfying as a chartered
accountant he worked for Price Waterhouss in Londen

He held a number of senior finance positions within Foseco
plc including director of corporate finance prior to spending
eleven years as group finance director at Senior plc

He 1s a non-executve director of Renishaw plc and
wimington Group plc

Paul Thwaite

Finance director

Joned Brammer in February 2002 and appointed to the
board in May 2002 Aftar graduating with a degree in
Biochemistry he took an MBA at the Manchester Business
School and then qualified as an accountant He worked
for iCl and BBA in a vanety of international posts before
joining Siebe whers he held a number of positions including
managing director of Elwell and group contrcller After the
merger between Siebe and BTR, he became chief finance
officer of Invensys Controls Division based In USA
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Bil Whiteley **+

independent non-executive director

Appointed to the board in July 2008 having retired as chief
executive of Rotork pic He 1s charman of Hill and Smith
Holdings ple, and also Spirax Sarco Engineering plc and

1s a non-exacutwe director of Renishaw plc He took over
as charrman of the remuneration committes with effect
from 1 March 2010 following Paul Forman's departure

Charles Irving-Swift *o+

independent non-executive director

Appointed to the board in January 2010 with effect from
1 March 2010 He joned Armstrang World Industnes Inc
in July 2010 as chief executive of European Floonng
operatons He has previously beld senior positions n TT
Electrorics plc, Dana Corporation and T&N plc and has
had a long association with the automotive manufacturing
ndustnes on a world-wide basis He has also previousty
served as a non-executive director of Victrex plc and
was charman of therr audit committee

Paul Forman *®+

independent non-executive director

Appointed to the board in December 2006 He was
appointed charman of the remunéeration committee with
effect from 1 July 2008 He has a wide range of corporate
finance and international Industnal expenence and has been
chief executive of Coats ple since January 2010 He was
previously group chief executive of Low and Bonar PLC,
managing director, European Aftermarket Division, of Unipart
and has previously held adwisory positions in Bain and
Company and BZW Corporate Finance He stepped down
from the board at the end of February 2010

Chris Short

Company secretary

Appainted group secretary in January 2005 Quahfied
N 1985 as a charterad accountant with KPMG

* Remuneration commitiee
® Audit committee
*+ Nominations comimittee




The board

Dawd Dunn Bl Whiteley
lan Fraser Charles Irving-Swft
Ternry Garthwalte  Appointed from March 2010
Paul Thwarte Paul Forman
Stepped down February 2010
Chris Short

Company secretary




The executive team

The Brammer executive team i1s subdivided
Into three, the corporate team s responsible
for the operational leadership of the group,

the team of country managing directors 1s
responsible for the management of the country
based businesses, and the team of functional
directors i1s responsible for the fsadership

of specific group-wide functions

Corporate team

lan Fraser - Chief executive
Paul Thwaite - Finance director

Chris Short - Corporate development director
John Veale - Commercial director




Country managing directors

lan Ritchie ~ UK
Philppe Hemvieux - France

Enc Dykstra — Netherlands
Jochen Diehm = Germany
Neill Rogers — Spain
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Functional directors

Migel Trend — Business integration
Ralf Hellwig — Key Accounts

Carl Friednch Wayand ~ Purchasing
Jakob Alld - Group growth




Brammer, its adwvisers and principal subsidiaries

Registered office
Brammer plc
Claverton Court
Claverton Road
Wythenshawe
Manchester M23 9NE

Registered in England and Wales

number 00162925

Bankers

HSBC Bank plc
8 Canada Square
London E14 5HQ

Royal Bank of Scotland ple
280 Bishopsgate
London EC2M 4RB

BNP Paribas Forus

8th Floor Ship Canal House
98 King Street

Manchester M2 4WU

Registrars

Equirts

Aspect House

Spencer Roaa

Lancing

West Sussex BNS9 6DA

Auditors
PncewaterhouseGoopers L.LP
101 Barbyrall Square

Lower Mosley Street
Manchester M2 3PW

Financial advisers

RBS Hoare Govett Limited
250 Bishopsgate

London EC2M 4AA

Stockbrokers

RBS Hoare Govett Limited
250 Bishopsqate

London EC2M 4AA

Peel Hunt
111 Old Broad Street
London EC2N 1PH
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Austna

Brarmmer Osterrech Industne
Service GmbH

Batoor Khan +43 1 369 8753

Belgum
Brammer NV*
Rudi Ramaekers +32 3821 0414

Czech Republic
Brammer Czech as®
Ladislav Bunan +420 277 003 465

ZPV Group sro
t/a ZPV Brammer*
Ladislav Bunan +420 277 003 465

France
Brammer France SAS
Philipps Hervieux +33 3 88 40 40 B8

Germany
Brammer GmbH
Jochen Dighm +49 721 7806 503

Hungary
Brammer Magyarorszag Kt
Tarnas Lantos +36 53 500 040

iceland
Brammer island ehf
Mick Wallwork +354 470 7961

Ireland

Rotate 1.td

t/a Rotate Brammer*

Chnis Davies +353 1 830 5455

Italy
Brammer Italia Sr*
Mauro Andreart +39 73 57 81 760

Luxembourg
Brammer SA*
Rudi Ramaekers +32 3821 0414

The Netherlands
Brammer Nederland BV*
Nico Schén +31 23 5 164164

Poland

FIN SA

t/a FIN Brammer (51%]

Starnuslaw Nowak +48 17 227 0000

Masterpol Sp zoo
Marek Czernik +48 61 868 5911

Slovakia
Brammer Slovakia sro
Ladislav Bunan +420 277 003 465

Spamn
Brammer lbena, SA
Neil Rogers +34 94 457 94 00

United Kingdom
Brammer UK Limited
lan Ritchie +44 {01161 853 BE80O

* Shares owned directly by Brammer plc

All companies hsted above are
incorporated in the country under
which they are listed Except as
shown above, all companies are
owned through intermediate holding
companies, principally Brammer
Industnal Services Limited Further
subsidianes have not been shown
because they are dormant or not
matenal Therr particulars will be
included in the next annual return

All comparues are accounted for
as wholly owned subsidiaries as
the group has effective ownership
of those companies
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Directors’ report

The directors present their annual raport for the year ended 31 Decernber 2010

Principal activities of the group
Brammer plc 1s the holding company for, and also provides management services {0, the group Its pancipal cperating subsicianes all
of which are wholly owned except where stated, are shown on page 26 together with details of therr locations

As at 31 December 2010, the pnncipal actwvity of the group {including that of its pnncipal operating subsidianes as shown on page 26)
1s the proviston of value added business {o business services, through being a leading value added suppler of power transmission
components and related inventory management, procurement and logistics senices in Europe

Financial results and dividend

The charrman's statement, the chief executive’s review and the financial review all report on the group’s acuvities dunng the year and
Iikely future developments The pnncipal nsks and uncertainties affecting the bustess are set out In the financial review The financial
key performance indicators of the business, which are considered to be sales per working day, revenue per head, gross margin, return
on operating capital employed and interest cover, are reviewed In the chief executive’s review and the financial review Non-financial
key performance indicators aflecting the business, such as employee and environmental performance indicators, are set out in the
employee and corporate social responsibility section of the directors’ report

The directors recommend a final dividend of 4 5p per ordinary share for the year ended 31 December 2010 (2009 3 6p}, which
together with the intenm dividend of 2 1p (2003 1 9p as restated for the nghts issue) per ordinary share brings the total dwvidend pad
and proposed to 6 6p (2009 5 5p) per ordinary share for the year Subject to the approval of shareholders at the annual general
meeting, the final dvidend will be paid on 5 Jduly 2011 1o all shareholders on the register at close of business an 10 June 2011

Directors
Detalls of sach of the directors who served throughout the year are shown on page 22 All direciors are subject to retirement by rotation
under the company s articles of association

The directors retinng by rotation are Terry Garthwaite and Dawid Dunn and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election Dawid Dunn
15 now subject to annual election as he has served as a director for mere than © years

Paul Forman retired from the Board on 28 February 2010 In January 2010, Charles Inang-Swift was appointed as a non-executive
director with sffect from 1 March 2010 for a penod of three years

Each non-executive director 1s appointed for fixed terms of three years Dawid Dunn was initially apponted in November 2001, Terry
Garthwaite was Inibally appointed in June 2004 and Bilt Whiteley was appointed in July 2008

Detats of directors’ attendance at board and committee meetings and a statement on board evaluation 15 set out in the corporate
governance report

Further detalls of the directors’ service contracts are set out in the remuneration report

Directors’ and officers’ hability insurance and indemnities

The company purchases liability insurance cover for directors and officers of the company and its subsidianes which gives approprate
cover for any legal action brought against them A review of this cover took place in December 2008 The company has also provided
an indemnuty for its directors to the extent permitted by the law in respect of labilities incurred as a result of ther office The indemnity
would not provide any coverage to the extent that a director 1s proved {0 have acted fraudulently or dishonestly Prospectus Liability
coverage was put in place for directors and officers of the company at the time of the 2009 nghts 1ssue Cover 1s1n force until October
2015 The drectors also have the benefit of the mdemnity provision contained in the company's articles of asscciation which 1s a qualifying
indemnity provision within the meaning of the Companies (Audit, Investigations and Community Enterpnise) Act 2004 This indemnity
provision was i force dunng the year and at the date of approval of these financial statements

Directors’ interests
The beneficial nterests of the directors and therr mmediate families in the shares of the company are set out in the remuneration report

Substantial shareholdings
As at 22 February 2011, the company had notification that the following were interested in 3% or more of the company’s 1ssued share
capital

BlackRock Investment Management (UK} 1377%  JP Morgan Asset Managsment 671%
AXA Framiington Investment Management 1338% Old Mutual Asset Managers 514%
Majedie Asset Management 776% Discretonary Unit Fund Managers 3 38%
Legal & General Investment Management 772% M&G Invesiment Management Limited 3 09%
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Directors’ report

Charitable and political donations in the United Kingdom
No charitable donations were made dunng the year (2009 £n) No pohtical donations were made (2009 €nil)

Payment to suppliers
The company's policy 1s normally to pay supphers according to agreed terms of business  These terms are agreed with suppliers upon
enterng into contracts and the company's policy ts to adhere to the payment terms providing the supplier meats its obligations

Purchase of own shares

DOunng the year the company acquired 4,377 of its own ordinary shares of 20p each representing 0 004% of the 1ssued ordinary share
capital of the company as at 31 December 2010, through the Brammer plc Employee Share Ownership Trust (“the Trust”} for an aggregate
consideration of £6,076

The Trust currently holds a total of 277 634 shares (2009 331,886 shares) In the company in orcler to meet part of the company's
liabiites under the Brammer plc Performance Share Plan and Share Matching Plan The Trust deed contains a dwvidend waiver provision
in respect of these shares Any voting or other smilar decisions relating to those shares would be taken by the Trustees, who may take
account of any recommendations of the company

The 1ssued share capital of the company 1s shown 1n note 19 to the Financial Statements on page 75 and consists of ordinary shares
of 20p each All of tha issued ordinary shares rank pan passu

In additron to the nghts conferred by law, tha nghis and obligations attaching to the company's ordinary shares are set out In the compary’s
articles of association, a copy of which can be obtaned by wnting to the company secratary At the last annual general meeting of the
company, held on 18 May 2010, the company was authonsed by shareholders (AGM] to purchase n the market up to 10,628,558 ordinary
shares of 20p each, representing 10% of the 1ssued ordinary share capital of the company as at 1 April 2010 Although this authonty
was not utiised by the company dunng the last financial year, approval will be sought from shareholders at the forthcoming AGM to
renaw this standard authonty for a further year It 1s the company’s intention that, should any ordinary shares be bought back, they will
be cancelled cr retaned In treasury pending a subsequent sale, cancellation or transfer The company does not currently hold any
shares n treasury Tha company will only purchase its own shares If the board belaves that to do so would be in shareholdars’ best
interests and will increase earmings per share

Interim report

Curreni regulations permit the company not to send copies of its Intenm results to shareholders Accordingly the 2010 interim results
published on 6 August 2010 were not sent to sharehelders Furthermore the 2011 interum results and subsequent intenm results will
not be sent to shareholders The ntenm results and other information about Brammer are avallable on the company's website at
www brammer biz

Electronic and website communication with shareholders
The company's articles of assoctation permit electronic and website communication with shareholders following the coming into force
of the Comparues Act 2006

The company has mplemented slectronic and website communication with its shareholders Shareholders who consented to website
commumnication will be notified n wnting when documents and communications have been published by the company so that they
can view them on the company's website It 1s intended that the Annual Report 2010 will be subject io the electronic and website
communication regme

Financial nsk management
The group's financial nsk management objectives and policies and exposure to market nsk, {foreign exchange nsk and hedging actwvties
together with cash flow and interest rate nsk), credit nsk and hquichity nsk are disclosed i the notes to the financial statements on page 61

Employees
The group values the commitment of its employees and recognises tha importance of good working relationships and communication

The group 1s committed to open and regular communications with employees about business developments and 1ssues of general
interest and concern to them baoth on a formal and informal basis The performance of the group 1s commurucated regulasly to all staff
Copies of the annual report together with detalls of preliminary and intenm announcements of the group s results are available to them
Translations of ihe executive statements are availlable to all the group's employees
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Directors’ report

A formal human rasources policy {ramework continues to be icllowed throughout the group The framework includes a process of
appraisal and development to ensure companies get the best from ther people, emphasis has been placed on career pathways with
indmadual training and development programmes  Motvaucnal events are organised dunng the year The group operates internatonally
and therefore its employment practices are vaned to mest local conditions and requirements These are established on the basis of
the best practice for each indmdual country New and existing staff at all levals are trained to become familiar wath products, markats,
systems, service standards and management skills in order to better satisfy customear needs and to enhance their own career prospects

The Brammer European Council was established over 10 years ago with each company In the group selecting a representative The
councll meets once I each year The purpose of the Brammer European Councll 1s 1o encourage freedom of association amongst
Brammer staff represeniatives from its operations in Europe

Both employment policy and practice in the group are based on non-discrumination and equal opportuniies  Tha company remans
supportive of the employment and advancemant of disabled people Apphcations for employment by disabled persons are always fully
considered, beanng in nund the respective aptitudes and abilties of the applicants concernad In the event that members of staff
become disabled, avery effort 1s made to ensure that therr employment with the company continues and the approprate traning 1s
arranged

The group will be carrying out the eighth Brammer Employee survey {which 1s conducted electronically) in early 2011 as the survey has
been redesignad, taking into account feedback from the vanous countrigs, to enhance the quality of the process A new provider, B2B
IMernational has been appointed

In addition to the results of the Brammer Employee survey, the group regularty monitors sales per employee and traning costs per
employee to assess the efficiency of its employees through training in order to ensure the quality of its overall service delivery

Employee performance indicators

2010 2009
€000 £000
Sales per employee 195.00 182 79
Training costs per employee 0.11 012

Corporate sociaf responsibility

The environment

Brammer recogrises thal it 1s part of a wider community of employees shareholders, customers, supplers and other stakeholders
and recogruses that group companies have a responsibility to act in a way that respects the emvironment

It is the policy of Brammer, so far as is reasonably practical to protect and conserve the tocal and wider environment from any adverse
impacts caused by operations It 1s the policy of Brammer across all its operations to
e meet all relevant legislative requirements on environment 1Ssues,

e seek to conserve energy and natural resources by minimising waste recycling where possible and maxmising the use of renewable
resources

e consider the life cycle environmental effects of Investment in premises and equipment
e ensure alf contractors follow our practices while working on site and respond promptly and efficiently to adverse occurrences

The group’s aim s to encourage more recychng and reduce energy costs The UK s leading the way in this regard The group has
extended this policy to other countries Group nitiatives include the following

Working environment
The group continues with the transition to flat screen computer monitors with employees encouraged to leave all computers on standby
mode if they are away from the computer

At weekends, all servers, faxes and printers are shut down and all computers are turned off nightly Better control of temperature and
regutation of the hours of use of ail at Nauonal Distnbution Centres (*NDCs"™) to reduce consumption now takes place The promotion
of electronic mail and telephone rather than post 1s encouraged

Energy saving lamps are used wheraver possble and steps are taken to ensure that all kights are turned off when they are not in use
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Environmental performance indicators

The group, which does not have manufactunng actmbhies, takes its snvironmental responsibilities very senously The man impact on the
environmant 1s the group's togistics  Tha group therafore monitors carefully 1ts packaging and distnbution costs from both an efficiency
and environmental point of view The following key performance indicators are applicable

2010 2009
Packaging costs as % of costs of goods sold 0.23% 023%
Distnbution costs as a % of sales (representing delivery costs to customer) 1.17% 124%

Transport
Delivenes are in the man carned out overright so that vehicles do not get held up in traffic, thus reducing therr smissions  Viehicles with
diesel particle filters are praferred and cars with low fuel consumption {fleet scherne) are utiised

Employees are encouraged to optimuse therr use of car pooling, use of public transport and hrmit the amount of ar fights Drivers are
asked to dnve at low speads as this i1s more energy efficient

Recyciing and waste reduction
Recycling 1s implemented where possible in relation to paper, glass and residual waste Recycling I1s encouraged within NDCs by
reusing old packaging

Electronic purchasing 18 utthsed to mimimise paper usage Printing 1 carned out through central printers in order to reduce paper
consumption A number of projects have been implemented to reutilise boxes for all internal transport and to improve the recycling
rates at both NDCs and branches

Supplers are asked to use reusable pallets rather than dispesable ones The use of more environmentally fnendly packaging 1s encouraged
as well as packaging more products in the same pack whers possible, In order to save matenal Employess are encouraged to separate
waste

Accreditation and conformance with European legislation
Brammer 1s working to ensure that all our businesses across the group achieve an environmental accreditation such as I1SO 14001 - 2004
Brammer 1s committed to reducing ts carbon footpnnt through reducing energy consumption and proactive waste management

Specific country iitiatives are as follows

» In the UK, the NDC employees continue to receive environmental training and awareness, which along with other maintenance
improvements brought a 60 4% reduction in the amount of waste sent to fandfill since 2007, also a 28 6% ncrease in the volumes
of cardboard and 261% paper seni for re-cycling since 2007 Waste sent to landfill averagaed 1 43 tonnes per month 2010 down
from 7 €8 tonnes per manth 1in 2005 Cardboard recycled up from 0 81 tonnes per month in 2005 to an average of 5 15 tonnes per
month in 2010 Where possible Brammer UK continues te minimise CO2 emissions with improved GPS delivery routes mtroduced
to reduce fuel costs Dunng 2010 Brammer UK achiaved 1SO 14001 2004 accreditauon across the entire Branch Network, Gearbox
Centres, Workshops, NDC and Head Office

# In Span, anb-spill tanks and anii-spill emergency kits have been installed to cope with safety requirements ¥or the warehousing of
chamicals and to act In case of emergency High capacity outdoor safety cupboards have also been installed to comply with safety
requirements and to Increase the capacity 10 store flammable products

& In France, preparatory work for 1ISO 14001 cernfication has began This accreditaton process will place in several steps which will
extend over a ime frame of approximately 7 years Brammer France has also decided to adopt the United Nations Global Compact
in June 2010 in the area of emvronmental compliance For 2011, it was decided to carry out the following actions

- Reduce the CO2 emissions of the car fleet,
- Improve the management of waste,
-~ Eco-fnendly complrance

A selective sorting of waste has besn set up wathin the NDC and the head office at Nozay Brammer France has reduced paper
Invorcing for two of its major customers which 1s currently 50 C00 invoices a year They have invested n a folding machine to fold
mall, allowing up te exght nvoices In a single envelope This will reduce postage cost and stationery

e Brammer Germany successfully passed its yeary survelllance audit regarding DIN EN ISO 14001 certification for the NRC in
Dortmund without non-conformity Legal comgpliance was achieved in all areas regarding environmental management A printer
project was introduced w1 2010 whereby all printers, fax machines and photocopiers were changed with a view to reducing the
amount of equipment lowering energy consumption and using less {oner vanety
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Health and safety

The group strives to provide and mantain g safe environment for all employeas, customers and wisitors 1o its premises and to comply
with relevant health and safety legislation In addition the group ams to minimise the nisk of work based acaidents by ensuring systems
are in place to address health and safsty matters The group encourages the rvolvemant of employees and ams for contnual improvement
In health and safety mattars through a formal structure with a reporting and review process Compliance with health and safaty policies
and legislation 1s menitored on a country by country basis The goal of the group 1s to achieve best practice in all 1ts operations  Progress
onimplementation of country health and safety plans 1s closety monntored

The group s health and safety policy statement, which 15 published on our website, focuses on establishing a surtable environment,
providing proper training and communication with employees

Reports on health and safety performance are made to meetings of the board on a guarterly basis A format of health and safety reporting
1S 1n place so that the board can monitor more carefully Injury statistics and trends across the group, especially where there are locally
notifiable Incidents

A maor investmant programme i our NDCs over the past few years has given us the opportunity to introduce vehicle movement
practices both on branch ferecourts and indoors This has significantly improved the workplace transport flows involved, separating
workplace vehicle movements from people movements and significantly reducing the opportunity for accidents

Brammaer's use of vehicles and tha composition of its fleet are continually under review to ensure that the most appropnate vehicles
are used for delivery from branches Delivenes from the NDCs to branches are normally carred cut by an external logistics company

Standardisation of Fork Lt Truck (*FLT™) procedures including external training continues to be appled across the group

Health and safety in spectfic countries

e Durnng 2010 Brammer UK have achieved OHSAS 18001 2007 accreditation across the entire branch netwark, gearbox centres,
workshops, NDC and head office which require haalth and safety audits to be conducted at all locations with additional actions and
controls implemented to ensure that employees can carry out therr functions in a safe and effective manner Investment in automation
at the NDC in relation to the pickng and despatch processes continues to bning about further reductions in the amount of manual
handling Other accreditations are ‘Safecontractor’ for the installaton reparr and maintenance of gear box system at customer
premiges, and Approved FHouse Assemblies, a certification mark by the Bntish Flurd Power Distnbutors Association has been obtaned
Brammer UK alsc achieved accreditation to Achilles ‘Building Confidence' which 1s a collaborative supply chain accreditation
standard designed for the construction industry, providing an effective solution for managing supply chain nsk in the areas of health
and safety, sustainability, CRS, quality and financial stabilty Brammer UK has become a member of 'Sedex’ — The Supplier Ethical
Data Exchange - which 1s a membership organisation for businesses commitied to continuous improvement of the ethical
performance of therr supply chains A dnver cnline assessment programme which was introduced and implemented in 2007 was
extended to all employees whe had a vehicle n 2010 The am 1s to reduce the number of road accidents involving employses
whilst dnving company vehicles In 2010 there was a reduction of 23% in the motor accident frequency rate All new medium sized
delivery vans ordered for the UK fleet are supplied with a 62mph speed restrnctor to improve the fue! efficiency of the vehicles and
to prevent dnving at excess speed

« [n Span, an external expert company ensures comphance with current health and safety legislation Brammer Spain, as part of its
acoident prevention programme, 1s Implementing actions to improve awareness of all employees leading to the prevention of accidents
and work related illnesses Routine madical examinations of employees 1s carned ocut evary year in accordance with Sparush health
and safety legislation in order to monitor the health of employees The same applies to new starters Dunng 2010, videcconierences
were held with some branches as part of a plan to train them on the use of the healih and safety manuals, the means of escape in
case of emergency, the use of fire extinguishers and a basic accident prevention course Videoconferences with the remainder of
the Spanish branches will take place dunng 2011 In early 2010, 12 employees in the Head Office in Bilbao were traned on CPR,
{cardiopulmonary resuscitabion), and on how to act in case of emergency or evacuation Improvements and alternative methods
regarding manual handhing operations will be carned out dunng 2011 to prevent accidents and prowde further traimng All the FLT
drivers in Spain are externally trained and tested in the use of such vehicles They will alsc have to atiend a refresher course on a
reqgular basis All new starters in the NDCs or warehouses that use FLTs have to pass a FLT test Brammer Span dunng 2010
updated and introduced new operating rules in the main warehouses (Head Office Sant Julia Rubl) to improve the safety of all
employees Near misses have been reduced in 2010 as a consequence of these FLT iniiatives Security at the Head Ofiice in Bilbae
has improved by the introduction of an electrenic swipe card system

¢ In France, the health and safety committes meets quarterly and continuously works on improwing safety This committee has made
a maor contnbution in reducing the number of acaidents in the past few years Road traffic accident prevention s still a magor nitiaive
improvements in manual handiing training and fire prevention continued during the year First ad training now iakes place at the
larger branches on a regular basis Manual handling training in the area of lifting 1s now targeted at more senor employess at the
NDC

e In Germany the Health and Safsty Committee meets on a regular basis in differert locations At the NDC in Dortrmund, a review of
the condition of stacking shelves was camed out n 2010 in order to improve stabilty and safaty, improvements were carried out
A nsk assessment of all workshop equipment was also undertaken in 2010
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Employment of disabled persons

It 1s the policy of the group to give full and farr consideration to applications for employment receved from disabled persons, having
regard to ther parbicular aptitudes and abilities, and wherever possible to contnus the employment of, and to arrange appropnate
training for employees who have become disabled persons dunng the panod of ther employment The group prowides the same
opportunites for traning, career development and promotion for disabled as for other employess

Corporate governance
The company’s staterment on corporate governance is iIncluded in the corporate governance report on pages 35 to 40 of these financial
statements

Takeover directive
The company has only one class of ordinary shares and these shares have equal votng nghts The nature of indwidual directors’
holdings are disclosed on pagse 47

As part of the resolutions approved at the 2010 annual general meeting of shareholders, shareholders’ authonty was given to the
company's directors for the allotment of up to 35,428,529 ordinary shares of 20p each if the authority 1s not utihsed in connecton with
a nghts 1ssue, representing 33 3% of the 1ssued share capital of the company as at the date of the 2010 annual general meeting

Dunng the year the drectors did not exercise the authonties given to them (to allot shares) save in relation to the options exercised
under the Executive Share Option Schemes Allotments of 75,587 shares were made n relation to employees who exercised options
during the year pursuant to the Executive Share Option Schemes As at 31 December 2010 the directors have the power to allot up
to 35,352 932 ordnary shares of 20p each representing 33 3% of the 1ssued share capital as at the date of the 2010 annual general
meeting

There are no significant agreements to which the company 1s a party which take effect, alter or terminate in the event of change of
control of the company except that the revelving credit facility agreement dated 14 November 2006 (as amended and restated by
supplemental agreements dated 6 November 2007 27 March 2008 and 7 Novemnber 2008) in respect of the €120 million revolving
credit facdity (2009 €144 3 million) (“the group facility”) contains mandatory pre-payment provisions on a change of control The group
facility contains a prohibition on a merger of the company with another entity waithout the pnor consent of the relevant banks

As stated in the remuneration report on page 48, the current executive drectors of the company are entitled to certain payments (f
therr employment is terminated or they are given notice by the company (save in crcumstances giving nse 1o summary dismissal or
retirement) within one year of a change of control of the company

Certain of the company s share ncentive schemes contain provisions that permit awards or options to vast or become exercisable on
a change of control in accordance with the rules of the schemes

Transfer of shares

The board may refuse to register a transfer of a certificated share which 1s not fully paid or where a person with at least a 0 25% interest
" a class of shares has been served with a disclosure notice and has faled to provide the company with informaton concerning
interests 1N those shares The board may also refuse to register a transfer of a certificated share if 1t 1s 1n respect of one class of share
or 15 In favour of mare than four joint holders

Transfer of uncertficated shares must be carmed out using CREST and the board can refuse to register a transfer of an uncertificated
share In accordance with the regulations governing the operation of CREST

There are no other lmitations on the holding of ordinary shares n the company and the company 18 not aware of any agreements
between shareholders that may result In restnctions on the transfer of shares

Varnation of nghts
Rights attached to any class of shares may be vaned with the wnitten consent of the holders of at least thres quariers in nominal value
of the 1ssued shares of that class or by a special resolution passed at a separate general meeting of the shareholders

The company by ordinary resolution may determune that any shares are allotted with special nghts, privileges or restnctions

Going concern

As highlighted in the financial review, dunng 2010 the group met its day to day working capital requirements principally through a
€120 0 million (2009 €144 3 million) group faciity which s fully committed until 28 February 2012 and an overdrafi facility that s due
for renewal on 31 October 2011 The group facility was reduced by a further €24 3 milion dunng 2010 of which €11 4 millon in May
2010 was pursuant to the terms of the 2009 nghts 1ssue and the balance of €12 9@ mition a voluntary cancellation The reduced
commitment under the group facility 1s now €120 0 million
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The current economic conditions create uncertainty partcularly over {a} the level of demand for the group's products, (b) the exchange
rate between sterling and Euro, and (c) the rate of interest paid on floaling rate joans The group's forecasts and projections, taking
account of sensitmty analyses of changes in trading performance and exchange rate movements, show that the group s well placed
to operate within the level of Its current facility for the foresesable future

Therefore after making these enquines, the directors have a reasonable expectation that the company and the group have adequate
resources to continue In operational existence for the foreseeable future Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern basis
in preparng the annual report and accounts

Auditors

So {ar as the directors are aware, there s no relevant audit information of which the auditors are unaware Each director has taken all
the steps that he ought to have taken as a director in order to make himself awarg of any relevant audit nformation and to estabhsh
that the company's auditors are aware of that nformation

Re-appointment
Resolutions to re-appoint PncewaterhouseCocpers LLP as auditor to the company and to authonse the directors to determine ther
remuneration will be proposed at the annual general meeting

New articles of association
New articles were adopted at the 2010 annual general meeting to reflect pnncipally the changes imposed by the Companies (Shareholders’
Rights) Regulations 200¢ and the implementation of the final part of the Companies Act 2006 {as armended)

Annual general meeting
The annual general meeting of the company 1s to be held at 1300 on 17 May 2011 at 43-45 Broad Street, Teddington, Middlesex
TW11 8QZ

The notice of meeting appears in the document accompanying this report and accounts Five resolutions will be proposed as items of
special busingss at the mesting and explanations of these resolutions are given in the enclosed circular

By order of the board
Chris Short 8‘ 4
Secretary '

22 February 2011
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The board 15 accountable io the company s shareholders for good corporate governance Its policy 15 1o manage the affars of the
company in accordance with the pnnciples of the UK Corporate Governance Code {formerly known as the Cambined Code) retferred
1o n the Listing Rules of the UK Listing Authonty A copy of this Code 1s publicly avaltable from www frc org

Far the year under review, the company has complied with the FRC 2008 Combined Code {which came into effect for accounting
peniods beginning after 29 Juna 2008) (“the Code™} in all respects The June 2010 version of the Code shall be adopted for the reporting
penod commencing on 1 January 2011

The following parts of this report descnbe the board's approach to corporate governance and how the panciples of the Code are applied

Part A: Directors

Board balance and independence

The board currently comprises a non-executive chairman, two executive directors and three non-exacutive directors, who are equally
rasponsible {or the proper stewardship and leadership of the company The directors holding office at the date of this report and their
biegraphical detals are given on page 22

All of the non-executive directors are independent of the company's executive management and free from any business or other relationship
that coutd matenally interfere with the exercise of therr ndependent judgement They each meet the Independence critena set out in
the Code The terms and conditions of appoiniment of the non-executive directors are avallable for inspection at the registerad office
of the company The lstters of appointment set out ther expectad tims comm:tment to the role Other significant commitments of the
non-exgcutive directors are disclosed to the board

The chairman of the company, Dawd Dunn, at the time of his appontment did meet and continues to mest the Independence cntera
set out in the Code

Performance evatuation of ndvidual directors regularly takes place to ensure that an indwvidual's performance continues to be effective
and commitment to the role 18 demonstrated Such evaluation took place in 2010

Terry Garthwaite 1s the senior Independent non-executive direcior He 1s avalable to shareholders if they have concerns which contact
through the chawrman, chief executive or finance diector have faled 1o resolve or for which such contact s nappropnate

All directors are supplied, in a imely mannar with il relevant documentation and financial information to assist them in the discharge
of therr duties  This includes information on the company's operattonal and financial performance The board regularty reviews the
management and financial performance of the company, as well as long term strategic planning and nsk assessment Regular reports
are given o the board on matters such as penstons, health and safety and itigation The management executive committee met with
the board three tmes during the year

Chairman and chief executive

The positions of charman and chief executive are held by separate individitals and the board has clearly defined therr responsibiliies
The charman 1s pnimarily responsible for the effective warking of the board ensuring that each directer, particularly the non-executive
directors, 15 able to make an effective contribution The chief executive has responsibility for all operational matters which includes the
implementation of the group strategy and policies approved by the board

Appraisals and evaluation

During the year, the charman held a mesting with the non-executve drectors, without the executive directors being present In addition,
led by the senor independent director, the non-executve directors met in the absence of the charman o appraise the charman’s
performance

Attendance by individual directors at meetings of the board and its commuttees
The attendance of directors at the board and principal board committee meetings dunng the year are detated in the chart below

Main Board Ma n Board (Telephore} Audit Comunittee Rermuneraton Comintiee  Nomination Cormimitiee

8 Meatirggs 3 Meetngs 2 Meetings B Meatngs 2 Meetings
Dawd Dunn 8 3 2 6 2
lan Fraser 8 3 n/a n/a 2
Terry Garthwaite 8 3 2 6 2
Paul Forman 2 1 1 2 1
Paul Thwaite 8 3 n‘a n/a n/a
Bill Whitelsy 8 3 2 B8 2
Chartes Inang-Swaft 6 2 1 4 1
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Appointment and resignation of directors
Cn gppointment  new directors recave a full, formal and talored induction Mgor shareholders are offered the epporiunity 1o mest newly
appointed non-exacutive directors

Directors have the nght to ensure that any concerns they have, which cannot be resolved about the runring of the company or a proposed
action are recorded in the board minutes Upon resignation a non-exacutive director shall be asked to prowde a written statement to
the chairman, for circulation to the board, if they have such concerns

Adwvice for directors

A procedure has been adopted for the directors to obtain independent professional advice, n appropnate crcurnstances, at the company’s
expense Committees are prowided with sufficient resources to undertake ther duties An internal governance policy provides that directors
have unrestncted access to the advice and services of the company secretary

Delegation and worlung through committees

The board has a formal schedule of matters specifically reserved to it for approval This schedule 1s revewed penodically The board’s
main focus 1S on strategic and policy 1ssuss and reviewing objectives and performance The board operates n such a way to ensure that
all decisions are made by the most appropnate people in a imely manner that will not unnecessarnly delay progress The board has
formally delegated specific responsibiites to board committees, including the audit committee, remuneration committee and norminations
committee {see page 22} The board will glso appoint committees to approve specific processes as deemad necessary

The drrectors and management teams of each group company are responsible for those business enuties They are tasked with the
dethvery of targets approved by the board on budgets, strategy and policy

These policies and procedures collectively enable the board to make informed decisions on a range of key 1ssues including those
relating to strategy and nsk managesment

Board evaluation

The board undertook a process of self-evaluation of its own performance during the year A questionnarre was devised and approved
by the board Directors submitted their completed questionnarres to the charman who reviewed the responses with the iIndmdual directors
and the board as a whole The exercise was viewed positively by the board and will be undertaken again during the course of the
current financial year

Retirement by rotation

Each of the directors 1s subject to election by shareholders at the first annual general meeting after iher appaintment Thereafter all of
the directors are subject to retirament by rotation at intervals of no maore than three years Terry Garthwaite and Dawid Dunn wall retire
by rotation at the next annual general meeting In accordance with the Code, David Dunn 1s now subject to annual election as he has
served as a director for more than 8 years In January 2010, Charles Inving-Swift was apponted a director with effect from 1 March
2010 and was elected at the 2010 annual general reetng Paul Forman stepped down from the board at the end of February 2010
Biographical detalls of these diregtors are set out on page 22

Nominations committee

The nominations committee and the board seek to mantan an appropriate balance between the executive and non-executive drectors
The nominations committee 1s chared by Davd Dunn and consists of all the non-executive directors and the chief executive The charrman
will not chair the committes when it deals with the appointment of a successor to the charmanship It mests penodically as required,
but at least once a year

The terms of reference of the committee were reviewed during the year and are available on the company's website at www brammer biz

The committee reviews the structure, size, diversity and composition of the board and makes recommendations concerning the
re-appontment of any non-executive director at the conciusion of their specified term of office and In the identfication and nornination
of new drrectors The committee retains external search and selection consultants as appropnate The committee also adwises the
board on succession planning for executive board appointments although the board itself 1s respensible for succession generally

Both David Bunn and Terry Garthwaite, who are offering themselves for re-election at the 2011 annual general meeting, have been
subject to more formal evaluations Both directors, who have served more than six years, have been subject to more ngorous reviews
n accordance with the provisions of the Code The nominations comrmittee has concluded that each of them continues to contribute
effectvely and demonstrates therr commitment 1o the regpective board and committee roles that they hold
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The committes evaluates the balance of skills, knowledge and experience on the board end 1s responsible for board appointments

Followng an evaluation, it prepares, in conunction with the board & detaled job description of the role with a candidate profile and
the capabilites required {or a particular appontment In drafing this, consideration would be given to the exsting expenence, knowledge
and background of board members as well as the strategic and business objectives of the group It deterrminas the scope of the role
of a new director, the skills and time commitment required and 1$ actively involved in the recrudment process Short bisted candidates
would then be nwited to intermaw with members of tha committese and if, recommended by the commutiee, would be inwited to meset
the entre board befecre any decision I1s taken relating to the appointment This process was followed in relation to the appointment of
Charles Inang-Swaft The company was assisted in the appointment of Charles Irving-Swaft by the external recrutment consultants,
Milbury and Associates Ltd

Audit committee
The audit committee consisted dunng the yaar of all the non-executive directors

The board 15 satisfied that Terry Garthwaitg, who chairs the committee, has recent and refevant financial experience

The executive directors and the external auditor may attend at the invitation of the committee However, the commuttee has the nght
to request Invitees to withdraw from the meeting to enable discussions to 1ake place in ther absence

The main role and responsibilities of the audit commuttee are set out In wntten terms of reference These terms of reference are available
on the company's website at www brammer biz

The committee has primary responsibility for making recommendations to the board on the appointment, reappontment and removal
of the external audstor which the board puts to shareholders for approval in general meetings It keeps under review the scope and results
of the audit, and #is cost effectiveness and the iIndependence and objectivity of the auditor The commitiee keeps the nature and extent
of non-audit services under review by regularly reviewing the balance of audit to non-audit fees The commuitiee s aware of the need
to safeguard auditor objectivity and independence and this 1ssue 15 discussed by the committee and pencdically with the audit partner
at PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

The committee reviews annual and intenm financial statements before submussion to the board and reviews the scope and effectiveness
of the group's internat control functions The commitiee will penodically review the scope, remit and effactiveness of the internal audit
function

The commitiee reviews the policy by which employees of the company may, in confidence, raise matters of concern, including passible
improprieties in financial reporting or other matters

The committes moritors the integnty of the group’s financial statements and announcements relating to financial performance and
raviews the significant financial reporting judgements contained in them

Remuneration commuttee

The remuneration commities 1s chared by Bill Whiteley and consists of &ll the non-executive directors  Bill Whiteley took over as charman
of the remuneration commuittae on 1 March 2010 followsng the departure of Paul Forman from the board on 28 February 2010 Members
of the commuittes have no personal financial interest in the company other than as shareholders and the fees paid to them as non-executive
directors They are not involved in the day-to-day running of the company

lan Fraser, by inwitation and for matters not relating to himself, may attend meetings and I1s consulted by the commutiee on proposals
relatng to the remuneration of the executive directors and appropnate senior executives He does not participate in deliberatons and
decisions whare thay have a direct personal interest

Further details are set out in the Remuneration Report on page 41

Part B Drrectors’ remuneration

Details of directors’ remuneration are set out in the remuneration report The report detalls the company's comphiance with the Code’s
requirements with regard to remuneration matters The terms of reference of the remuneration committee are avalable on the company's
website at www brammer biz

Part C Relations with shareholders

The board 1s accountable to shareholdars for the company's continued success The company accordingly places great emphasis on
mantaning good communications with sharsholders The charman, chief executive and finance director meet regularly with major
shareholdars to discuss the group's parformarnce, stratagic 1ssues and shareholder investment objectives Reports of these meetngs,
and any shareholder communications dunng the year, are reported (o the board

If requested, the non-exacutive directors are availlable to attend meetings with major shareholders The board regularly receves copies
of analysts’ and brokers' bnefings
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The annual report together with the Brammer website are substantial means of communication with all shareholders dunng the year
The intenm report together with intenm managament statements are announced {o the Stock Exchange and alse published on the
Brammer websile

The notice of the annual general meeting accomparues this report and accounts The notice is cispatched to shareholders, together
with explanatory notes or a circular onitems of special business, at least 21 working days before the mesting It s the company’s practice
{0 propose separate resolutions on each substantally separate 1ssue

The board welcomes questions from shareholders who have an opportunity to raise 1ssues either informally or formally befere or at the
annual general meeting The chairmen of the audit, remuneration and nominations committees will normally be available at the meeting
10 answer those questons relating to the work of these committees The chairman generally makes a statement on current trading at the
meeting The company counts all proxy votes and the charman will inform shareholders of the level of proxies lodged on each resolution
The votes for and against each resolution, together with the number of abstentions will be given following the show of hands for that
resolution

Part D Accountability and audit
The respective responsibilities of the directors and auditors in connection with the financial statements ara explained In the statement
of directors responsibilites and the auditors’ report

Independence of auditors

The audit commiitea overseas the relationship with the external auditors including (but not Imited to) approving their remuneration,
assessing annually ther independence and objectvity taking into account relevant professional and regulatory requirernents and the
relationship with the auditors as a whole, Including the provision of any non-audit services

The directors ensura the Independenca of the auditors by requesting annual confirmation of ndependence which includes the disclosure
of all non-audit fees The group policy with regard to the provision of audit and non-audit senaces by the external auditors 1s based on
the principles that they should only underiake non-audit services where they are the most appropriate and cost-effective provider of the
service, and where the provision of non-audit service does not impavr, or 1s not perceved (o impar, the external auditors' Independence
and objectuvity

The present auditors, PricewaterhouseCooopers LLP, were appointed in 2001 A review took place in 2006 leading to the continued
appointment of the present auditors The current lead audit partner, Nicholas Boden, has stepped down at the conclusion of the year
ended 31 December 2010 audit and's to be succeedad by Martin Heath in line with partner rotation policy pursuant to the requirements
of APB Ethical Standards

The committee regularly reviews the analysis of all services prowided by the external auditors The policy 1s reviewed annually by the
committee and approved by the board

Details of the amounis pad to the external auditors for audit and non-audit services in 2010 are set out in nota 3 to the accounts on
page 66

Internal control

Internal controls are designed 10 manage rather than eliminate nsk of falure to achieve business chjectives and can provide enly reasonable
and not absolute assurance aganst matenal misstaternent or loss The board 1s responsible for the group's system of intermal control
and for reviewing its effectveness The board works closely with local management and has established procedures in place to monitor
the operaticns and financial reporting processes across the group See the ‘Operational struciure, review and complance section
below for further detaills

The boarg, through the audit committee annually conducts a review of the effectiveness of the group s system of nternal controls
covenng all matenal controls ncluding finanoial operational, risk management and compliance Management reviews monthly control
reports and will identify any 1ssues to the board

In addition, the directors at least annually conduct a review of the effectiveness of the group's process for identifying, evaluating and
managing the significant nsks faced by the company, this has operated throughout the year and up to the date of signing these financal
staternents The board reviews the results of the process, which)s 10 ng with the Turnbull (2005) guidance

Operational structure, review and compliance

Together with board reviews, there are regular review meetings to address operating performance, plans, nsks and controls between
the corporate team and the country managing directors and finance directors
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The corporate team takes responsibility for finance, IT the development of pan-European supplier relationships and the development
of pan-European Key Account actmty, wiich complements the work done wathin each of the subsichanes The continuing wnportance
to the business of European supplier agreements and customer contracts has made the role of this team all the more relevant Each
business already has an established entarpnse resource planning (‘ERP ) system, the overall sirategy 1s to enhance the communication
betwaen these systems as part of a process of continucus improvement of the management and control of the inventory and the sales
order process As part of the development and improvement of the group’s reporting system, a financial reporting and consohdation
package 1s continually updated to improve the quality and speed of financial reporting

Brammer has had a finance manual in place for many years, i 1s a corporate manual with a wide range of contents reflecting the svolution
in corporate governance from finanaial internal control to all aspects of internal control and 18 continually updated

In addition to the group finance director, the group has senior financial managers at its head office The beard regularly considers the
effectiveness of the internal audit depanment, some subsidianes have their own internal audit function and there 1s a group internal
audit officer

The businesses have instituted internal monthly self-assessment processes at subsidiary level, tallored to thewr respective cperations,
these assessments are submuited for revew Monthly financial results of each subsidiary are reviewed at group level the monthly review
includes meetngs where performance and action plans ars presented to the Brammer chief executive, finance director and controllers
This culminates in reports that cover operational, financial and contro! reviews being subimitied to the board

These control processes are under continuing review to ensure adequacy for the purpose and efficient working i furtherance of ther
objectives

Work of the audit committee
The prnncipal work carned out by the audit commitiee durning the pertod included the following

o Monitoning the financial reporting process throughout the year Receiving reports from the internal audit department and reviewing
its plans dunng the year, a review of the internal audit work for the penod from February to July 2010 was considered at the August
2010 meeting The internal audit plan for 2011 was considered and approved at the January 2011 meeting,

¢ Accounting palicies and standards — during the year the committee reviewed the application of any new accounting policias or
standards which would be applicable to the group's 2010 annuat report The committee s updated regularly on actual and pending
changes to the accounting standards

e Internal conirols and nsk management - the internal audit plan for 2010 was reviewed and adopted at the December 2009 meesting
In February and August 2010, the committes considered reports on the operation of, and 1ssues ansing from the group's internal
conirol procedures, together with observations from the external auditors It also monitored at its February 2010 meeling the
effectiveness of the group’s nsk management process which considers the key nisks, both financial and non-financial, facing the
group and the effectiveness of the group’s controls to manage and reduce the impact of those risks,

e |n December 2010, the board reviewed the committee’s terms of reference and non-audit services policy terms of reference for the
committee wilt be further reviewed In 2011 to bring them into ine wath the 2010 Code which will apply to the 2011 reporting penod,

e External auditors work and relatonshep — the commitiee assessed the external auditors’ iIndependence and objectmity throughout
the year the audit report for 2009 was reviewad and discussed with the external auditors at the February 2010 meeting prior to
them issuing an unqualified audi report, a similar process has taken place in relation to the 2010 audit report, the external auditors’
mnienm report was considered at the August 2010 mesting The external auditors' strategy for the 2010 audit was reviewed and
adopted dunng the perod,

e “Serious concerns” policy — the commitiee updated the “senous concerns” policy following the appoiniment of a new group nternal
audit officer, under whuch employees may in confidence notify the company of any concerns, inter alia, nvolving financial reporting
A copy of the company’s serious concerns policy 1s available on the company's websiie, and

s “Brbery Act 2010" - the committee received a presentation from the external auditors at the January 2011 meeting An anti-
corruption/bribery policy 15 being developed

Risk management

The subsidianes are required to camy out penodic nsk assessmenis of their business and submit them to the head office Taking account
of nsks identified dunng these reviews and other processes such as the meetings described above, this is distiled into an operational
“Turnbull nsk assessment™ that 1s designed to summanse the key operational risks, how those nisks are evolving and how they are
being miugated The nsk assessment 1s presented to the board on a regular basis

As part of the process that Brammer has in place to review the effectiveness of the internal control system, there are procedures designed
1o capture and evaluate falings and weaknesses In the case of those falings and weaknesses categonsed by the board as “significant”,
procedures exst to ensure that necessary action 15 taken to remedy such faings
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A separate exercise 15 camed out as part of an angoing revisw by the board that focusas on corporate nsks These are the strategic
group lavel nisks over and above the “Turnbull” operational risks which have been reviewed and considered by the Brammer management
This was reviewed by the board in 2010 and adopted A nsk managemant policy has been formulated along with a board level nsk
assessment register

Brammer's insurance continues to be managed and ¢o-ordinated centrally with the assistance of insurance brokers This gives the
graup full visibiity of both claims history and the insurance industry’s perception of the group's overall nsk via the respective Insurance
premiums Brammer examines the size and trend of these premiums and the extent to which it can mitigate the nsks and reduce the
overall nsk burden in the business by considenng the appropnate level of Insurancs dedugtible and the potential benefit of self-insurance
In some areas

Part E. Takeover Directive
Shars capital structures are included in the directors' report on page 33

Approved by the board of directors on 22 February 2011 and signed on its behalf by
David Dunn
Charman
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Role of the committee
The commutise, on behalf of the board, detennines and approves the remuneration policy for the group and all elerments of the remuneration
arrangsments for executive drrectors Details of the membership of the committee can be found on page 37

On the board’s behalf, the committee approves the general recruitment terms, remuneration benefits, employment conditions and
severance terms for semor executives and determines the specific recruitment terms, remuneration benefits, employment conditions,
pension nghts, compensation payments and severance terms for the executive directors It also approves the rulss and associated
gudelines for the granting of equity based incentives under the Brammer share plans which currently are the Performance Share Plan
and the Share Matching Plan

The remuneration cormmittee has its own terms of reference which are approved by the committes and the board These were reviewed
dunng the year, to ensure complance with the Code and are displayed on the company's website 1118 proposed that the committee’s
terms of reference be reviewed in 2011 to ensure comphance with the Jure 2010 version of the Code

The charman of the company and the charrman of the remuneration committee are avalable to shareholders to discuss remuneration
policy

In its deliberations, the comimittes gives full considerabion to the pringiples of good govarnance as set out within the Code

General policy

The commiitee and the board recognise that in order to atiract, retain and motivate talented senior executives It 1Is necessary to operate
a competitive pay and benefits structure The committee ams to reward executives farly and responsibly for therr contnibution to the
company's performance but avoids paying more than necessary to achieve this objective The company’s executive remuneration
policy 1s regularty reviewed sc as to ensure H takes due account of market/best practice as well as the particular circumstances and
challenges faced by the company

In setting all elements of remuneration, the committea i1s guided both by published surveys and by specific studies commissioned from
time to time by the commuttee from ndependent specialist consultants It takes professional advice from within and outside the company
Ouning 2010, the committae has taken acvice from Hewitt New Bridge Street (*HNBS") on market and best practice with regard to
senior executive pay and share incentive arrangements  They also supphed the committee with benchmarking data in relation to the sernor
executive basa salary review In particular, HNBS acvised the committee with regard to the consultation in 2010 concerning the nghts
1Issue adustments to Earrings per Share for assessing share plan performance HNBS were appointed by the committee and provide
no other services to the company Advice 1s taken from Eversheds LLP on certan aspects of directors' contracts where appropriate

The committee also receves and considers general nformation on pay and employment conditions on a country by country basis around
the group, especially when determining annual salary increases

Performance related pay

The commuttee and the board seek to link a sigrificant proportion of the remuneration package to Indwvidual specific performance and
to the financial performance of the group The policy of the committee is to align directors’ interests with those of shareholders and to
give these executves keen incentives to perform at the highest levels, whilst not encouraging Inappropnate eperational nsk-taking nor
raising environment, social or governance risks

Performance related elements of the remuneration package ars the annual bonus scheme and the equity-based awards made under
the Performance Share Plan and Share Matching Plan Further details of these benefits are set out below

All executive directors are encouraged to be shareholders of the company, as ewdenced by the share retention faciity in the Performance
Share Plan descnbed below Furthermore, formal share ownership guidelines are in place for executive directors Under the guidelnes,
execubive directors will be expected to buld and mantain a shareholding worth at least 100% of therr salary, ideally within five years
from appointment The current executive directors both satisfy this guideline

Total shareholder return graph

Set out below are two graphs showing the company s total sharsholder return {“TSR™ over the last five years and over the last thres
years The company’'s TSR 1s compared to the TSR of the FTSE All Share Support Senices Sector Indax and FTSE Small Cap Index
{exctuding Investment Trusts) The commitiee has selectad these groups given that Brammer 1s a member of both of them, and n the
case of the FTSE Small Cap Index, it 1s the group against which its TSR performance 1s currentty compared under the Share Matching
Plan and Performance Share Plan The graph of shareholder return over the last three years has besn included, as it reflects the three
year performance penod of the Performance Share Plan end Share Matching Plan
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Total shareholder return over five years Total shareholder return over three years
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Remuneration of executive directors
The components of the remuneration packages for the executive directors are set out below

Basic salary

The committee seeks to pay salanes which take account of ndwidual performance and are similar to those paid n comparable companies
The committee uses comparisons with caution to avoid increasing remuneration levels without a correspending improvernent in
performance Basic salary 1s reviewed at 31 December each year The committee approved a 2010 base salary of £320,000 in relation
to fan Fraser and £21 1,000 in relation to Paul Thwaite, which was unchanged from the salanes paid in 2009 and 2008 The commuttee
decided to increase the base salanes for these executives for 2011 given that the company had returned to pre-recessicn growth and
profitability n 2010 In addition, the significant personal contributions of both executwe directors in achieving such an improvement
was an impaortant factor n deciding to award these increases There will be a basic salary increase for lan Fraser and Paul Thwaite in
2011 to base salarnies of £345,000 and £225 000 respectively These salaries are also based on the benchmark data supplied to the
commitiee

Annual bonus
The committee sets bonus targats to create Incentives for executive directors to perform at the highest level and to align therr interests
with those of shareholders Bonuses are not pensionable

On the achievernent of quantified financial targets, awards of up to 100% and 75% of salary for lan Fraser and Paul Thwaite respectively
can be earned For 2010 the rermuneration commiitee set a performance related bonus scheme for executive directors based on
achieving stretching profits and cash generation targets For lan Fraser up to 80% of salary could be payable for achieving the profits
target and (provided a threshold prefit hurdle has been achieved) 20% for achueving the cash generation target A similar split of targets
applied to Paul Thwaite's bonus opportunity namely 60% of salary could be payable for achieving the profit target (subject to the
threshold profit hurdle being achieved} and 15% for achieving the cash generation target

As sel out in the table below, bonuses of £320,000 and £158,250, were earmed by Messrs Fraser and Thwaite respectively in 2010
as the targets set out on page 48 were met in full

The remuneration commitiee has considerad bonus pnnciples for 2011 Given the current economic climate and the uncertainties over
the trading environmant in Europe, 1t has been decided that the 2011 bonus pnnciples will again be based on profit and cash flow targets
For 2011, the targets will be spiit profit 80%, cash flow 20% The commitiee has agreed that Paul Thwaitte's maximum bonus opportunity
will ncrease to 100% from 75% i 2011, an increase that brings Pau! Thwaite s bonus opportunity in line wath that of lan Fraser and
comparable benchmarks In summary, the performance metrics for the year under review and the following year are shown in the table

below
Debt anagernent/

working Capita
Profit betone tax Improvement Maxarmum bonus of
Narmg Yea % of salary 3% of salary % of salary
lan Fraser 2010 80% 20% 100%
2011 BO% 20% 100%
Paul Thwaite 2010 60% 16% 75%
2011 80% 20% 100%
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Executive share option schemes

The Performance Share Plan and Share Matching Plan are now the pnmary arangements through which share-based incenives are
offered to executive directors and other senior executives However, in the past, tha company made grants to exacutve directors and
senior exaecutives under an HMRC approved execulive share option scheme which was approved by shareholders in 1997 as well as
under an unapproved executive share option scheme which was approved by shargholders in 1895 Qptions may no longer be granted
under the two execulive share option schemas as according to the rules of both schemes, no options may be granted later than 10
years after the schemes were approved by the shareholders All options have now lapsed in retation to the executive directors as
shown on page 45

Performance Share Plan

The Brammer plc Performance Share Plan {“the Plan”} together with the Share Matching Plan descrnbed below 15 the pnmary long-
term incentive for key senior Brammer executives Under the Plan, conditional awards of shares may be awarded with a value at grant
of up to 100% of basic salary 100% of salary Is also the current palicy award under PSP These shares vest, at no cost 1o the executive
upon the achievement of stretching performance targets {together with continued employrment) The targets are set by the commuttee
having taken external adwice on market and best practice

For awards made up to and including 2008, participants only receive the full number of shares over which the award was onginally
granted if the company's normalisaed earnings per share (“EPS") over the three financial years following grant has increased by 40% in
excess of RPl EPS has to increase by at least 15% in excess of RPI for the participants to recerve any shares (at which pont 25% of
an award vests), straight-lne vesting occurs between these two points To the extent that shares vest, drectors and executives are
expected to retain at least 50% of the net number of shares for three years

For PSP awards made since 2009, and proposed to be made in 2011, the Plan will operate as follows

¢ Up to 75% of salary 1s based on EPS growth over the three financial years following grant This requires a mirumurm growth of 10%
ir excess of RPI for the participants to receive any shares (at which point 25% vests) For full vesting, the required growth 1s 25%
growth in excess of RPI This revised range of targets reflects the current forecasts for growth,

& Up to 25% of salary 1s based on relative total shareholder return { TSR") performance The comparator group against which TSR is
measured 1s the FTSE Small Cap {excluding Investment Trusts),

« TSRis the percentage changa in the return index {i e share price plus net dividends reinvesied) over a penod of tme, In this case
the performance period of three years beginning on the first day of the financial year in the year in which the awards were granted
The base return index for the performance pericd s the average net return index figure over each weekday In the three months
ending on the day before the start of the performance penod The final return index s the average net return index figure over each
weekday In the last three months of the performance penod, and

e The vesting schedules for each element are set cut below

The performance conditions applying to awards made before 2008 are shown above

Share Matching Plan

In 2005 the company established the Brammer Share Matching Plan (the “SMPT), to operate alongside the Performance Share Plan
In the remuneration committee's view, the SMP produces a streng alignment between the interests of executives and shareholders as
1t inks part of the executive's rewards to his or her retention of Brammer shares

Matching awards (granted in the form of niinominal cost awards) are only granted prowided that shares beneficially owned by the employee
are first nvested in the SMP (“Investment Shares”} Investment Shares worth up to 25% of the employee’s basic salary can be odged
in the SMP per annum, with matching awards then being granted on a maximum matching award ratio of 1 1 {with this ratio applying
to the pre-tax number of shares that are lodged in the SMP) Investment Shares for these purposes can be any existing shares deemed
benefictally owned by the employee and lodged in the SMP at the tme that the matching award 1s granted

The vesting of a matching award depends upon the Investment Shares continuing to be held In the SMP, the satisfaction of the performance
conditons (see below} and continued employment

If a participant sells therr Investment Shares at any time dunng the three year performance period, this will reduce {on a pro-rata basis)
the number of shares compnsed in a matching award

Vesting of one half of each matching award will be determined by the company's normalised EPS growth over the three year performance
period ([companng as 1s the case with Performance Share Plan awards, the company's EPS in the financial year prior to grant with its
EPS in the thrd year following grant wath the same targets applied as are employed in the Performance Share Plan} Vesting of the
aiher half of each award 1s determined by the company’s performance in terms of its TSR relatve 1© a peer group of companies over
a single three year penod

EPS growth targets used for one half of the Share Matching Awards made up to and including those granted in 2008 are rdentical to
the EPS growth targets used for awards under the Performance Share Plan made up to and including 2008 as set out above
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Consistent with the TSR element of the Performance Share Plan (shown above}, from 2009, the composition of the peer group 1s
currently the FTSE Small Cap index {excluding Investment Trusts) Before 2009, a smaller group was used, the details of which are set
outin the summary of ouistanding awards on page 46

In summary, the vesting schedules that apply to the 2009 and 2010 awards under the Performance Share Plan and Share Matching
Plan are as follows

A for 75% of the shares under the Performance Share Plan and 50% of the matching shares under the Share Matching Plan

EPS growth of Brammer over threg years Vesting parcentage of relevant proportion

Less than RPIl + 10% 0%

RPI + 10% 25%

Between RPI + 10% and RPI + 25% Between 25% and 100% on a straight-ine basis
RPI + 25% or more 100%

B for 25% of the shares under the Performance Share Plan and 50% of the matching shares under the Share Matching Plan

TSR ranking of Brammer against the FTSE Small Cap

(excluding Invastment Trusts) Vesting percentage of 50% of relevant proportion
Below median ranking 0%
Median ranking 25%
Betwesn median and upper quartile ranking Between 25% and 100% on a straight-lne basis
Upper quartle (top 25%) ranking 100%

There will be no opportunity to retest performance if the performance conditions are not satisfied over the three year performance
penod under either Plan

In determining whether performance targets have been met, independent venfication 1s sought where appropnate

The performance conditions that apply to awards under both the SMP and PSP have been ¢chosen to encourage exscutives to delver
{i) supenor TSR performance agamst an appropriate group of peer companies and (i) Improving earnings per share

Rights 1ssue adjustments to methodology for assessmg share plan performance

Durng 2010, the committee reviewed the methodology to be used in adjusting the EPS performance conditions applicable to the
company’s outstanding awards under the Performance Share and Share Matching Plans to take account of the company’s nghts
1ssue In 2009

It concluded that the most appropriate methed for calculating the EPS performance conditions, i relaton to the 2008 and 2008
awards, 13 to neutrahse the start and end EPS for the nghts 1ssue when assessing performance under the EPS performance share
targets taking into account the reasons for which the nghts issue was carmed out namely to pay down debt Under this approach, the
base and end number of shares are assumed to be constant, and there will ba an adjustment to edd back the notional interest expense
saved following the reduction of net debt as consequence of the nghts issue

The commuttee took the view that the above proposal was in the best interests of shareholders and will ensure that management
remanad focused on achigving stretching earnings targets in 2010 and 2011 and remain surtably incentvised

The committes following feedback from major shareholders has also decided the following

& As well as adjusting the EPS figures to a “nghts 1ssue neutral” basis, the committee has also reversed the upwards adustment to
the number of shares under the 2008 and 2009 PSF awards granted before the nghts 1ssue, thereby restonng the number of these
awards to those onginally held by participants before the nghts 1ssue took place.

e No adustment will be made to reduce the number of shares under the 2008 and 2008 SMP awards to the pre-nghts position as
participants had been required 10 Increase thew investment Shares following the nights 1ssue in order to receive the adjustments to
the corresponding Matching awards

In consultation wath major sharehaolders, the majonity of those who provided feedback have indicated ther support for tha proposals

The adjusted EPS thrashold target for assessing whether the 2008 awards under the Performance Share and Share Matching plans
have vested 1s 25 9p Actual adjusted EPS for 201015 25 7p takuing into account the reduction in profit before tax on ordinary actvities
before amorusation of acquired intangbles for 2010 by the interest expense saved following the reduction of net debt as a consequence
of the 2009 rights 1ssue and the associated accounting charge should such a vesting occur

Shares awarded in March and September 2008 under the Perfarmance Share Plan which were due to vest in March and September
2011 respectively will lapse in that the above minmum EPS performance cntenia have not been achieved Vesting of 50% of the awards
under the Share Matching Plan granted in March 2008 which were due to vest in March 2011 wili lapse in that the above minmum
EPS parformance cntena has not been achieved
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Audited information

The remainder of the remuneration report 1s audited information with the exception of the section entitled “service contracts” and

“directors” interests”

Drrector’'s options
Options on shares held by directors

Exercised

Exgrase price  Dara from wiech

31 Dec 2009 Granted Lepsed dunng year 31 Dec 2010 perca gxarcisable Expury date
lan Fraser
Discretionary 90,490 - {20 490) - - 2800 12S8ep03 12Sep 10
90,490 - {90,490) - -
Paul Thwaite
Discretionary - - - - -
Performance Share Plan
Raversal of Value
Marcat prce on ights 1ssue grantad
award grant 31 Dec 2009 Granlad Vasted Lapsed  adustments 31 Dec 2010 1 000s Vusting date
lan Fraser 347 25p 89,000 - - (89,000 - - Sprng 2010
|an Fraser 25000p 133,646 - {37,646) 96,000 Spring 2011
lan Fraser 7325p 608,174 - {(171,314) 436,860 Spring 2012
lan Fraser 115 00p - 278,260 - 278,260 320 Sprng 2013
Paul Thwaite 347 25p 58,632 - - (58,632) - - Spring 2010
Paul Thwaite 250 00p 88,123 - (24,823) 63,300 Spring 2011
Paul Thwaite 73250 401,014 - (112,960) 288,054 Spnng 2012
Paul Thwaite 115 00p - 183,478 - 183478 211 Spring 2013

Following the consultation with major shareholders in 2010 as set on page 44, the committee has reduced the number of shares under
the 2008 and March 2009 awards so as to restare the number of these awards to those anginally held by the participants before the

rights 1ssue took place

See page 44 above n relation to the lapses of shares under the Performance Share Plan in March 2011 This award was made in

March 2008

Share Matching Plan

Vahio Vahue

Markat price on graniad vastad
awardgrant 31 Cec 2009 Granted Veued Lapsea 31 Dec 2010 £'000 £°000 Vestngdate
lan Fraser 347 25p 50,283 - (13,526) (36 757) - 19  Sprng 2010
lan Fraser 250 Q0p 75,506 - 75,506 Spring 2011
lan Fraser 7325p 257,699 - 257,699 Spring 2012
tan Fraser 129 50p - 126,073 126,073 163 Spnng 2013
Paul Thwaite 347 25p 33,125 - {8.911) (24,214) - 12 Spring 2010
Paul Thwaite 250 00p 49,786 - 49,786 Spring 2011
Paul Thwaite 7325p 169,922 - 169,922 Spring 2012
Paul Thwaite 128 50p - 83,129 83,129 108 Spring 2013

The middle market pnce of an ordinary share at the close of business on 23 April 2010 when the relevant shares were released was
138 5p Following advice receved from HNBS in relation to the fulfilment of periormance cntena 26 9% of the matching awards granted
in 2007 vested In 2010 The balance of the awarded shares therefore lapsed

See note 3 on page 48 for the vesting of shares under the Share Matching Plan in March 2011 This award was made in March 2008

45 | Brammer pl¢ | Annual Report 2010




Remuneration report

The performance conditions eppiying to Performance Share Plan and Share Matching Plan awards in 2009 and 2010 are set out
above The TSR comparator groups used for Share Matching Awards up to and including those granted in 2008 are as follows

ACAL Bntish Polythene Ind Lavenden Group Ricardo Tnfast
Aggreko Castings Metalrax Group Senior WSP Group
Ashtead Group Diploma MICE Group? Simon Group?

Autologie Holdings Fenner Molins Spirax-Sarco Engineenng

1 In administration Shares suspended from dealing and not included in 2008 group
2 Now de-listed and not included in 2008 group

Ditution imits
In lne wath ABI Guidelines, the following imits apply to the number of shares which may ba 1ssued under the Performance Share Plan
and Share Matching Plan

o The number of issued, 1ssuable and treasury shares that may be allocated under the Performance Share Plan, the Share Matching
Plan or any other employee plan adopted by the company will ba restncted to 10% of the 1ssued ordinary share capital of the company
over any ten year penod As at 22 February 2011, thera was headroom of 5,107,538 sharas (| e 4 80 % of share capital) after deducting
outstanding awards and options (excluding lapsed awards and options}

e Inacldition, the number of 1Issued issuable and treasury shares that may be allocated under the above Plans plus any other “discretionary”
executive share plan adopted by the company shall be restricted 1o 5% of the 1ssued share capital of the company in the ten year
penod commencing from the 2005 annual general meeting when the Share Matching Plan was adopted As at 22 February 2011,
thers was headroom of 384,788 shares {| e 0 36% of share capital) after deducting relevant outstanding awards (excluding lapsed
awards) under the above Plans

Until 2008, the company has satisfied vestings of awards under both Plans from market purchased shares sourced from the Brammer
plc Employee Share Ownership Trust (“the Trust™ For caleulating the dilution imits above, such awards have not been deducted until
such tme as the awards are satsfied The vesting of the 2007 awards under the Share Matching Plan in 2010 was satisfied from
market purchase shares sourced from the Trust

Other benefits
Other benefits provided 1o the executive directors nciude privata healthcara benefits permanent health Insurance (to secure mcome
i the svent of il health or disability), ife assurance, contnbution to hoine telephones and a car aliowance as set out on page 48

Service contracts
Each of the executive diractors has a service contract with the company

Conlract date Nouce penod
lan Fraser 1 July 1998 Roling 1 year
Paul Thwaite 24 January 2002 Rolling 1 year

When constdering these contracts, the cornmittee has due regard to the provisions of the Code |t is the commuittee’s intention that
any future executive directors will be subject to similar one year notice penods

if a contract 1s to be terminated, the commitiee will delermine such mitigation as it considers far and reasonabtle in each circumstance
and the compensation that may be paid 1t will take into account the best practice provisions of the Coda and it will take legal advice
on the company's hability to pay compensation and the appropnata amount

In thus regard, the service contracts for lan Fraser and Paul Thwaite contain a hquidated damages clause In the event of a change of
control of the company, save i circumstances where therr employment i1s terminated by reason of retirement or where summary
dismissal 1s warranted, the company 1s obliged to pay to the director a sum representing basic salary, pension benefit, car allowance
and bonus (based on the average bonus payments made over the previcus three years) for a penod of one year These arangements
were put in place n 2003 Gong forward liguidated damage provisions on change of conirol shall be restricted te basic salary, pension
benefit and car allowance only, In refation to new executive appointmeants Chrnis Short, the company secretary, has a simiar hquidated
damages clause in his service contract which was granted in 2003 where the compensaton s based on six months' basic salary,
benefits and accrued bonus
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Drrectors’ interests
The beneficial nterests of the directors and ther mimediate farmilies i the shares of the company, according to the register of directors’

Interests are set out below
Qrdinary Shares of 20p Ordinary Sraias of 200
31 Decembar 2010 31 Decenbet 2009

Shares Shares
Dawid Dunn 60,000 60,000
Terry Garthwaite 10,000 10,000
lan Fraser 1,348,839 1,335,313
Paul Thwaite 923,974 898,249
Bill Whiteley 34,300 20,000
Charles Ining-Swaft §,000 -
Pau! Forrnan 6,000 8,000

Notes

1 Charles Irving-Swaft was appointed a non-executive director with effect from 1 March 2010 The comparative figure 1s at the date
of appontment

2 Paul Forman stepped down as a non-exgcutive director on 28 February 2010 His shares are stated at that date

3 Thare were no changes in the above mentioned interests between 1 January 2011 and 22 February 2011

4 No drrector was matenally nterested in any contract of signdficance with the company dunng the year

Remuneration of non-executive directors

The chairman and the other non-executive direciors are paid fees for ther services Dunng 2010 these non-executive directors were
paid a standard fee of £35,000 with further fees being payable for addiional responsibiibies such as being a charman of a committee
The non-executive chairman’s fee 1s £104,000 Thess fees are related to the time spent on the company s business and are set at
lovels similar to those of comparable companies The chairman and other non-executive directors do not participate in bonus, share
Incentive or pension schemes and they do not receive any benefits in kind

The fees of the non-executive directors, other than the charman are determined by the board (excluding the non-executive directors)
on the recommendation of the chairman and the clief executive The remuneration of the chaurman 1s datermined by the board on the
recomimendation of the other non-sxecutive dirgcters In both cases the recommendations are supported by independent advice

Consideration 1s given to the time cormmitment and responsibiliies of the roles Fees are normally reviewed avery two years with the
last review carned out in January 2008 by HNBS A review was carned out by the board in December 2010 as such a review was due

A review had not taken place in January 2010 due to the difficult trading conditions which had existed in 2009 The board has agreed
that the standard fee for non-executrvie directors be ncreased to £37,000 from £35,000 with further fees beng pard for additonal duties,
namely £5,000 for a committee charman and £3,000 to the senior independent director The board has approved that the remuneration
of the charman be increased from £104 000 10 £110,000 All these revised fee levels ars n ine with current market practice

The company’s practice 1s to appoint non-executive direciors under letters of engagement rather than undar service contracts These
letters of engagement set out terms of appointment, usually three years, and it is anticipated that the penod will be extended for a
second term of three years with the agreement of the board and the non-executive director, although re-appointment 1s not automatc
In certain circumstances non-executive directors may be invited to serve for further terms if thair continued appointmant 15 considered
to be in the interasts of the company

David Dunn was intially appointed in November 2001 Terry Garthwaite was initally appointed on 1 June 2004 for a term of three
years Paul Forman was appointed on 1 December 2006 for a term of three years Bill Whiteley was appomted on 1 July 2008 for a
termn of three years Charles Inving-Swift was appointed with effect from 1 March 2010 for a term of three yaars

These appointments may be terminated on three months’ notice by erther party
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Directors’ remuneration and emotuments
The remwneration and taxable benefits in kind of the directors in the year ended 31 December 2010 ars set out below

Bensfits Paymentis i

{excluding pension {eu of pension 2010 2009
Fees/satary Bonus & share options) contnbutions (2} total total
£000 £000 £'000 £ 000 £'000 £'000

Non-executives
David Dunn {Chairrnan) 104 - - - 104 104
Terry Garthwaite 40 - 1 - 41 40
Paul Forman 6 - - - 6 38
Bill Whiteley 37 - - - 37 35
Charles Irving-Swaft 29 - - - 29 -

Executives

lan Fraser 320 320 21 102 763 444
Paul Thwaite 21 158 15 34 418 261
747 478 37 136 1,398 Q22

lan Fraser and Pauf Thwaite earned bonuses of £320.000 and £158,250 respeactively for 2010 (2009 no bonuses earned) as the
following targets were achieved

Earnings The Remuneration Committee set profit before tax on ordinary actvities before amortisation of acquired intangibles (* PAI")
of £20m as the target for 2010 for which full bonus 1s payable PAI for 2010 1s £20 8in Accordingly, this part of the bonus target
was fully achieved

Cash generation this elerent of the bonus was also fully achieved as cash targets were exceeded each month

Notes

9
2
3

The highest paud director in the year ended 31 December 2010 was lan Fraser

Full detalls of payments made in heu of pension contributions are set out in the directors' pension entitlements section below

In adchition lan Fraser and Paul Thwaite will ba able to acquire shares in Brammer plc to the value of £48,645 and £32,732 respectively
In accordance with the Brammer ple Share Matching Plan The Share Matching Plan relates to matching awards granted in
March 2008 vesting in March 2011 Vesting of matching awards 1$ determined by the critena as set out on pages 43 and 44 of the
Remunaration Report Vesting of 50% of the matching awards relating to the EPS target have not been achieved Vesting of the
other half of the award has basn achieved in part Brammear's TSR in 2010 result In 52 6% (268 3% of the total award) of the TSR
element of the award vesting n March 2011 Accordingly, 26 3% of the matched awards shall vest The company has recewved advice
from HNBS i the determinabion The value of the shares has been estimated using the middle market share pnce at 31 December
2010 namely 250p

lan Fraser was appointed as a non-axecutive director of Acal plc with effect from 1 January 2010 During the period from 1 January
2010 10 31 December 2010, lan Fraser retained fees paid to um in performance of his external commitments at Acal pic of £30,000
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Directors’ pension entitlements

lan Fraser 1s a member of the Brammer Services Retrement Benefit Schemea This 1s a defined benefits scheme which 1s funded and
approved by HMRC The nformation below sets out the disclosures under the UK Listing Rules and the Large and Medium-sized
Companies and Groups {Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 for him

Dyector s Accumulated total Incease n Increase n

contibutions 10 BCCrLad DENSION Increasen accrued pengion  Transfer value of  Transter valua of transfer value

penson scheme a3 Dec  accrued penson gunng the year  accrued penson  accrued pension fass droctor's

Age at aunng the yoar 2010 (2009) dunng the yaar (nat of inflauon)  at 31 Dec 2000 at 31 Dec 200€ contrbutions}
31 Dacember 2010 £ pa £ pa £pd Epa [ £ £
55 - 10,200 (10,200) - 100 278,800 262,100 16,700

Notes

1 The accumulated total accrued pension as at 31 December 2008 has been adjusted for inflation in arrving at the increase in the
accrued pension at 31 December 2010 As tha corresponding inflation figure for the penod was -1 4%, the pension has increased
shghtly in real terms

2 The transfer values have been calculated on the basis agread by the Trustees of the Scheme that was in force at the date of calculatron
having regard to legislatve reguirements The transfer value basis was last rewised in June 2010

3 All figures have been rounded to the nearest £100 fan Fraser has drawn his defined benefit pension on 1 July 2008 ahead of the
normal retiremaent date of 60 whilst continuing to remain in serace and 1s not accruing further benefits from the Scheme His pension
15 reviewed annually on 1 January in line with the Scheme Rules

4 Ar1 January 2010 tan Fraser's pension remaned at £10,239 per annum Due to the lavel of price nflation over the penod September
2009 to September 2010 there will be an increase to lan Fraser’s pension as at 1 January 2011 of 4 8%

§ lan Fraser's dependants are entitled to benefits on his death of 2/3 of the pension before commutation, increased from date of
retirement to date of death in ine with Scheme pension increases

6 The pension increases in payment at the rate of the annual increase in Retait Price Inflation up to a maximum of 5% pa and subject
to a miruirmum of zero

Other pension entitliements
The company made a contnbution to Paul Thwaite's SIPP (self invested personal pension) dunng the year of £15,840 (2009 £15,840)
No contributions were made to lan Fraser’s SIPP during the year (2009 nil)

Dependants of both directors are eligible for payments of a lump sum in the event of death in service

Cash allowances in lieu of pension contnbutions made to lan Fraser dunng the year were £102,400 (2008 £102,400) Cash allowances
n leu of pension contrbutions made to Paul Thwaite during the year were £33.728 (2009 £33,728)

For the avoidance of doubt, the defined benefits drawn by lan Fraser set out above relate to service completed up to 28 February 2008
and are entrely distinct and separate from his SIPP and other pension arrangements

Approved by the board of directors on 22 February 2011 and signed on its behalf by
Bl Whiteley
Charrman of the remuneration commiitee

.
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Statement of directors' responsibilities in respect of the annual report,

the directors' remuneration report and the financial statements

The directors are responsible for prepanng the annual report, the directors remuneration report and the financial statements in accordance
with applicable law and regulations

Company law requires the drrectors to prepare financial statements for each financial year Under that law the directors have elected
1o prepare the group financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the
European Umion, and the parent company financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice {Unitad Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law) Under company law the directors must not approve the financial
statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of afiars of the group and the company and of the
profit or loss of the company and group for that penog In preparing these financial statements, the drrectors are raquired to

e select sutable accounting policies and then apply them consistently,

¢ make jJudgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent,

s state whether IFRSs as adoptsd by the European Union and applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to
any matenal departures disclosed and explained in the group and parent company financial statements respectively, and

e prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it 1s nappropnate to presume that the company will continue In
business

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the company s transactions
and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the company end the group and enable them to ensure that
the financial statements and the directors' remuneration report comply with the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the group financial
statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and the group and
hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other iregulanties

The directors are responsible for the mantenance and integrity of the company's website Legislation in the United Kingdom governing
the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other wnsdictions

Each of the directors who wers directors of the company as at 22 February 201 1 and whose names and functions are listed on page
22 confirm that, to the best of therr knowledge

e the group financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU give a true and far
view of the assets habilities, financial positon and profit of the group, and

e the drrectors’ report, the charman's statement, the chief executive's review and the financial review contained in pages 3 10 34
include a farr review of the development and performance of the business and the position of the group, together with a description
of the principal nsks and uncertainties that it faces

By order of the Board
Chris Short Dawvid Dunn
Company Secretary Charman

22 February 2011 Z._,C /Vl ]

Ot |
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Independent auditors’ report to the members of Brammer plc

We have audited the group financial statements of Brammer ple for the year ended 31 Decamber 2010 which compnse the consolidated
Incoma statermnent, the consolidated statement of comprehensive Income, the consolidated balance sheet, the conselidated statement
of changes n equity the consoldated cash flow statement, the accounting policies and the related notes The financial reporting framework
that has been appled In ther preparation s applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the
European Unicn

Respective responstbilities of directors and auditors

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement the directors ars responsible for the preparation of the group financsal
statements and for being satisfed that they give & true and far view Our responsibility 1S to audit and express an oprion on the group
financial statements In accordance with applicabla law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland} Those standards
require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards for Auditors

This repont, Including the opinions, has been prepared for and onty for the company’s members as a body in accordance with Chapter
3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2008 and for no other purpose We do not, in gving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility
for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report 18 shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly
agreed by our prior consent in writing

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining ewidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufiicient to give reasonable assurance
that the financial statements are free from matenat misstaternent, whether caused by fraud or error This iIncludes an assessment of whether
the accounting policies are appropnate to the group s circumstances and have been consislently applied and adeguately disclosed,
the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the drrectors, and the overall presentation of the financial statements

Opinion on financial statements
In cur opinien the group financial staterments

e gwve a true and farr view of the state of the group’s affairs as at 31 December 2010 and of its profit and cash flows for the year
then ended,

e have been properly prepared In accordance with IFRSs as adepted by the Europsan Union, and
e have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Compamies Act 2006
In our opnion

& theinformation given in the directers’ report for the financial year for which the group financial statements are prepared 18 consistent
with the group financial statements, and

e the information given in the corporate governance statement set out on pages 38 to 40 with respect to internal control and nsk
managemeant systems and about share capital structures 1s consistent with the financial statements

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, In our opinien

e certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law ara not made,

e we have not received all the iInformation and explanations we require for aur audt, or
e acorporate governance statement has not been prepared by the parent company

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review
* the directors’ statement In relation to going concern, and

s the part of the corporate governance statement relating to the company's comphance with the nine prowisions of the June 2008
Combined Code specified for our review

Other matter
We have reported separately on the parent company financial statements of Brammer plc for the year ended 31 December 2010 and
on the nformation in the directors’ remuneration report that s descnbed as having been audited

o""'__‘

Nicholas Boden (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of PncewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Manchester

22 February 2011
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Consolidated income statement For the yeor endied 31 Decerizer 2010

Yaar to Pro exceptional Exceptional tems Year to
31 Dacomber roms Note 4 31 Dacomber
2010 2009 2009 2009
Notes £'000 £'000 £000 £000
Revenue 1 468,367 426,083 - 426,093
Cost of sales (327,256) (298,039) (2,560) (300,599)
Gross profit 141,111 128,054 (2.560) 125,494
Distribution costs (118,074) {109,610) {10,367) (119,977)
Amortisation of acquired intangibles {1,260) (1,641} - {1 641)
Total sales distnbuuon and adrministraive costs (119,334) {111,251} {10,367) (121,818)
Operating profit 1 21,777 16,803 (12,927) 3,878
Qperating profit before amortisation of acquired intangibles 23,037 18,444 (12,827) 5,517
Amortisation of acquired intangibles (1,260} (1.641) - (1,641}
Qperating profit 1 21,777 16,803 (12,827) 3,876
Finance expense 2 (2,510) (4.679) {753) (5,432)
Finance income 2 43 83 - 63
Profitfiloss) before tax from contnuing operations 19,310 12,187 {13,680) (1 493)
Frofit/(ioss) before tax before amortisation
of acquired intangibles 20,570 13,828 (13,680 148
Amortisation of acquired intangibles {1.260) {1.641) - (1 841)
Frofit/{loss) befora tax 19,310 12,187 (13,680} (1,493)
Taxation 5 (5,487) {3,007} 4,081 1,074
Profit/(loss) for the year from continuing operations 13,823 9180 (2.599) (418}
Discontinued operations 4 - - 477 477
Profit for the year attnbutable to equity shareholders 13,823 9,180 9,122) 58
Earnings per share — total 7
Basic - 2009 continunng (0 S)p, discontnued O 6p 13 0p 01p
Diluted - 2009 continuing (O 5)p. discontinued C 6p 13.0p Q1p
Earmings per share - from continuing operations
before amortisation and exceptional stems 7
Basic 13.9p 131p
Diluted 139p 13 1p
Consolidated statement of
Comprehenswe inNcome For the year ended 31 December 2010
Year to Ya 10
31 December 31 December
2010 2008
€000 £ 000
Profit for the year 13,823 58
Other comprehensive income
Net exchange differences on translatng foreign operations {973) (4.627)
Actuanal gains/{losses) on pension schemes 5,132 {10,047)
Other comprehensive income/(expense} for the year, net of tax 4,159 {14,674)
Total comprehensive mcome/(expense) for the year 17,982 {14,616)

ltems in the statement above are disclosed net of tax  The income tax relaung to each component of other comprehensive income 13
disclosed in note 5

The notes on pages 56 to 84 form part of these accounts
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Consolidated balance sheet AL31 Dacerber 2010
3t Docember 31 December
2010 2009
Notas £1000 £ 000
Assets
Non-current assets
Goodwill 8 74,802 76,570
Acqurrad ntangible assets 8 5,248 6,617
Other intangible assets 8 4,927 4,556
Property, plant and equipment g 11,031 12,533
Deferred tax assets 18 6,377 8,245
102,385 108,521
Current assets
Inventones 10 71,283 70,772
Trade and other receivables 1 81,436 71,218
Cash and cash equivalents 12 21,699 33.272
174,418 175,262
Liabilities
Current habilities
Financial habilites - borrowings 14 {3,760) (6,248)
Trade and other payables 13 (94,264) {82,305}
Prowistons 16 {762) (2,156}
Deferred consideration 17 (8,054) {7.880)
Current tax habdiies (2,748) (781}
{109,588) {99.350)
Net current assets 64,830 75,912
Non-current {rabilities
Financial iabiities — borrowings 14 {54,613) (66,898)
Deferred tax labilities 18 {9,671) (8.856)
Provisions 18 (186) (325)
Deferred consideration 17 - (7.742)
Reurement benefit obligations 28 {15,792} {25 668)
{80,262} (109,489}
Net assets 86,953 74,944
Shareholders’ equity
Shara capital 19 21,272 21,257
Shars premium 18,152 18 092
Translation reserve 4,411 5,384
Retaned earnings 43,118 30,211
Total equity 86,953 74,944

The notes on pages 56 to 84 form part of these accounts

The accounts were approved by the board on
Dawvid Du Paut Thwaite

armar Finance director
2.

ruary 2011 and were signed on its behalf by
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

For the yoar ended 31 December 2010

Share Share Treasury Transtation Retaned
Capual Pronmm Shares Anserva Earmngs Total
£'000 £000 £000 £ 000 £1000 £ 000
Balance at 1 January 2009 10,590 18,092 627) 10011 21,024 59,090
Profit for the year - - - - 58 58
Other comprehensive Income - - - (4,627 (10,047} (14,674)
Total comprehensive Income - - - (4,627) (9,989} (14.616)
Transactions with owners
Shares 1ssued durng the year 39 - - - - 39
Shares issued in respect of the nghts 1ssue” 10,628 - - - 24,677 35,305
Purchase of own shares - - {301) - - {301)
Transfer on vesting of own shares - - 680 - {680) -
Tax on share option scheme movements - - - - 201 201
Value of employee services —
share based payments - - - - {696) 698)
Dmdends - - - - {4.078) (4,078)
Total transactions with owners 10,667 - 379 - 19,424 30,470
Movement in year 10,667 - 379 (4,627) 9,435 15,854
At 31 December 2009 21,257 18,092 (248 5,384 30,459 74,944
Profit for the year - - - - 13,823 13,823
Other comprehensive Income - - - 973 5132 4159
Total comprehensive INcome - - - 873 18,955 17,982
Transactions with owners
Shares 1ssued dunng the year 15 80 - - - 75
Purchasa of own shares - - {6} - - )
Transfer on vesting of own shares - - 12 - {12 -
Diwvidends - - - - (6,042) (8,042)
Total transactions with owners 15 680 6 - (6,054) (5,973
Movement in year 15 60 6 (973) 12 901 12 009
At 31 December 2010 21,272 18,152 {242) 4,411 43,360 86,953

*Ordinarity, the excess of the net proceeds over the nominal value of the share capital iIssued would be credited to a non-distnbutable
share premiurn account However, the nghts issue completed in Novernber 2009 was effected through a structure which resulted In
the excess of the net proceeds over the nominal value of the share capital being recogrused within retaned earnings under section

612 of the Companies Act 2006

The notes on pages 56 to 84 form part of these accounts
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Consolidated cash flow statement

For the year ended 33 December 2010

Year to Yaar to
31 December 31 Dgcomber
2010 2009
Notes £'000 £ 000

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations 22 26,058 27,319
interest receved 43 63
Intarest paid (2,202) (5,964)
Tax pad (2,686) (2,333}
Decreass in pension abligations (2,600) (1,542)
Net cash generated from operating activities 18,613 17,543
Cash generated from operating activities before exceptional itarms 20,082 23,573
Cash outflow from exceptional items {1,469) (6,030)
Net cash generated from operating activitios 18,613 17 543

Cash flows from investing activities
Deferred consideration pard on prior acquisitions {7,561) (8,294)
Earn-out paid on prior penod acguisitions {327) {5086)
Proceads from sale of property, plant and egupment 188 906
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (1,935) {1.558)
Additions to ather intangible assets (1,548) (1,045)
Net cash used «n investing activities {11,183) {10,497}

Cash flows from financing activities
Net proceeds from issue of ordinary share capital 75 39
Net proceeds from nghts issue - 35305
Repayment of loans following nights iIssue - (16,355)
Net repayment of other loans (11,403) 6,623)
Net 1ssue/(repayment) of finance leases 174 (116)
Dmdends paid to shareholders {6,042) {4,078)
Purchasa of own shares (6) {301)
Net cash {absorbed)/generated from financing activities (17,202) 7,871
Net {decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (9,772) 14,917
Exchange loss on cash and cash equivalents {642) (1.855)
Net cash at beginning of year 31,448 18,186
Net cash at end of year 21,034 31,448
Cash and cash equivalenis 21,699 33,272
Qverdrafts (665} (1,824)
Net cash at end of year 21,034 31,448

The notes on pages 56 to 84 form part of these accounts
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Accounting policies

General mformation
Brammaer plc 15 a cormpany ncorporated and dorvciled n the UK, and Isted on the London Stock Exchange  The address of the registered
office 1s disclosed on page 26

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out below These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated

Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted
by the European Union {IFRSs as adopted by the EU), IFRIC interpretations and the Companies Act 2006 applicable to companies
reporing under IFRS The financial statements have baen prepared under the histoncal cost convention A surmmary of the more important
group accouniing policies 1s set out below, together with an explanauon of where changes have been made to previous policies on
the adoption of new accounting standards in the year

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS reguires the use of certain key accounting estimates and assumptions
It also raguires management 1o exercise its judgement in the process of applying the group's accounting policies  The areas mvolving
a higher degree of judgemant or complexity, or areas where the assumptions and estimates are significant 1o the consoldated financial
statements are detaled in the financial nsk management section Although these estimates are based on managament’s best knowledge
of the amount, events or actions, actual results ultimately may differ from those estimates

New standards, amendments to standards or interpretations
The new standards, amendments to standards or interpretations which were effective n the financial year beginning 1 January 2010
and have impacted or are likely to have a future impact on, the financial statements are as follows

IFRS 3 {revised}, ‘Business combinations' and consequential amendments to IAS 27, 'Consolidated and separate financial statements',
IAS 28, 'Investments in associates’ and IAS 31, ‘Interests in joint ventures', effective prospectively to busingss comtxnations for which
the acquisition date 15 on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting penod beginning on or after 1 July 2009 The adoption of
this rewised standard will result In a number of changes in the way 1n which the group accounts for any future business combinations
The pnncipal changes include the expensing of all acquistion-related costs In the income statement nstead of ncluding them i the cost
of the Investment, and the recording of all payments to purchase a business at farr value at acquisition date with contingent payments
classified as debt and subsequently remeasured through the iIncome statement

IFRS 7 (amendmant), ‘Improving disclosures about financial instruments issued in March 2009 requires the group to make enhanced
disclosures about farr value measurement and hquidity nsk

Other standards, amendments and interpretations now applicable dut which are not relevant or do nol have a matenal effect on the

group's financial statements are
Applicabie for tinancial

Slandard or Interpratation Content yaai s begiung on or aftes
IFRS 1* First-time adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards 1 July 2009
IAS 39 Financial instruments Recogrnition and measuremant — Eligible hedged items 1 July 2009
IFRIC 17 Cistribution of non-cash assets to owners 1 July 2009
IFRIC 18 Transfers of assets from customers 1 July 2008

Standards, amendments and interpretations that are not yet effactive and not expected to have significant mpact on the group’s financal

slatements
Apphicable for financial

Standard or interpratation Contert years begnning on or after
IFRS g* Financial instruments  Classification and measuremant 1 January 2013
Amendment IAS 24~ Related party disclosures 1 January 2011
IFRIC 14, IAS 19* Prepayments of a minimum funding requirernent 1 July 2011

IFRIC 19" Extinguishing financial iabilities with equity investrments 1 July 2010

1AS 32° Classification of nghts 1sstues 1 February 2010
Amendment IFRS 1° Additionat exemptions for first-time adopters 1 January 2010
Amendment IFRS 2~ Group cash-settled share-based payment transactions 1 January 2010

*These standards are not expected 1o be relevant to the group
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Accounting policies

Group accounting

Subsidiaries

Subsidianes are those entities in which the group has an interest of more than one half of the voting nights or otherwise has power to
govern the financral and cperating policies The existence and effect of potential voting nights that are presently exercisable or presently
convartible are considered whan assessing whether the group controls another enhity

Subsidianes are consolidated {rom the date on which the group has the ability to exercise cantral, and are no longer consolidated from
the date that control ceases The purchase method of accounting 1s used to account for the acquisition of subsidianes Inter-company
transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group comparues are eliminated Unrealised losses are also
aliminated but considered an impairment of the asset transfarred Whera necessary, the accounting policies ¢f subsidianes have been
changed in order te ensure consistency with the policies adopied by the group

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent habilities assumed in a businass combination are measured Nitally at thew far
values at the acquisition date The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the group’s share of the identifiable net assets
acquired 1s recorded as goodwill

Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency

ltems mcluded in the financial statements of each entity In the group are measured using the currency of the pnmary econonic environment
in which the enhity operates {“the functional currancy™ The consolidated financial siatements are presented n sterling, which is the
functonal and presentation currency of the parent

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional curency using the exchange rates prevailing at the daies of the transactions
Foreign exchange gains and losses resutting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange
rates of monetary assets and liabilites denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement, except when deferred
In equity as qualifying net investment hedges

Group companies
Income statements, balance sheets and cash flows of foreign entities are translated into the group’s presentation currency as follows

{a) assets and habilities for each balance sheet are transtated at the closing rate at the date of that batance sheet,
{b income and expenses for each income statement ara translated at average exchange ratas for the penod, and
{c) all resutting exchange differences are recognised as a separate component of equity

On consolidation exchange differences ansing from the translation of the net investment in foreign entities, and of borrowings designated
as of such investments are taken to a translation reserve within shareholders’ equity The exemption under IFRS 1, allowing these exchange
differences to be reset to zero on adoption of IFRS has been utiised When a foreign entity 1s sold these exchange differences are
recogrised in the iIncome statement as part of the gan or loss on sale

Goodwill and far value adjustmeants anising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity
and translated at the closing rate

Property, plant and equipment
All property, plant and equipment are stated at histoncal cost less depreciation Cost ncludes the onginal purchase price of the asset
and the costs attnbutable to bringing the asset to 1ts working condition for its intended use Finance costs are not ncluded

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-ine method to wnte offl the cost of each asset 0 ther residual values over therr estimated
useful ives as follows

Land and bulldings

Freehold buldings Indvidually estimated subject to a maximum of 50 years
t easehold properties The term of the lease subyect to a maximum of 50 years
Equipmant 3-10 years

Land 1s not depreciated

Where the carrying amount of an asset 1$ greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it 1$ wnitten down immediately to its recoverable
amount

Gans and losses on disposals are determined by comparing procesds with carrying amount and are included in operating profit

Reparrs and maintenance are charged to the iIncome statement dunng the financial penod in which they are incurred  The cost of major
renovations 1s iIncluded in the carrying amount of the asset when it 1s probable that future economuc benefits in excess of the onginally
assessed standard of perfermance of the existing asset will flow to the group Major renovabons are depreciated over the remaining
useful Ife of the related asset
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Accounting policies

intangible assets

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the far value of the group’s share of ths net assets of the acquired
subsidiary at the date of acquisition Goodwill on acquisition of subsicianes occurnng on or after i January 1998 is included in ntangible
assets Goodwill on acguisthions that occurred pnor to 1 January 1998 has been charged in full to retained earnings N shareholders’
equity, such goodwill has not been retrospectively capitalised

Pror to 1 January 2004, (the date of transition to IFRS} goodwill was amortised over its estimated useful Ife, such amorusation ceasing
on 31 December 2003 Geogwill1s subject to impairment reviaw, both annually and when there are indicators that the carmying value
may not be racoverable A write down 1s made If the camying amount exceeds the recoverable amount

Goodwill 15 allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing The allocation 13 made to those cash-generatng
units or groups of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the business combination in which the goodwill arose, idantified
according o cperating segment

Acquired intangibles
Acqurred inlangbles principally comprise customer relationships recognised as separately identfiable asssts on acquisitons Customer
relationships are considered to have estimated useful lives of between 5 and 10 years and amortised accordingly

Software development

Costs associated with maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as an expense as ncurred Costs that ars directly
associated with identifiable software systems operated by the group and will generate economic benefits exceeding costs beyond
one year, are recognised as mtangible assets Direct costs nclude staff costs of the software development team and an appropnate
portion of direct overheads

Expenditure which enhances or extends the periormance of identifiable software systems beyond ther original specifications 1s recognised
as a capital improvernent and added to the onginal cost of the software Computer software development costs recognised as assets
are amortised using the siraght-ine method over their useful lives, not exceading a period of 7 ygars

Imparrment of long life assets

Property, plant and equipment and other non-current assets, including goodwill and intangible assets are reviewed on an annual basis
to determine whather events or changes in crcumstances ndicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be recoverable If
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset 1s estimated as either the higher of the asset s net seling price or value
in use, the resultant mparment (the amount by which the carrying amount of the assel exceeds its recoverable amount) s recognised
as a charge in the consoldated income statemert

The value In use s calcutated as the present value of estimated future cash flows expected to result from the use of assets and therr
eventual disposal proceeds In order to caloulate the present value of estimated future cash flows the group uses a discount rate based
on the group's estimated weighted average cost of capital, togsther with any nsk premium determined appropnate  Estimated {uture
cash flows used in the mpairment calculation represent mangement's best view of the iikely future market conditions and current
decisions on the use of each asset or asset group

For the purpose of assessing imparment assets are grouped at tha lowest levels at which there are separately identifiable cash flows

Finance and operating leases where the group 1s the lessee

Leases of property plant and equipment where the group Is subject to substantially all the nsks and rewards of ownership, are classified
as finance leases Finance leases are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the lower of the far value of the leased asset cr the
present value of the minmum lease payments Each lease payment 1s allocated between the labdity and finance charges so as 1o
achieve a constant rate on the finance balance cutstanding The corresponding rental obligations, net of finance charges, are included
i cther payables The property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases 1s deprecrated over the shorter of the usefu! life of
the asset or the lease term

Leases where a significant portion of the nsks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases
Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives receved from the lessor) are charged to the income statement on a
straight-hne basis over the penod of tha lease Incentives recewved are recorded as deferred income and spread over the term of the
lease on a straight lina basis

Where reference 1s made in the report and financral statements to finance leases, this includes hire purchase agreements
Inventories
Inventories are staled at the lower of cost, determined on a weighted averags cost formula, or net realisable value Cost of inventory

represents matenal and a proportion of procurement overheads Prowvisions are made for slow moving and obsotete iterns Net realisable
value 1s the estimated seling price in the ardinary course of business, less selling expenses
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Accounting policies

Trade recavables

Trade recevables are carned at onginal invorice amount less provision made for imparrment of these recevables A provision for impairment
of trade recevables 1s established when there 1s objective ewidence that the group will not be abte to coltect all amounts due according
to the ongnal terms of recevables The amount of the provision 1s the difference betwean the carrying amount and the bast estimate
of the amount recoverable

Trade payables
Trade payables are non-interest beanng and are stated at their nominal value

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equwalents are camed in the balance sheet at cost For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents
compnse cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly hiquid nvestrments with onginal matunties of three
months or less, and bank overdrafts Bank overdrafts are ncluded within borrowings in current hiabiities on the balance sheet

Deferred consideration

The amounts recognised for deferred consideration are the drrectors' best estimates of the actual amounts which will be payable Deferred
consideration s ciscounted at an approprate nsk-free rate Detferred consideration relates to acquisitrons made prior to the application
date of IFRS 3 (revised) 'Business combinations' and thersfors changes in estimates are reflected in the valuation of goodwill

Employee benefits

Defined Contnbution schemes

A defined contribution plan 1s a pension plan under which the group pays fixed contnbutions intc a separate entity {a fund) and will
have no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold suflicient assets to pay all employees
banefits relating 1o employee service in the current and pror periods Contributions are charged to the income statement in the year
in which they anse

Defined Benefit schemes
A defined benefit plan 1s a pension plan that defines an amount of pension benefit to be prowided, usually as a functon of one or more
factors such as age, years of sarvice or cormpensation

The operating and financing costs of such plans are recognised separately in the income staternant, service costs are spread
systematically over the lives of employees and financing costs are recognised in the penods in which they anse Finance costs are
included in distribution costs

The Lability recogrised in the balance sheet in respect of defined benefit pension plans s the present value of the defined benefit obligation
at the balance sheet date less the farr value of plan assets The defined benefit cbligation i1s calculated annually by Independent actuaries
using the projected unit credit mathod The present value of the defined banefit obligation 1s deterrmined by the estimated future cash
outflows using interest rates of government secunties, which have terms to matunty approximating the terms of the related habiity

Actuanal gains and losses anising from experience adjustments and changes in actuanal assumptions are charged or credited to equity
in the statement of comprehensive iIncome

Curtalment gains in respect of discontinued operations are recognised n the income statement In the year of disposal

Termination Benefits

Terrmination benefits are payable whenever an employee’s employment 1s terminated before the normal retirement date or whenever
an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits The group recogrises iermination benefits when it 18
demonstrably committed to either terminate the employment of current employees according to a detaled formal plan without possibility
of withdrawal or to provide termination benefits as a resu't of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy Benefits falling due
more than 12 monihs after balance sheet date are discounted to presert value

Profit shanng and bonus plans
Liabitities for profit shanng and bonus plans are expected to be settled within 12 months and are measured at the amounts expectad
10 be paid when they are settled

Share-based payments

The far values of employee share opbon and share performance plans are calculated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes
model In accordance with IFRS 2 Share-based Paymaents' the resulling cost 1s charged to the income statermant over the vesting
pericd of the opuons and plans  The total amount to be expensed over the vesting penod 1s determinad by reference to the farr value
of the options granted, excluding the impact of any non-market vesting conditions The charge n relation to employee share options
and share performance plans with market vesting conditions are not deemed to be matena to the group Non-market vesting condiions
are included in assumptions about the number of options that are expected to vest At each balance sheet date, the value of the
charge 1s adjusted to reflect expected and actual levels of options vesting for changes in non-market vesting cntera
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Accounting policies

Treasury shares
The cost of the purchase of own shares is taken directly to reserves and I1s Included in the profit and loss reserve

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised as the proceeds raceived, net of transachon costs incurred The transaction costs Incurred are amortised
over the expected life of the faciity Borrowings are classified as current labdities unless the group has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the hability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date

Current and deferred income tax

Current tax

The current income tax charge I1s calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date
n the countnes where the group's subsidianes and associales operate and generate taxable Income

Deferred tax

Deferred income tax s prowded in full, using the balance sheet liatulty method, on temporary differences ansing between the tax bases
of assets and habilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements Currantly or substantively enacted tax rates are usad in
the determination of deferred income tax

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it 1s probable that future taxable profit will be avalable against which the temporary
differences can be utiised

No deferred tax asset or kability 1s recogrised in respect of temporary differences associated with investments in subsidanes branches,
associates and joint ventures, where the group 1s able to control the timing of reversal of the temporary differences and 1t 1s probable
that the temporary diffarences will not reverse In the foreseeable future

Provisions

Prowvisions for restructuring costs and legal clams are recognised when the group has a present legal or constructive obiigation as a
result of past events itis probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obhigaton and a relable estmate of the
amount can be made Restructuring provisians include lease termination penalties and employee termination payments Where the
group expects a provision 10 be reimbursed, for example under an Insurance contract, the rambursement 1S recognised as a separate
asset but only when the rembursement 1s virtually certain

Provisions are measured at the best estmate of the amount to be spent and are discounted where material

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity Incremental costs directly attributable to the 1ssue of new shares or options are shown in equity
as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds

Revenue recognmition

Revenue compnses the nvoiced value for the sale of goods and services net of value-added tax, customer rebates and discounts, and
after ebminating sales wathin the group Revenue from the sale of goods s recogrised when significant nsks and rewards of ownership
of the goods are transferred to the buyer, which s usually on dispatch

Dividends
The final dvidend is recogrised in the group's financial statements in the penod in which it s approved by the group's shareholders
The intenm dividend 1s recogrised when pad

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported N a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker
The chief operating decision-maker, who 1s responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the Operating segments,
has been identified as the Board

Corporate costs are allocaied to segments on the basis of external turnover
Exceptional tems
IAS 1 - 'Presentation of financial statements’ requires matenal items of income and expense to be disclosed separately Exceptional

iterms are items which, In management's Judgement, need 10 be disclosed by wirtue of therr size or iIncidence in order for the user to
obtain a proper understanding of the group's financial performance
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Financial risk management

1 Financial nsk factors

The group s actwvities expose it to a vanety of financial nsks market nsk (including foreign exchange price nsk), credit nsk, hiquidity nsk
cash flow and interest rate nsk The group's overall nsk managament programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets
and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the group’s financial performance

Risk management 1s carried cut by a central treasury department {group treasury) under policies approved by the board of directors
Group treasury identifies, evaluates and hedges financial nsks in close co-operation with the group’s operating units The board provides
written principles for overall nsk rmanagement, as well as wrtten policies covering specific areas, such as foraign exchange nsk,
interest-rate nsk, credit nsk, use of non-dervative financial instruments, and investing excess liquidity

(a) Market nsk

(1) Foreign exchange risk and hedging activihes

The group operates internatronally and 1s exposed to foregn exchange nsk ansing from currency exposures, primanly with respect o
the Euro and the UK pound Foreign exchange nsk anses pnmarly from recogrised assets and liabilihies and net investments in foreign
operations The group has significant investments in foreign operations, whose net assets are exposed io foreign currency translation
nsk Currency exposure ansing from the net assets of the group's foreign operations 1s managed pnmanly through hedging barrowings
denominated in foreign currencies against the net assets of foreign operations denominated in the same currencies

The group documents these hedgng relationships at inception and assesses, both at ncepbon and on an on-gaing basis, whether
they are highly effectve Where the hedges are highly effective gains or losses on the borrowings are recognised in equity The gans
or losses relatng to the naffectve portion are recognised immediately in the incoma statement

The impact on revenus and operating profit of sterling weakening against the Euro s reflected in the segmental analysis {note 1) which
shows the results at the 2010 actual average exchange rate (€1 165 £1) and at the 2009 actual average exchange rate (€1 117 £1)

{n) Cash flow and nterest rate nisk

The group’s income and operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes In market interest rates The group’s interest
rate nsk anses from long-term borrowings  Borrowings issued at variable rates expose the group to cash flow interest rate nsk Borrowings
issued at fixed rates expose the group to farr value interest rate nsk The group has no fixed rate borrowings of greater than six months
nor does It have any fixed rate interest rate swaps The group minimises interest costs using ¢ash pooling and tight management of
working capital

The Euro yield curve at 31 Becember 2010 imphed an in¢rease in base rate of 1% over the course of 2011 An ingrease of 0 9% applied
to the borrowing under the central facility would result in an increase of approximately £200,000 in the group's interest expense

{b) Credit nsk
The group has ne significant concentrations of credit nsk It has polices in place to ensure that sales of products are made to customers
with an appropnate credit history

{c} Liquidity nsk

Prudent hquidity nsk management imples maintarung suffictent cash and the availability of funding through an adequate amount of
commutted credit faciities Group treasury ams to maintan flexibility in funding by keeping committed credit fnes avalable Management
monitors rolling forecasts of the group's hquidity position on the basis of expected and projected cash flow

Contractual obligations

Less than 1 year 2 5 years More than 5 years Total

£000 £000 £'000 £'000

Long term debt obligatons {(note 14) 2,952 54 337 45 57,334
Finance lease obligations (hote 15) 159 244 - 403
Operating leases {note 24) 9,371 12,761 4,713 26,845
12,482 67.342 4,758 84,582

Long term debt obhgatons comprise the pnncipal amount of bomrowings where the borrowings are drawn down against a facility which
1s avalable for more than one year Under the faciity each drawing 15 a separate utilsation and interest 1s payable at the matunty of
each utlisation No utlisaton 1s made for a penod greater than six months

Deferred tax, deferred consideration, and post employmant benefit labilities are not ncluded in the table above Dunng 2010 the group
has agreed a deficit funding plan with the trustees of the Brammer Services Limited Retirement Benefit Scheme, which provides for
the group to make payments of £2 7 million, indexed for inflation n the years 2010 to 2023 inclusve
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Financial risk management

2 Capital nsk management
The group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns
for shareholders and to maintain an optinal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital

The group considers the geanng and capital structure of the business penodically and adjusts as appropnate, as demonstrated by the
capital raised through the nghts issue In 2009 and subseguent repayment of debt

The group momitors capital on the basis of headroom against its commutted borrowing faciites compliance with the covenants mposed
by the committed borrowing faciliies, and the group's ability to raise further equity capital

The group was in full compliance with all its financial covenants throughout each of the penods presented

In November 2008 the group successfully ranegotiated its €66 milllon 364 day revotvng faciity to be coterminous with its €89 million
term loan so that fully commutted faciities of €165 milion were in place through to 28 February 2012 In November 2009 the group
completed a nghts 1ssue and, following receipi of the nghts 1ssue proceeds of £35 3 million net, under the terms of the group facility
the comrnitted facihities were reduced from €185 million to €144 3 milkon Dunng 2010 the comrmitted faciity has been reduced by a
further €24 3 mifhon of which €11 4 mulion in May 2010 was pursuant to the terms of the 2009 nghts 1ssue and the balance of €12 9
mullion a voluntary cancellation At 31 December 2010 the committed facility 1s €120 O million

The group’s headroom against its commuitied facility was as follows

2010 2009

£m £m

Committed group faciity 102.8 128 2
Current utihisation 514 646
Headroom {note 15) 51.4 636

Under the terms of the faciity the group s permitted to enter into up to £21 0 mifion of additional net borrowings outside this faciity

3 Key accounting estimates, judgements and assumptions
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical expenence and other factors, Including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the crcumstances

The group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future The resulting accounting estimates will, by definiion seldom equal
the related actual results The estimates and assumptions that have a significant nsk of causing a matenal adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and habilities within the next financial year are discussed below

(a) estimated impairment of goodwill

The group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy stated on page 58
The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units have been determined based on value-m-use calculations These calculations
require the use of estimates (Note 8)

(b) tncome tax provisions

The group is subject to Income taxes in numerous Junsdictions  Significant Judgement is required in determining the worldwide provision
for income taxes There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultmate tax determination I1s uncertain dunng the ordinary
course of busness The group recegnises liabilities for anticipated tax audit iIssues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will
be due Where the final tax outcome of these matters i1s different from the amounts that were inially recorded such differences will
Impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the penod in which such determination 1s made

(c) determination of deferred consideration payable

The level of deferred consideration recognised in respect of acquisions 1s subject to continual evaluation by the directors  Any subseguant
revision 10 the amounts recognised will have no )/mpact on the group s results as those adjustments will be reflected in the carrying
value of goodwill

{d) retrement benefit obligations

The present value of the pension obligations depends on a number of factors that are determined on an actuanal basis using a number
of assumptions The assumptions used in deterriming the net expense for pensions include the discount rate Any changes in these
assumptions will mpact the carrying amount of retrement benefit obhigations

Note 26 detals the actuanal assumptions used i determining the carmying amount at 31 December 2010
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Notes to the accounts

1 Segmental analysis

The Board has been dentified as the chief operating decision-maker The Board reviews the group’s internal reporting as the basis for
assessing performance and allocating resources Management has determined the operating segments based on these reports The
group 15 pamanly controlled on a country by country basis, in kne with the legal structure, and accordingly the operating segments are
unchanged from those previously reported

The groeup's internal reporting 1s pnmarily based on perfermance reports run at ‘management’ exchange rates - exchange rates which
are set at the beginning of each year For 2010 the management rate used was €1 145 €1

Accordingly the segment infermation betow 1s shown at the ‘management’ exchange rates with the exchange effect being a reconciling
#em between the segment results and the totals reporied in the financial statements at actual exchange rates The management rate
applies to income staterment, balance sheet and cash flows

The Board assesses the performance of the operating segments based on ther undertying operating profit, which comprises profit
before Interest and taxation, excluding amortisation of acquired mtangibles and non-recurring or exceptional items such as restructuring
costs and impairments when the imparrment is the result of an 1solated, non-recurnng event

Segment assets include property, plant and equipment, other intangible assets, inventones and trade and other recewvables All inter-

segmental tfrading 1s at an arms-lengih basis

Year ended 31 December 2010
Continuing operations

Other
Eastern operating
UK Germany france Span Benalux Europe segments Total
£ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £'000
Revenue

Total revenue 144,033 107,102 78,748 40,825 47,222 48,358 17,233 483,521
Inter company sales (2 531) (3 056) (1,276} (875) (1 664) (320) {655) {10,377}
Sales o external custorners 141,502 104,046 77,472 39,950 45,568 48,038 16,578 473,144
Exchange effect (4,777}
Total sales to external customers 468,367
Underlying operating profit 6,542 5,655 2,985 2,882 2,611 2,433 201 23,309
Exchange effect {272)
Total underlying operating profit 23,037
Amortisation of acquired intangibles (1,260)
Total operating profit 21,777
Finance expense (2,510)
Finance income 43
Profii before tax 19,310
Tax {5,487)
Profit for the year 13,823
Segment assets 43,756 25,736 28,243 17,319 22,393 24,078 8,305 169,830
Exchange effect (1,153)
168,677

Goodwill 74,802
Acquired intangbles 5,248
Cash 21,699
Deferred tax 6,377
Total assets 276,803
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Notes to the accounts

1 Segmental analysis

Qther
Eastern operalng
UK Gefmarny France Span Benalux Ewope segments Total
£000 €000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £ 000 £1000
Other segment items
Capital expenditure
- intangible assets 18 104 - - 125 22 1,282 1,551
- property, plant and equipment 192 177 613 166 109 380 308 1,855
Exchange effect {23)
Total capital expenditure 3,483
Amortisation/depreciation
- intangible assets (1) {1585) - (18) (88} (30} (867} {1,159)
— property, plant and eguipment {1,143} (187) 327 (395) {437} {452) {268} (3,209)
Exchange effect 33
Total amortisation and depreciation {4,335)
Year ended 31 December 2009
Continuing operations
Other
Eastern operaung
UK Gefmany France Spain Benalux Ewope seyments Total
£000 £ 000 £ 000 £000 £ 000 £000 £000 £ 000
Revenue
Total revenue 132,776 93,568 70,036 37,127 42,306 40,370 14,047 430,230
inter company sales {2,506) {2,697 (905} {1.220) {1,559) (385) {332) {9,604}
Sales to external customers 130,270 90,871 69,131 35,807 40,747 39,985 13715 420626
Exchange effect 5,467
Total sales to external customers 426,093
Underlying operating profit 4 600 5034 2,744 2433 1574 1852 {306) 17,931
Exchange effect 513
Total underlying ocperating profit 18 444
Amortisation of acquired (ntangibles (1.64%)
Exceptional operating items (12,927}
Total operating profit 3.876
Finance expense (4,67
Finance income 63
Exceptional finance expense (753)
Loss before tax contnuing operations (1,493)
Tax 1,074
Disconunued operations 477
Profit for the year 58
Segment assets 40,540 25012 26 704 16 805 21 587 19,839 7476 157,963
Exchange effect 1,118
159,079
Goodwill 76,570
Acguired intangtbles 6,617
Cash 33,272
Deferred tax 8,245
Total assets 283,783
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Notes to the accounts

1 Segmental analysis

Other
Eastern operaing
UK Germany France Span Benetux Surope segments Towal
£000 £000 £ 000 £ 000 £000 £ 000 € 000 £ 000
Other segment items
Capntal expenditure
- intangible assets - 30 - - 198 52 484 764
- property, ptant and equipment 312 117 125 205 314 323 152 1,548
Exchange effect 291
Total capital expenditure 2,603
Arnortisation/depreciation
- intangible assets - (185) - - {72 (27} {792) {1,056}
- propsrty, plant and equipment (1,409) (2186) {261) (391) {448) {3086) {309) (3.520)
Exchange effect (86}
Total amortisation and depreciation (4.662)

The table below detals the ‘management rate’ used and the actual exchange rates used for the primary exchange rate of Sterling to

Euro for the year and the comparative ysar

2010 2008
Management rate €1 145 €1 145
Actual average rate €1 165 €1117
Year end rate €1.167 €1126
An analysis of goodwill by operating segment 1s included in note 8
2 Finance expense and income
2010 2008
£000 £ 000
Finance expense
Bank overdrafts and short term borrowings 596 991
Loans 1,643 3,185
Finance leases 55 38
Deferred consideration - unwinding of discount 216 465
2,510 4 679
Finance income
Bank and other short term deposits {43} 63}
2,467 4618

In 2009 there was also an exceptional finance charge of £753,000 incurred which 1s descnbed in note 4
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Notes 1o the accounts

3 Profit before taxation

2010 2008
£'000 £ 000
The following items have been included in armving at profit before taxation
Siaff costs (see note 23) 86,236 80,759
Cost of inventones reccgnised as an expense and included in cost of sales (see note 10} 324,386 296,430
Releasa of inventory provision in 2008 - {1,135)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
-~ Owned assets 3,020 3.494
- Under finance leases 159 13
Amortisation of software development {included in distnbution costs) 1,156 1.055
Amortisation of acquired intangibles (shown separately on the face of the ncome statement) 1,260 1,641
Operating leases on property, plant and equipment 9,531 10,202
Repars and maintenance expenditure on property, plant and equipment 744 764
Trade recevables imparrment 534 875
Gan on disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets {42) {133)
Net exchange gains 57 122
Auditor remuneration
Services provided by the company's auditors and associates
Fees payable for audit of parent company and consolidated financial statemants 83 84
Fees payabls for other services
Auditing of accounts of associates of the company pursuant to legislation
(including that of countries and terntories outside Great Britain) 249 254
Tax services 70 70
Services relating 1o corporate finance transactions entered nto on behalf of the company * - 466
Other servtces - 23

‘Fees incurred in 2009 in respect of the nights 1ssue were recognised n equity as part of the net progeeds of the nights 1ssue

4 2009 Exceptional tems

In 2008, in response to the difficult market conditions in which the group operated, an extensive review of the group's operating cost
base, strategy and stock management was carried out As a result of this review, actions were taken to reduce headcount and to

reprofite stock Costs ansing were charged as exceptional restructunng and stock scrapping costs

Following the receipt of nghts 1ssue proceeds, the group repaid Eure borrowings drawn down under the group facility Capitalised
borrowing costs of £0 75 million relating to that portion of the group faciity were charged to the ncome statement as exceptional

finance cost

The credit relating to discontinued operations compnses the release of a substantial part of the provision held in respect of potential
warranty claims This amount s shown net of taxation on the income statement Further details of the exceptional tems were given in

note 4 on page 62 of the 2609 Annual Report
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Notes to the accounts

5 Taxation
2010 2008
£'000 £ 000
Current tax
Current year (4,245) {726)
Pnor year {626) 1,069
(4,871) 343
Deferred tax (note i8)
Current year {954) 295
Pror year 338 251
(616) 546
Taxation {5,487} 889
Tax on tems taken 1o equity
Tax on pension schemas movemenis {2,031} 3,888
Tax on share options - 201
Tax on exchange movements posted to reserves {114} {457)
Factors affecting the tax charge for the penocd
The effective tax rate for the penod of 28 4% 1s lugher than the standard raie of corporation tax in the United Kingdom
The differences are explaned below
Pro excophional Exceptional
items ems Total
2010 2009 2009 2009
£'000 £000 £ 000 £ 000
Continuing operations
Profit/{loss) on ordinary actwities before tax 18,310 12,187 {13,680) {1,493}
Profit/loss) on ordinary actities multiplied
by standard rate of corporation tax
In the UK of 28% (2009 28 0%) (5,407} {3.412) 3.830 418
Effects of
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes {592} {863) 251 612)
Release of tax provision 789 211 - 211
Release of deferred tax on share options - {326) - (326)
Different tax rates on overseas earnings 1 63 - 63
Adjustments In respect of previous periods (288) 1,320 - 1,320
Total taxatsion on continuing operations (5,487) {3,007} 4 081 1,074
Overall effective tax rate for the year -
continuing operations 28.4% 24 7% 29 8% 719%
Tax charge on discontinued operations (185) (185)

The June 2010 budget statement announced a reduction in the standard rate of UK corparation tax from 28% to 24% phased i over

four years at 1% per annum from April 2011

The change in the corporaton tax rate from 28% to 27% with effect from 1 Apnl 2011 was enacted in the Finance Act 2010 and as a
result UK deferred tax balances have been re-measured to the enacted rate of 27% A deferred tax charge of £62,000 has been recognised

In the pencd in respect of this
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6 Dwidends
2010 2008
£'000 £ 000
Final 2009 paid July 2010 3 60p {Final 2008 3 60p) per 20p share 3,818 2.7
Intenm 2010 paid November 2010 2 10p (Intenm 2009 1 90p) per 20p share 2,226 1,377
6,042 4,078

In addition the directors are proposing a final dvidend in respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2010 of 4 5p per share that
will absorb an estimated £4 786,000 of shareholders’ funds It will be pad on 5 July 2011 to shareholders on the register of members
on 10 Junse 2011

7 Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share 1s calculated by dviding the earmings attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted average number
of ardinary shares outstanding dunng the year, excluding those held in the employee share trust which are treated as cancelled

For diluted earnings per share, the waighted average number of ordinary shares inissue I1s adjusted to assume conversion of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares The only class of potentially diutive ordinary shares are the company's ordinary shares contingently issuable
under the group’s long term inceniive plan

Reconciliations of the earnings and weighted average number of shares used in the calculations are set out below

2010

Earnings Earnings per share Earnings per share

£000 Basic Dituted

Average number of shares in 1ssua {"000} 106,290 106,290

Total

Proiit for the financial year 13,823 13 0p 130p
Amortisation of acquired intangibles 1,260
Tax on amortisaten of acquired intangibles (322}

Earnings before amortsation of acquired intangibles 14,761 13.9p 13.9p

The weighted average number of shares In the year reflecis the full year impact of last year's nghts 1ssue (53,142 794 ordinary shares
Issused)

2009

Earnings Earnings per share Earrngs per share
£ c0o Basic Diluted

Average number of shares in issue ('000) 79 351 79.351

Total

- from continung operations (419) Q5P {0 5)p

- from discontinued operations 477 06p 06p

Profit for the financial year 58 C1p 01ip

Amortisation of acquired intangibles 1,641

Exceptional items 13.018

Tax on exceptional items (3,896}

Tax on amortisation of acquired intangbles {427)

Earnings before amortisation of acquired ntangibles and exceptional tems 10,394 131p 131p
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8 Intangible assets

Goodwilf Acquitred intangibles COther = Software devefopment
2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009
£'000 £'000 £'000 £ 000 £'000 £000
Cost
At 1 January 76,570 83,586 9,845 7133 12,064 11,400
Exchange adjustments {2,095) {6.056) (142) (544) {178) {554}
Additions 327 1,476 - - 1,548 1,045
Reclassification - (2 436) - 3.356 - 197
Disposals - - - - (14) (24)
At 31 December 74,802 76,570 9,803 9,945 13,420 12,064
Impairment and amortisation
At 1 January - - 3,328 1,813 7,508 6.512
Exchange adjustments - - {33) (126) (166} {366)
Charge for the year - - 1,260 1,641 1,156 1,055
Imparment charge included in
exceptional items 1n 2009 - - - - - 331
Oisposals - - - - {5) {24)
At 31 December - - 4,555 3.328 8,493 7,508
Net book value
At 31 December 74,802 76,570 5,248 6617 4,927 4,556

Additions to goodwill reflact the earn-out payments of £327,000 made n respect of pnor penod acquesitions

Reclassifications In 2009 compnsed the reclassificabion from goodwill to acquired intangibles of the separatety idenifiable intangible
assets recognised from the acquisttions of businesses, which weare complsted in 2008

Acquired mntangibles principally comprise customer relationships which are considered to have estimated useful Ives of between 5
and 10 years

The amortisation of software development expenditure has been charged in distribution costs

Goodwillis cariied at cost less amortisation 1o the date of transihion effective 1 January 2004, subject to review for potentral impairment
In accordance with IAS 36 Impairment of Assals Imparrment tesling has been carried out by companng goodwill plus associated
operating assets with the expected value in use, calculated as tha net present value of discounted future cash flows expected to be
derved from the assets

Goodwill 1s allocated to the group's cash-generating units defined as the geographical split of countries in which the group operates
An operating segment-level summary of the goodwill allocation 1s presented below

2010 2000

£'000 £000

UK 5,262 5,262
France 4,940 5,103
Germany 34,716 35,880
Spain 5,288 5,479
Benelux 7.906 8,194
Eastern Europe 10,281 10,164
QOther operating segments 6,441 6,388
74,802 76,570

The expecied value in use has been calculated using assumptions ansing from management's data and metncs used on an ongoing
basis These assumptions reflect management's past expensnce ansing from the application of the group strategy
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8 Intangible assets

Key assumptions are

The cash-generating operating units are defined according to country of operation and related goodwill has been allocated on this basis

The recoverable amount for each cash-generating operating unit has been determined based on a value in use calculation using
approved pre-tax budgets for 2011 Profit and cashflow data beyond this penod has been extrapolated using forecast growth rates
that are based on long term GDP growth rates pertinent to the country where the cash-generating gperating unit resides

A nominal pre-tax weighted average cost of capital *WACC”) of 10 15% (2009 8 97%) has been used to discount future cashfiows
Although based on a company specific WACC it has been adjusted to reflect higher long term financing costs than that the company
currently expenences The nominal WACG has been adpusted for inflation rates in each of the countnes that the company currently
operates

There are no indicators of mparment Sensitmty tests have been run These show that for cash-generating urits significantly matenal
to the business an increase in the WACC in excess of 1% would be required to result in any indicater of mpairment Decreasing
budgsted trading profit by 15% would net ndicate an impairment for any significantly matenal cash-generating units For smaller
cash-generating urits within ‘other operating segments’ with sensitvities a potential impairment of £0 2 milhon would anse from a
decrease in the budgeted trading profit for 2011 of 15%

9 Property, plant and equipment

2010 2009
Land and Land and
buildings Equipment Total bullcings Equipment Total
£000 £'000 £000 £ 000 £ 000 £'000
Cost
At 1 January 13,287 33,669 46,956 14,220 35,414 49,634
Exchange adjustments {159} (605) {764) (513} (1.414) (1,827}
Additions 110 1,825 1,935 195 1,363 1,558
Reclassification 148 (148) - - (197} {197}
Dispeosals (13) {1,581) {1,594) (615} (1,497) {2,112}
At 31 December 13,373 33,160 46,533 13,287 33,669 46,956
Depreciation
At 1 January 7,101 27,322 34,423 6,755 26 689 33,444
Exchange adjustments (83} (560) {643) (132) (1,157) {1.289)
Charge for the year 543 2,636 3,179 627 2,980 3,607
Raclassification 57 (57) - — - -
Disposals - {1,457) {1,457) (149) (1,180} {1,339}
At 31 December 7,618 27,884 35,502 7.101 27 322 34,423
Net book value
At 31 December 5,755 5,278 11,031 6186 6,347 12,533
2010 2008
£'00¢ £ 000

At 31 December
Assets held under finance leases (land and buldings and equipment included above)

Cost 1,490 1,202
Depreciation (906) (70}
584 412

10 Inventores

The group consumead £324 386,000 (2009 £296,430,000) of inventory dunng this penod

Finished goods inventones of £71,283,000 {2008 £70,772,000) compnse entirely geods for resale Finished goods inventores of
£3.,681,000 (2009 £3,740,000) are carred at far value less costs to sell bemng fower than cost
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11 Trade and other recevables

2010 2005

£000 £000
Amounts due within one year
Trade recevables 81,359 71,608
Provision for imparrment of recevables (2,665) (3,474}
Net trade debtors 78,694 68,135
Other debtors 1,268 1.610
Prepayments and accrued ncome 1,474 1,473

81,436 71,218

The movement in the prowsion for imparrmant of receivablas 1s analysed as follows

2010 2009

£'000 £000
AL 1 January 3,474 2.811
Exchange adjustments (94} (237)
income statement charge included in distnbution costs 534 875
Acquisitions - 135
Recovered {(751) (220}
Wntten off {as uncellectable) (498} (693)
Charge included in exceptional items in 2009 - 803

2,665 3,474

Concentrations of credit nsk with respect to trade recevables are limited due to the group's customer base being large and unrelated
Accordingly. management consider that there 1s no further credit risk provision above the current provisien for impairment

Certan European subsidianes of the group transfarred receivable balances amounting to €4 4 millon (£3 8 milion) (2009 £3 € mullion)
to banks, under bills of exchange without recourse, In exchange for cash dunng the year ended 31 December 2010

12 Cash and cash equivalents

2010 2009

£'000 £ 000

Cash at bank and »n hand 19,650 24,771
Shoert term bank deposits 2,049 8,501
21,699 33,272

Cash and cash equivalents compnsa cash in hand and deposits which are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which
are subject 1o nsignificant nsk of changes in value and have an onginal matunty of three months or less at acquisition

13 Trade and other payables

2010 2009
£000 €000

Trade creditors 74,465 66,634
Other taxes and social secunty 6,706 5,664
Other creditors 329 418
Accruals 12,764 9,589
94,264 82,305
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14 Financial habilities — borrowings

2010 2000
£'000 £ 000
Current
Unsecured bank and other borrowings 665 1,824
Unsecured loans less than one year 2,952 4,330
Finance lease commitments due within one year 143 94
3,760 6,248
Non-current
Unsecured bank loan repayable
Between one and two years 52,941 383
Between two and five years 1,396 65,198
Qver five years 45 1,205
54,382 66,786
Finance lease commitments
Between one and two years 83 81
Between two and five years 148 31
Over five years - -
231 112
54,613 66,898

Bank loans are denomnated primarnly n euros and bear nterest based on ewro LIBOR The effective interest rate on bank borrowings
for the year to 31 December 2010 was 4 3% (year to 31 December 2009 4 7%)

In November 2008 the €66 milion Tranche A element of the €165 milon central borrowing facility was amended from a 364 day
faciity to a committed facility until 28 February 2012 As pant of the amended terms it was agreed that Iimited asset secunty would be
provided by the UK, France Germany and Spamn subsidary undertakings This secunty was put in place on 18 February 2009

Fcllowing the nights 1ssusa in November 2009 the committed facilities were reduced from €165 million to €144 3 milion Dunng 2010
the faciity was reduced by a further €24 3 millon of which €11 4 milllon in May 2010 was pursuant to the terms of the 2009 nghts 1ssue
and the balance of €12 9 milion a voluniary cancellation, accordingly at 31 December 2010 the commited facility is €120 O million

15 Financial labihties

Farir values of financial habilities

The group has mainly euro dencminated borrowings which it has designated as a hadge of the net investment in its subsidianes n
continental Europe The farr value of these eure borrowings at 31 December 2010 was £51,414,000 (2009 £64,565,000) The foreign
exchange gamn of £1,872,000 (2009 gan of £5,744,000) on the translation of these borrowings inte sterling at the closing exchange
rate has been recognised in the translation reserve

Where market values are not avallable far vatues of financial assets and habilites have been calculated by discounting expected cash
flows at praevaling interest rates and by applying year end exchange rates The carrying amounts of short-term barrowings approxmate
to book value and there are no significart differences between the book value and far value of non-current borrowings
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15 Financial habilities

Matunty of financial habihities
The matunty profits of the camying value of the group’s non-current liabilities was as follows

Frunce Datarrod

Dobt leasas consideration Total
£ 000 £ 000 £'000 £000

At 31 December 2010
In mora than one year but not more than two years {52,941) {83) - (53.024)
In more than two years but not more than five years {1,396} (148) - {1,544}
In more than five years (45) - - {45)
(54,382) {231) - (54,613}

At 31 December 2009
In more than one year but not more than two years (383) 81) {7.880) {8.344)
In more than two years but not more than five years (65,198) 31) {7.742) {72,971)
In more than five years {1,205) - - {1.205)
{66.786) (112) {15 622) {82.520)

The group's financial labilties are all at floating rates and comprise drawn stering and euro bank faciites which are mainly central
multi-currency committed hnas The unutitsed porion of these central committed lines amounts to £51 4 miflion {2008 £63 6 milhon)
which 1s available to the group up to February 2012 and carnes interest based on currency LIBOR

Minimuirr: lease payments
The minimum lease payments under finance leases fall due as follows

2010 2009
£'000 £'000
Not later than one year 159 103
Later than one year but not more than five years 244 117
More than five years - -
403 220
Future finance charges on finance leases {31) (14)
Book value of finance lease kabilities 372 206
16 Provisions
2010 2008
Rastructunng Othor Total Total
£'000 £ 000 £'000 £ 000
At 1 January 2,281 200 2,481 1,030
Exchange adjustment (57) {7) (64} (95)
Charged to the income statement in the year - - - 2,295
Utihsed in the year (1,469 - (1,469} (87}
Released in the year - - - 662)
At 31 December 755 193 848 2,481
Amounts faling due
Within one year 762 2,156
In more than one year but not more than two years 186 325
Totat 948 2,481

The restructunng provision principally represents the estimated costs which the group s commutted to ncur after the year-end in
respect of specified employeas who had been notified by 31 December 2009 of the intention to terminate ther contracts of employment
This provision 1s expected to be utiised within one to two years Other provisions relate to warranty clams for the disposal of a
discontnued business The date for noufication of any clams under the warranty expired n 2010
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17 Deferred consideration

2010 2000
£'000 £ 000
At 1 January 15,622 24,963
Exchange adjustments {223) (1,512}
Unwinding of discount 216 465
Paid (7,561) (8,294}
At 31 December 8,054 15,622
Amounts faling due
Within one year 8,054 7.880
I more than one year but not more than two years - 7,742
Total 8,054 15,622

The amounts recognised on acquisition are management's best estimates of the amounts which will be payable Both the amounts
and the tming of future payments are uncertan as they are dependent upon the future performance of the busmesses acquired

18 Deferred tax

2010 201¢ 2010 2010 2010
Acceleraled Pension Tax
capilal aflowances liakality lose0s Provisions Total
£ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £'000
Assets
At 1 January - 7.166 1,079 - 8,245
Exchange adjustment - 8) (37} - (45)
Adustments arnising from change in tax rate
(taken to Income statement) - (143) - - {143)
Taken {o equity - (2,113) - - {2,113)
Income statement credit - (661) (297 - (958)
Reclassification 1,391 - - - 1,391
At 31 December 1,391 4,241 745 - 6,377
Liabiities
At 1 January {1.167) - - (7.689) (8,856)
Exchange adjustment 26 - - 179 205
Adjustments ansing from change in tax rate
{taken to Income statement) 9 - - 154 163
Net amount taken to equity - - - (114) (114)
Income statement charge 2,523 - - (2.201) 322
Reclassification (1,391} - - - (1,391}
At 31 December - - - (8.671) (9,671}
2010 2009
£:000 £ 000
Net total
At 1 January {611) {4,345)
Exchange adjustment 160 510
On far value adjusiments to prior peniod acquisitions - {531}
Taken to equity (2,227) 3,209
Income statement {charge)/crecht {616) 548
At 31 December (3,204) {611)
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18 Deferred tax

Deferred tax 13 calculated in fult on temporary differences under the lability method using a tax rate applicable to the relevant jJunsdiction

Deferred tax assets have been recognised in full on taxable losses and provisions where realisation of the tax benefit from these items
13 probable The deferred tax on losses not recognised amounts to £1,858,000

No deferred tax 15 recognised on the unremitted earnings of cverseas subsidianes and associates as there will be no additional fiabildy
ansing on repatnation to the UK

Based on current capital nvestment plans, the group expects to be able 10 claim capital allowances 1n excess of depreciation in future
years at a similar level to the cument year

The movements in deferred tax asseats and liabiities {pnor to the offsetting of balances within the same junsdiction as permitted by IAS)
dunng the penod are shown above Defarred tax fallng due after more than one year amounts to £3,294,000 (2009 £611,000)

19 Called up share capital

2010 2005
Number Number
Ordinary shares of 20p each
Allotted, called up and fully paid
At 31 December 106,361,185 106,285.588

Resolution One passed at the General Mesting hetd on 29 October 2009 removed the mit on the company on its ability to 1ssue
shares Accordingly the company has no limit on authonsed share capital {2009 no limit)

2009 nghts 1ssue

Under the terms of a fully underwritten nghis 1ssue, ordinary shareholders of the company on the register at the close of business on
27 Qctober 2009 were offered 53,142,794 new ordinary shares of 20p each at a pnce of 72p each on the basis of one new ordinary
share for each existing ordinary share held These shares were fully subscribed on 13 November 2009, resulting in nat proceeds of
£35 3 million being gross proceeds on issue of £38 3 milllon less expenses of £3 0 millon

Ordinanly, the excess of the net proceeds over the nominal value of the share capital 1ssued would be credited 1o a non-distnbutable
share premium account However, the nghts 1ssue was effected through a structure which resulted i the excess of the net proceeds
over the norminal value of the share capital being recognised within retained earnings under section 612 of the Companies Act 2006

Purchase of own shares

Duning the year the company acquired 4,377 of its own shares of 20p each through the Brammer plc Employee Share Ownership
Trust {“the Trust"}) The total amount paid to acquire the shares was £6,076 which has been deducted from shareholders’ equity The
shares are held by the Trust to meet vestings under the group's performance share plans and share matching plans Tianches of these
plans vested dunng the penod and 58,629 shares were transferred to directors and serior managers in order to meet vestings under
these plans

At 31 December 2010 the Trust held a total of 277,634 shares in the company in order to meet part of the company's habilities under
the performance share plans and share matching plans The Trust deed contans a wawver provision In respect of these shares

Ordinary shares 1ssued
Options exercised during the penod under the group’s employee share option schemes resulted in 75 597 ordinary 20p shares being
1Issuad with exercise proceeds of £75,316
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20 Share based payments

Mavements on share options dunng the year were as follows

1 January Exencrsect/ RaR:hv::tssasln.?ef 31 December  Data from which

Price per sharg 2010 Granted Vasted Lapsed Adjustmant 2010 exercisable Expuy tate
Executive share option schemes
1995 scheme
280p 107 892 - - {107,892) - - 125ep 2003 12 Sep 2010
366p 432 - - - - 432 16 Mar 2004 16 Mar 2011
102p 30,808 - - - - 30,806 7 Oct20068 7 Oct2013
90p 28,330 - - - - 28,330 15 Apr 2007 15 Apr 2014
99 5p 198,381 - {66,734) - - 131,647 6Sep 2007 6 Sep 2014
1997 scheme
280p 7,292 - - (7,292} - - 12 Sep 2003 12 Sep 2010
366p 3,745 - - - - 3,745 38 Mar 2004 186 Mar 2011
102p 9,014 - {3,863} - - 51451 7Qct2008 7 Oct2013
g0p 13,921 - - - - 13,921 15 Apr 2007 15 Apr 2014

: 99 &p 22,970 - {5.000) - - 17,870 6Sep 2007 6 Sep 2014

! Total 422,883 - {75,597} {115 184) - 232,102

‘ Performance share plan

} Op 235,534 - - {235,534) - - Sprng 2010

! Op 189,099 - - (189,099) - - Spnng 2010

‘ Op 302,600 - - - {110,590) 282,010 Spring 2011
Op 258,845 - - (4,866) {72913 180,966 Autumn 2011

| Op 1 886,115 - - - {531,283) 1,354,822 Spnng 2012
Op 455,852 - - (18,013 - 437,839 Autumn 2012

! Op -~ 1024,168 - - - 1,024,168 Spnng 2013
Op - 409,873 - - - 409,873 Autumn 2013

[

‘ Total 3,418,045 1,434,041 - {447,612} {714,796) 3,689,678

| Share matching plan
Op 217,950 - (58.629) {159,321) - - Spnng 2010

‘ Op 408,904 - - {72 125) - 336,779 Spring 2011

| Op 1 227,060 - - {266,782) - 960,278 Spnng 2012

1 op - 551,619 - - - 551,619 Spring 2013

\ Total 1,853,914 551,619 (58 629) {498,228) - 1,848,676

‘ Total 5,604,842 1,985,660 {134,226) (1,061,024) {714,796) 5,770,456

\

Details of the terms of the Executive Share Option Scheme (*ESOS") Performance Share Plan (*PSP™) and Share Maiching Plan (*SMP7)

are disclosed in the remuneration report
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20 Share based payments

Rights issue adjustment

The value of all awards under the Periormance Share Plan decreased due (0 the rssue of new shares under the 2009 nghts 1ssue at a
discouni As per standard practice the Plan Rules allow the Trustees of Brammer plc Employee Share Ownership Trust (“the Trustees”)
to take steps to compensate all participants for the reduction in value of awards Hawving received adwvice, the Trustees adjusted the
option awards under the Plan by increasing the number of shares under the awards and reducing the exercise pnce per share The
adjustment factor was 1 39215

As explained in the remuneration report on page 44, during 2010 the remuneration committee reviewed the methodology to be used
in adjusting the EPS performance conditions applicable to the company's outstanding awards under the Performance Share and Share
Matching plans to take account of the company's rights 1ssue in 2003 As a result of this review the committee reversed the upwards
adjustment to the number of shares under the 2008 and 2009 PSP awards granted belore the nghts issue, thereby rastorng the
number of these awards to those onginally held by particpants before the nghts issue took place

In accordanca with IFRS2, the farr value of equity-settled share-based payments to employees 1s determined at the date of grant and
1s expensed on a straight line basis over the vesting penod based on the group's estmate of shares that will eventually vest No charge
(2009 credit of £696,000) was recognised in the year in respect of employee share based payment plans as the minimum periormance
targets have not been achieved The plans all comprise equity-settied share based transactions The far value 1$ measured usng a
Black-Scholes pricing model For the purposes of tha farr value caleulation for these plans the TSR conditions have been disregarded
on the basis of matenality and treated in the same way as a non-market based performance conditon The fair value per option granted
and the assumptions used in the calculations are as follows

Share Matching Plan Performance Shaa Plan
Awards granted in the year ended 31 December 2010
Grant date 06 Aprl 2010 17 March 2010 18 August 2010
Shars price at grant date 129 5p 120 5p 171p
Exercise price n/a n/a nfa
Number of shares under option 551 619 1,024,168 409,873
Vesting Period (years) 3 3 3
Expected Volatiity 0 56 056 058
Expected option Ife (years} 3 3 3
Risk free rate 192 188 122
Expected dviclend yield 425 478 333
Possibility of ceasing employment before vesting 10% 10% 10%
Expectation of meeting performance cntena - - -
Fair value per option 114p 100p 155p

Share Matching Plan Performance Share Plan
Awards granted in the year ended 31 December 2009
Grant date 19 March 2009 18 March 2009 17 November 2009
Shars price at grant date 73 25p 73 25p 130 8p
Exercise pnce n/a n/a nfa
Number of shares under option (nitial grant) 881,414 1,671,986 455,852
Revised number of shares after nghts issue adjustment 1 227,060 n/a n/a
Vesting Penod {years) 3 3 3
Expected Volatility 049 049 054
Expected option kfe {years) 3 3 3
Risk free rate 1 91 197 190
Expected dwvidend yeld 10 51 1051 589
Possibility of ceasing employment before vesting 10% 10% 10%
Expectation of meeting performance cntena - - -
Faw value per option S4p 54p 110p

The expected volatiity 1s based on historical volatifity over the last three years The expected life is the average expected penod to
exercise The risk free rate of return 1s the yield on zero-coupon UK Government bonds of a term consistent with the assumed option life
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20 Share based payments

A reconciliation of option movements over the year to 31 December 2010 1s shown below

2010 2010 2000 2009
Woighted average Wegnted averago
axarcise price BXOICISE PNCe
Number Pence Number Ponco
Share option and savings related schemes
Qutstanding at 1 January 422,883 151 385,928 175
Exercised {75,597) 100 {10,500) 100
Lapsed (115,184) 280 {71,675) 2N
Rights ssue adjustrment - - 119,120 151
Qutstanding at 31 December 232,102 103 422,883 151
Exercigable at 31 December - - 422,883 151
Performance share plan
Qutstanding at + January 3,418,045 - 1,380,350 -
Granted 1,434,041 - 2,127,838 -
Vested - - {444 844) -
Lapsed {447,612) - (479,609} -
Rights 1ssue adjustment {714,796) - 834,410 -
QOutstanding at 31 December 3,689,678 - 3,418,045 -
Exercisable at 31 December - - - -
Share matching plan
Qutstanding at 1 January 1,853,914 - 599,978 -
Granted 551,619 - 881,414 -
Vested (58,629) - (95 355) -
Lapsed (498,228) - (54,345) -
Rights 1ssue adjustment - - 522,222 -
Qutstanding at 31 December 1,848,676 - 1,853,914 -
Exercisable at 31 December - - - -
2010 2010 2010 2009 2009 2008
Woeighted average Woelghted average  Weighted average Weghted average
Range of exercise prces exercise price remaining life exerGisa prce ramamning kfe
(excluding performanca share Ponce Number of Contractual Perice Number of Contractual
plan ard share matcheng plan} {adjusted price) shares years {onginal pace} shares years
ip-100p 97.4 191,868 3.6 - - -
100p~-200p 102.0 36,057 28 137 1 303,522 45
200p - 300p - - - - - -
300p-400p 366.0 4177 0.2 3900 115,184 Q7
400p-500p - - - - - -
500p ~600p - - - 5100 4177 12
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21 Reconcilation of net cash to movement in net debt

2010 2008
£000 £ 000
Net (decrasase}/increase in cash and cash eguivalents {9,772) 14,917
Net decrease in borrowings 11,229 23,094
1,457 38,011
Exchange 1,743 6,064
Movement in net debt 3,200 44,075
Net debt at 1 January (39.874) {83,949)
Net debt at 31 December (36,674) (39.874)
22 Cash flow from operating activities
2010 2008
£'000 £ 000
Net profit 13,823 58
Tax ¢charge/{credit) on continuing operations 5,487 {1,074)
Tax charge on discontinued operations - 185
Depreciation/amartisation of tangible and intangible assets 5,595 6,634
Share options - value of employee services - (696)
Gan on disposal of tangible and mtangble assets (42) (133)
Financing expense 2,467 4,616
Changes i working capital
{excluding the effect of exchange movements and fair value adjustments)
{Increase)/dacrease in Inventory {2,163) 24,578
{Increase)/decrease in trade and other recevables (11,434) 17,077
Increase/{decrease} in trade and other payables and provisions 12,325 (23,926)
Cash generated from operations after exceptional tems 26,058 27,319
23 Employees and key management
2010 2009
£'000 £ 000
Staff costs for the group dunng the year
Wages and salanes 69,317 64,077
Social secunty costs 14,662 14 493
Pension costs 2,257 2,885
Equity settled share based payments - {696}
86,236 80,759
Numbar Number
Average number of employees, including executive directors
UK 841 823
Garmany 410 417
France 326 288
Spain 216 211
Benelux 207 201
Eastern Europe 333 320
Other 87 65
2,400 2,325
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23 Employees and key management

Key management compensation

2010 2009

£'000 £000

Short term employee benefits 4,061 3,116
Post emplaoyment benafits 107 120
Termination benefits - 329
4,168 3.565

The key management figures shown above include all the diractors together with members of the Brammer executive team as detaled
on pages 24 and 25

Directors
2010 2009
£'000 £000
Aggregate emoluments 1,398 922

No drrector has any retirement bensfits accruing under micney purchase pension schemes or under the company's defined benefit
pension schams

24 Operating lease commitments — total future minimum lease payments

Property Vahicles, plant and equipmeant
2010 2009 2010 2009
£'000 £000 £'000 £ 000
Commiiments under non-cancellable
operating leases expiring

Within one year 6,469 6588 2,902 2,834
Batween two and five years 10,791 11,888 1,970 2,892
After five years 4,713 2,443 - -
21,973 20918 4,872 5,726

25 Future capital expenditure
2010 2009
£'000 £ 000
Commitments for which contracts have been placed - 161
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26 Pension commitments

UK Schemes

The UK group operates the Brammer Services Limited Retirement Benefit Scheme which until 28 February 2006, provided benefits
on a final salary and defined contnbution basis With effect from 1 March 2008, the defined benefit section of the scheme was closed
to future accrual Existing members of the defined benefit section were offered membership of the defined contnbution section of the
scheme The defined benefit scheme 1s funded by the group and contnbutions are paid as determined by the actuary following
discussions with the trustees and the company The asseis of the scheme are held in nominee accounts separate from the group’s
finances under the control of the trustees An investment review took place In Novemnber 2007 and changes to the existing arrangement
werea camed out In 2008 The current fund managers are Fidelity Investments BlackRock Investment Management, Legal & General
Investment Management and Key Asset Management, under a pooled arrangement in each case Within the pooled fund the trustees
have no investment in the share capital of the company

Company contnbutions to the defined benefit scheme dunng the year were being made at the rate of 7 2% of contnbutory salary up
to February 2006 In addition, the company paid £1 § million in 2006 and had agreed to pay £1 95 million indexed for wflaticn, per
annurm in each of the years 2007 to 2017 (inclusive) Dunng 2010 the company has agreed a deficit funding plan with the trustees of
the scheme to make payments of £2 7 million, indexed for inflabon, in the years 2010 to 2023 inclusive

The latest completed actuanal valuaton of the scheme was carned out as at 31 December 2008, using the deafined accrued benefit
method (the same method that was used at the previocus valuation), by an independent actuary employed by Barnett Waddingham
LLP The assumptions, which were agreed betwsen the company and trustees, that have the most significant effact on the results of
the valuation are those relatad to the rates of return on investments and the rates of increase In future price inflation and pensions
Qver the long term, the returns on Investments backing the scheme’s iabilibes were assumed to be 5 80% per annum before retirernent
and 4 30% per annum after retrement For pensions in payment {for both current penstoners and nen-retred members) the return on
underlying investments was assumed to exceed future pension increases (in excess of the guaranteed minimum pension) by 1 55%
per annurn  Pensions in excess of the guaranteed minimum pension were assumed to increase at 2 75% per annum The valuation
showed that the market value of the scheme's assets was £63 5 million as at 31 December 2008, which represented 63% of the value
of the benefits that had accrued to members at that date

A defined contnibution scheme, the “Brammer Services Defined Contribution Pension Scheme”, was launched on 1 January 2002 for
new UK employees joining the group and membership of that scheme was offered to existing members of the defined benefit scheme
with effect from 1 March 2006, the date at which the defined benefit scheme was closed to future accrual The charge in the year for
this scheme was £1,089,328 (2008 £1,031,008)

Dutch Schemes

The two pension schemes operated by the group 1in the Netherlands are defined benefit schemes that provide benefits related to
service and salary Tha scheme based on final pay was closed to new members on 1 January 2003 New members participate in a
defined benefit scheme based on average pay The managing director s entitled to an indmdual pension plan that 1s based on final
pay Brammer Nederland funds all these schemes and contributions are paid as determined by the Insurance company The assets of
the scheme are helg within the insurance company and are separate from the group's finances

The nsurance company has calculated company contributions to the defined benefit scheme duning the year It 1s not expected for
2011 that company contributions will change significantly Past service entillements originating from beiore 1 January 2000 are not yet
fully funded The funding of these entitlernents 1s included in the contributions

The latest actuanal valuation of the scheme was carned out as at 31 December 2009, using the projected unit method, by an independent
actuary based on data provided by the plan administrators, Nationale Nederlanden

Other Schemes

The group operates a number of defined contnbutton schemes overseas and contributes to the state pension scheme arrangements
in anumber of European countries Costs incurred N the year and charges to the ncome statemant in respect of these schemes were
£562,000 (2009 £586,000)

IAS 19 retirement benefits

The valuations usead for IAS 19 disclosures have been based on the most recent actuanal valuations updated to take account of the
requirements of [AS 19 1n order to assess the habilities of the scheme Assets are stated at their market value at 31 December 2010
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26 Pension commitments

The pnncipal assumptons made by the actuanes were

UK Natherlands
At 31 December At 31 Dacember
2010 2009 2010 2008
Inflation rate 3.60% 365% 2.00% 2 00%
Rate of increase i salanes n/a na 3.00% 300%
Rate of increase of pensions in payment 3.60% 365% 2.00% 200%
Rate of increase for deferred pensioners 310% 365% 2.00% 2 00%
Discount rate 5 50% 575% 4.75% 5 40%
Life expectancy at age 65 for
Current pensioners ~ males 21 30 2120
Current pensioners — females 23 90 2380
Future pensioners - males 22.80 2270
Future pensioners — females 2530 2520
The assets held and the expected rate of return were
Long term rate of Long term rate of
raturn expeciad at Failr value at raturn axpectad at Fair value 1t
31 becember 31 Dacembaer 31 December 31 Decemper
2010 2010 2009 2000
% £m % £m
UK scheme
Equities 7.50 57.2 800 470
Corporate bonds 5.50 7.9 575 83
Fixed interest gilts 4.00 7.9 450 59
Index nked gilts 4,00 7.9 4 50 77
Hedge Fund 750 7.7 800 75
Cash 050 0.6 050 06
Total market value of asseis 6.66 89.2 708 770
Present value of pension habiities {103.5) (101 8)
Deficit {14.93) (24 8)
Related deferred tax asset 3.9 70
Net pension liability {10.4) {17 8)
Netherlands scheme
Fixed interest gilts 400 52 4 50 48
Total market value of assets 52 46
Present value of pension labilities 67) {5 5)
Deficit (1.5 (09}
Related deferred tax asset 04 02
Net pension lability (11) o7

Where investments are held In bonds and cash the expacted long term rate of return is taken to be the yelds generally prevaiing on

such assets at the balance sheet date

A hugher rate of return 15 expected on equity investments, which is based more on realistic future expeciations than on the returns that
hava been available histoncally The overall expected long term rate of return 1s then the average of thase rates taking into account the

underlying asset portfoho of the pension plan
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26 Pension commitments

Pensions and other post retirement obligations
The amounts recogrised in the balance sheet are determined as follows

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
€m £m frn om £m
Present value of funded obligations 1102 107 3 810 959 1000
Farr value of plan assels 94 4) {81 6) 67 7) (81 6) {74 8)
Net hability recogrised in the balance sheet 15.8 257 133 143 252
The amounts recognised in the Income statement are as follows
2010 2009
£m £m
Current service cost 0.2 02
Interast cost 8.0 51
Expected return on plan assats (5 6} {40}
Total pension expense included within distnbution costs 06 13
Analysis of the movement in the balance sheet hability
2010 2009
£m £m
Cpening 25.7 133
On-going expense as above 06 13
Employer contributions (3.3) 28
Actuanal (gan)loss recogrised as a reserves movement {7.2) 139
Closing 158 257
The actual return on plan assets was a positve £13 0 milion (2009 £14 0 milion positive return)
Reconcihation of defined benefit obligation
2010 2009
£m om
Opening defined benefit obligation 107.3 810
Exchangs adjustments {0.2) 04
Service cost 0.2 (03]
Interest cost 8.0 51
Actuanal loss on defined benefit obligation 0.2 240
Actual benefit payrments (3.3) (2 6)
Closing defined benefit obligation 110.2 107 3
Reconciliation of fair value of plan assets
2010 2008
£&m £mn
Opening far value of plan assets (81.6) 67 7}
Exchange adjustments 02 04
Expected return on assets {5.6) (a0}
Gan on assets {7 4) {101)
Employer contnbutions {33 {28
Actual benefit payments 33 26
Closing fair value of plan assets {94 4) 8186

83| Brammer plc | Annual Report 2010




Notes to the accounts

26 Pension commitments

The actuanal loss on the defined benefit obligation s net of a £4 75 milion one-off reduction in habikties relating to the UK defined
benefit scheme This ona-off reduction reflects the impact on the assessment of the liabiities due to the government's decision to use
the Consumer Pnces Index ('CPI }in place of the Retall Pnces Index ('RPI'} to determine tha statutory minimum rate at which pensions
will increase in future For the LK scheme this applies to pension increases in deferment only As CPl1s expected to be lower than RPI
in the long-term, this has resulted in a reduction in the long-term obligations in respect of deferred pensioners

UK Scheme
31 December 31 Dacember 31 December M December 31 Decernber
2010 2008 2008 2007 2006
Details of expenence (gains) and losses for the year
Difference between the expected
and actual return on scheme assets
Amount {£ mithon) 7.4 101 208 (14) {0 4)
Percantage of scheme assels 8.30% 13 10% 32 80% 177% 0 54%
Expenence losses cn scheme labidities
Amecunt (€ million) - - - - 80
Percentage of the present value of the scheme liabilies - - - - 8 00%
Total amount recognised in statement of
comprehensive Income
Amount (£ milhion) 82) 134 16 83) {4 4)
Percentage of the present value of the scheme labikbes 7.92% 13 20% 210% 8 99% 4 55%
Dutch Scheme
31 December 31 Dacember 31 December
2010 2009 2008
Details of expenence (gains) and losses for the year
Difference between the expected and actual return on scheme assets
Amount (€ milflon} - - -
Percentage of schemae assets - - -
Experience losses on schema habilities
Amount (£ million) - - -
Percentage of the present value of the scheme habihities - - -
Total amount recognised in statement of comprehensive Income
Amount (£ million} 1.0 05 0 )
Percentags of the present value of tha scheme habilities 17 90% 9 80% 3 70%
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Five year record

2010 2000 2008 2007 2006
£000 £000 £ 000 £000 £ 000
Profit and loss
Revenue 468,367 426,093 478,409 379,577 314,345
Profit before goodwill, exceptional tems and finance costs 23,037 18,444 26,153 19,880 15,078
Amortisation of acquired intangibles and goodwill
and exceptional tems {1,260) {14,568) {848) (444) 2,608
Profit/{oss) on crdinary activities before finance costs 21,777 3,876 25,305 19,436 17,688
Net finance costs (2,467) (5,369} (6.416) (4.518) (3 096)
Profit/loss) on ordinary activities before tax 19,310 {1,493} 18,889 14,921 14,592
Tax {5,487) 1,074 (5,925) {4,473} (4,818)
Profit/(loss) on ordinary activites after tax 13,823 {419) 12,264 10,448 9,774
Discontinued operations - 477 - - -
Profit for the year retaned in the business 13,823 58 12,864 10,448 9,774
Geographic segments
UK
Revenue 144,033 132,776 134,336 123,586 109,373
Operating profit* 6,542 4,600 3,722 2,549 1,549
Segment net assets 15,106 16,532 16,806 14,973 15,530
Germany
Revenue 105,264 95913 123,894 97.761 83,574
Operating profit! 5,901 4 855 9,171 7,180 6 009
Segment net assets 15,585 15,167 22,010 17,044 14,666
France
Revenue 77,396 71,792 75,189 59,046 53950
Operating profit? 3,181 2,765 2.883 2679 2,435
Segment net assets 7,114 8,255 12,872 11,964 10,293
Spain
Revenue 40,124 38,058 43,605 34,432 28,568
Operating profit! 2758 2,682 3,346 3,274 2,694
Segment net assets 3,373 4,627 11,853 11,032 2,714
Benelux
Revenue 46,411 43,366 48,161 36,539 29,049
Operating profit ! 2,422 1763 3,859 2,580 2,008
Segment nat assets 9,854 10,844 14,344 9,929 8,201
Eastern Europe
Ravenue 48,450 39,658 46,141 26,245 9025
QOperating profit! 2,220 1,966 3,076 1,633 372
Segmeni net assets 16,381 16,928 21,605 15,840 3,578
Other
Revenug 6,689 4,630 7,083 1,968 806
Cperating profit! 13 (87) {4) (15) 12
Segment nat assets 11,300 8,457 6,442 2,682 202
Net assets employed
Goodwill 74,802 76,670 83,586 54,464 39,426
Property, plant, equipment and intangible assets 21,206 23,706 26,398 22,696 15,516
Other working capital 57,507 57,204 79 635 60,768 39 668
Net debt {36.674) (39.874) {83.949) (59,404) (54,176)
Deferred consideration {8,054) (15.622) (24,963) (14,478) (3,735)
Tax {6,042) (+,372} (8,284} (5,484) 786
Peansion {15,792) (25,668} {13,333} (14,257 {25,211)
Financed by
Shareholders' equity 86,953 74,944 58,080 44,307 12,274
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Five year record

2010 200G 2008 2007 2006

£'000 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £'000
Cash flow
Net cash inflow from cperating actvities 26,058 27,319 29,215 16,729 11,943
Interest paid and receved (2,159) {5,901) (3,924) 4,092) (2,782}
Tax pad (2,686) {2.333) (4.178) (2,432) (2,132}
Decrease in pension obligations (2,600) (1.542) {2.600) (2.172) {3,743}
Net fixed assets movements - software (1,548) (1,045} (1,041) (1,433) (1,777}
Net fixed assets movements — property, plant

and equipment (1,747) (652) (3.318) (3,493 {1,854}

Acquisitions and disposals {7,888) (8,800) {9,844} {12,375) {1,098}
Dwvidends paid (6,042) (4,078) {4,063 {3.327 {2,583}
Financing {11,160) 11,849 9,102 12,415 2,938
Movement in cash (9,772) 14,917 9,349 (180) {1,088}
Movement in debt, finance lease and iquid resources 11,229 23,094 (11,332 118 {3,359)
Exchange movements on opening balances 1,743 6,064 (22,562) (5,167) 823
Movement in net debt 3,200 44,075 (24,545) (5.228) {3.524)
Ratios
Earnings per share - Basic® 13.0p 01p 17 4p 14 5p 14 5p
Earrings per share — Fully diluted? 13.0p 01p 17 1p 14 3p 14 4p
Earnings per share — before amortisation and exceptionals?® 13.9p 131p 18 2p 14 9p 1 8p
Dndend per share? 6.6p 5 5p 55p 51p 4 3p
Interest caver? 10 2x 4 4x 4 4x 4 Bx 4 8x
EBITDA® 27,372 23,106 30,960 23,388 17,939
Return on investment {excluding net pension} 21% 17% 32% 36% 43%
Geanng {excluding net pension) 37% 43% 122% 109% 178%

1 Operating profit before amortisation of acquired intangibles and exceptional items
2 2008 and prior years’ earnings and dividend per share amounts have been restated to reflact tha effect of the 1 for 1 nghts issue

completed in November 2009

3 Based on profit before amortisation of acquired intangibles and exceptional tems
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Directors’ report

The directors present ther report and the audited fnancial statements of the company for the year ended 31 December 2070

Prnncipal activities
The company 1s the holding company for and also prowides management services to, the group

Bustness review, results and dividends
The profit for the year was £5,421,000 (2009 profit of £5,428.000) The directors have recommended that a final dwvidend of £4,786,000
be paid (2009 £3,826,000)

From the perspective of the company, the key performance indicators are integrated with the key performance indicators of the group
and are not managed separately Accordingly, the kay performance indicators of the Brammer group, which include those of the company,
are discussed in the chief executive's review and the financial review of the groug's annual report which do not form part of this report

Principal nsks and uncertainties

From the perspective of the company, the principal nsks and uncertanties, including the financial nsks, are integrated with the pnncipal
nsks of the group and are not managed separately Accordingly, the prnncipal nsks and uncertainties of the Brammer group, which include
those of the comparny, are discussed on pages 20 and 21 of the group's annual repart which do not farm part of this report, and the
financial nsk factors which include those of the company, are discussed on pages 61 and 62 of the group's annual report

Employees
This information 1s shewn in the diectors' report n the group section of the annual report on page 29

Payment to suppliers
The company s a holding company and had no trade suppliers at the end of the financial year

Directors and directors’ interests
This information 1S shown in the group section of the annual report

Tax status
The company 18 net a close company for tax purposes

Statement of directors’ responsibilities
The directors are responsible for prepanng the annual report and the financial statermments In accordance with applicable law and
regulatons

Company law requires the directors 10 prepare financial statements for each financial year Under that law the directors have elected
te prepare the financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom
Accounting Standards and applicable law} The financial statements are required by law (o give a true and far view of the state of
affairs of the company and of the profit or loss of the company for that period

In prepanng those financial statements, the directors are required o
» select sutable accounting policies and then apply them consistently,
¢ make judgements and estimates thai are reasenable and prudent,

# state whather applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any matenal departures disclosed and explaned
in the financial statements, and

e prepare the financial statements on tha going concern basis unless it 1s Inapproprate to presume that the company will continua in
business

The directors confirm that they have complied with the above requrements tn prepanng the financial statemenis

The drectors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
positon of the company and enable them to ensure that the financial statemants comply with the Companies Act 2006 They are also
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of
fraud and other rregulanties

Auditors

So far as the directors are awars, there 1s no relevant audit information of which the auditors are unaware Each director has taken all
the steps that he ought to have taken as a director in order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit nformation and to establish
that the cempany’s auditors are aware of that nforrmation

By order of the board
Chris Short
Secretary

22 February 2011
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Independent auditors’ report to the members of Brammer plc

We have audited the parent company financial statements of Brammer ple for the year ended 31 December 2010 which compnse the
balance sheet, the accounting policies and the related notes The financial reporung framework that has been applied in ther preparation
15 apphcable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice)

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

As explained more fully in the diractors’ responsibilities statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the parent company
financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view Our regponstbility 13 to audit and exprass an opinion on
the parent company financial staternents in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and lreland}
Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards for Auditors

This report, including the opinions, has baen prepared for and only for the company’s members as a body In accordance with Chapter
3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility
for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report 18 shown or into whase hands it may come save where expressly
agreed by our prior consent in wrting

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves cbtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance
that the financial statements are free from maternal misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error This includes an assessment of
whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the parent company's circumstances and have been consistently applied and
adequately disclosed, the reasonableness of significant accounting estmates made by the directors, and the overall presentation of
the financial statements

Opinion on financial statements
Ir our ppinion the parent company financial statements

¢ gve a true and farr view of the state of the company's affars as at 31 December 2010,
» have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, and
e have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006

Opimion on other matters prescribed by the Compamies Act 2006

in our opInon

e the part of the directors’ remuneration report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act
20086, and

« the nformation given in the directors’ report for the financial year for which the parent company financial statements are prepared
15 consistent with the parent company financial statements

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We have nothing to report In respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you If, In our

opnion

e adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been receved
from branches not visited by us or

e the parent company financial statements and the part of the directors’ remuneration report to be audited are not In agreement with
the accounting records and returns, cr

& certan disclosures of directors’ remuneratton specified by law are not made, or
e we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit

Other matter
We have reported separately on the group financial staternents of Brammer plc for the year ended 31 December 2010

OA—

Nicholas Boden (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Manchester

22 February 2011
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Balance sheet

At 31 December 2010

2010 2009
Notes £'000 £ 000
Fixed assets
Tangble assets 1 3,484 3232
Invesiments - shares in group undertalangs 2 94,845 94,706
98,329 97,938
Current assets
Debtors - due after more than one year 3 99,721 107,087
Debtors — due within one year 3 5,063 6,282
104,784 113,369
Cash at bank and in hand 114 8,617
104,898 121 986
Creditors = amounts falling due withun one year 4 {57,115} (53.315)
Net current assets 47,783 68,671
Total assets less current liabilities 146,112 166,609
Creditors — amounts faling due after more than one year 5 {51,333) {71,086)
Frovisions for liabilites 67 {58) {250}
Net assets 94,721 95,273
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital El 21,272 21,257
Share premium account 18,152 18,092
Special capital reserve 12,077 12,077
Profit and loss account 43,220 43,847
Total shareholders’ funds 8 94,721 95,273

The notes on pages 91 to 96 form part of these accounts

The accounts ware approved by the board on 2 uary 2011 and ware signed on its behalf by

David Dunn Paul Thwatte
Charman Finance director

-
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Accounting policies

Basis of preparation
The company financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis and under the histoncal cost convention and in
accordance with the Companies Act 2006 and with applicable UK accounting standards

A separate profit and loss account dealing with the results of the company has not been presented as permitted by section 408(3) of
the Companies Act 2006

Cash flow statement
Under FRS1 the company 1s exempt from the requirement to prepare a cash flow statement on the grounds that a parent undertaking
includes the company In its published consolidated financial statements

Foreign currencies
Monetary assets and habilities in foreign currencies are translated into sterling at the rates of exchange ruling on the balance sheet
date and exchange differences are taken to the profit and loss account

Fixed assets
Fixed assets are stated at cost and include the onginal purchase price of the asset together with ths costs attnbutable to bnnging the
asset to 1ts working condition for ts intended use Finance costs are not capitalised as part of fixed assets

Software development

Costs associated with mantaining computer software programmes are recognised as an expense as incurred Costs that are directly
associated with identifiable software systems operated by the group and which will generate economic benefits exceeding costs
beyond one year, are recognised as fixed assets Direct costs include staff costs of the software develepment team and an appropriate
portion of direct overheads

Expenditure which enhances or extends the performance of identfiable software systems beyond their cnigingl specificaicns s recognised
as a capital mprovement and added to the onginal cost of the software Computer software development costs recognised as assels
are amortised using the straight-ine method over their useful ives not exceeding a penod of 7 years

Depreciation

Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less depreciation Depreciation 1s provided by equal annual instaiments to write off the cost of
fixed assets net of residual valuas, over the expected useful ife of the asset concerned In general the hives of the assets have been
estimated as follows

Equipment 4-7 years

Investments
Shares In subsidiary companies and fixed asset investments are shown at cost subject to provision for imparment in valuation

Borrowings
Borrowings are recognised as the proceeds receved, net of transaction costs incurred, which are then amortised over the expected
IHe of the facility

Deferred consideration
The amounts recognised for deferred consideration are the directors’ best estimates of the actual amount which will be payable Deferred
consideration 1s discounted at an appropriate nsk-free rate

Penston costs

The company participates in a funded group operated defined benefit pension schema, the Brammer Services Retirement Banefit Schema
Under the defimtions set cut in FRS 17, the Brammer scheme s a mult-employer pension scheme The company 15 unable to idenhify
its share of the underlying assets and llablities i the scheme on a consistent and reasonable basis and therefore treats the scheme
as a defined contribution scheme Pension costs related to defined contnbution schemes are charged as contnbutions fall due

Provisions
Provisions In respect of labilities are made in accordance with FRS 12 and are discounted where the effect 1s matenal
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Accounting policies

Share based payments

The far values of employee share option and share performance plans are calculated using the Black-Scholes model In accordance
with FRS 20, Share-based Payrments' the resulting cost is charged to the profit and loss account over the vesting penod of the options
The total amount to be expensed over tha vesting penod I1s determined by reference to the farr valus of the options granted, excluding
the impact of any non-markat vesting conditions Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of
options that are expected to vest At each balance shest date, the value of the charge 1s adjusted to reflect expected and actual levels
of options vesting for changes in non-market vesting cntera

Current and Deferred tax
Current tax
Corporation tax payable 1s provided on taxable profits at the current rate

Deferred tax

Deferred taxation 1s recogrused in raspect of all trming differences that have onginated but not revarsed at the balance sheet date
where transactions or events that result in an obligation to pay more tax in the future or a nght to pay less tax in the future have occurred
at the balance sheet date Deferred tax assets are regarded as recoverable and recogrnised in the financial statements whan, on the
basis of avalable ewidence, 1t 1s more likely than not 1hat there will be suitable taxable profits from which the future reversal of the trming
differences can be deducted The recoverabliity of tax losses 15 assessed by reference to forecasts which have been prepared and
approved by the board Deferred tax assets and habilites are not discounted

Drrectors’ remuneration, employee share schemes and dividends
Details of directars’ remuneration, employee share schemes and dvidends are incfuded in the group section of the annual report
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Notes to the accounts

1 Fixed assets - tangible assets

2010 2000
£000 £ 000
Equipment
Cost
At 1 January 6,841 6,316
Additions 1,027 525
At 31 December 7,868 6,841
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 3,609 2,440
Charge 775 1,169
At 31 December 4,384 3.609
Net book value
At 1 January 3,232 3,876
Movement in year 252 {644)
At 31 December 3,484 3,232
2 Fixed assets -~ investments (unlisted)
2010 2009
£'000 £000
Subsidiaries
At 1 January 94,706 92,3086
Addional nvestment in extsting subsidiaries 139 2,400
At 31 December 94,845 94,706

Detaits of the principal operating subsidianes which are either wholly owned by the company or Iis subsidianes are shown In the group
section of the report on page 26

In the opimien of the directars, the value of the company's Investments In its subsidiaries 1s not less than the amount at which it 18
stated in the balance sheet

3 Debtors
2010 2009
£'000 £ 000
Amounts cue after one year
Amounts owed by group undertakings 99,721 107,087
Amounts dus within one year
Amounts owed by group undertakings 4,345 5,541
Other debtors 509 520
Prepayments and accrued income 209 221
5,063 6,282
104,784 113,369

Amounts owed by group undertakings are unsecured and carry interest at varying margins relating to base rate The loans are repayable
at any tme with the mutual agreement of both parties

93 | Brammer ple | Annual Report 2010




Notes to the accounts

4 Creditors — amounts falling due within one year

2010 2009

£000 £ 000

Bank overdrafts 4,454 -
Amounts owed to group undertakings 40,829 47,829
Carporaticn tax 1,675 2,370
Deferred consideration 6,906 2,082
Accruals 3,251 1,034
57,118 53,315

Amounts owed to group undertakings are unsecured and carry Interest at varying margins refating to baserate The loans are repayable

at any time with the mutual agreement of both parties

The amounts recogrised on acquisition in respect of deferred consideration are management’s best estmates of the amounts which
will be payable Both the amounts and the timing of future payments are uncertain as they are dependent upon the future performance

of the businesses acquired

5 Creditors — amounts falling due after more than one year

2010 2009
£'000 £000
Bank and other borrowings
Unsecured bank loan repayable
Between one and two years 51,333 -
Between two and five years - 64,409
Over five years - -
51,333 64 409
Deferred consideration - 6,677
51,333 71,086
Details of the bank loans are given In notes 14 and 15 of the group financial statements
6 Deferred tax
2010 2009
£'000 £ 600
Deferred tax
At 1 January (51) (129)
Profit and loss account (4] 74
At 31 December {58} (51)
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Notes to the accounts

7 Provisions
2010 2009
£'000 £ 000
At 1 January (199) -
Utised 199 (199
At 31 December - (199)

Prowvisions related to restructunng costs incurred in 2009 which were settled in 2010 See note 16 in the group consolidated financial
statements

8 Movement in Shareholders’ funds

Share Snare Special Frofit and loss 2040 2008

capitai pramium capital account Tatal Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £'000 £000
At 1 January 21,267 18,002 12,077 43,847 95,273 59,575
Shares issued during the year 15 60 - - 75 39
Net proceeds from rights 1ssue - - - - - 35,305
Profit for the financial year - - - 5,421 5,421 5429
Dwvidends - - - 6,042) (6,042) (4,.078)
Purchase of own shares [note 9) - - - {6) (6) (301)
Value of employes services - - - - - {696)
Movement in year 15 60 - (627} (552) 35,698
At 31 December 21,272 18,152 12,077 43,220 94,721 95,273

The special capital reserve 1s non-distributable

The company owns 277,634 (2008 331,886) of its own shares at a cost of £242 508 (2006 £248,158}

9 Called up share capital

2010 2009
Number Nurnber

Crdinary shares of 20p each

Allotted, called up and fully paid

At 31 December 106,361,185 106,285,588

Resolution One passed at the General Meeting held on 29 October 2008 removed the mit on the company on its atxhity to 1ssue
shares Accordingly the company has no imit on authonsed share capital (2009 no limit)

In the penod from 1 January 2011 to 22 February 2011 no shares were 1ssued on the exercise of options under the company’s share
aplion schemes
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Notes to the accounts

9 Called up share capital

Purchase of own shares

During the year the company acquied 4,377 of its own shares through the Brammer plc Employee Share Ownership Trust {“the Trust”)
for an aggregate consideration of £6,076 which has been deducted from shareholders' equity The shares are held by the Trust In
order to meet vestings under the company’s performance share plans and share matching plans

During the year 58 629 sharas waere transfarred to directars and senior managers to mest vastings under these plans
At 31 December 2010 the Trust held a total of 277,634 shares in the company in order 1o meet part of the company’s kabihties under
the performance share plans and share matching plans The Trust deed contains a waiver provision i respect of these shares

Ordinary shares 1ssued
Options exercised dunng the year under the group’s employee share option schames resulted in 75,597 ordinary 20p shares being
1ssued with exercise proceeds of £75,316

10 Employee benefit expense

2010 2009

£'000 £ 000

Wages and salarnes 4,216 3,157
Social secunty costs 648 433
Share options granted to directors and employaes - (696)
Other pension costs 2,395 1,902
7,259 4,796

Average number of amployees (including directors on a service contract} 41 40

11 Contingent liabilities

The company's major subsidianes are party to a bank guarantee whereby they agree to discharge on demand, in part or in total, bank
borrowings under a specific faciity of other companies within the Brammer ple group

12 Related party transactions

The company 1s exempt under the terms of FRS 8 from disclosing related party transactions with entities that are part of the group as
these transacticns are fully elminated on consclidation
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Financial calendar 2011

17 May 2011 Annual general meeting at 43-45 Broad Street, Teddington, Middlesex TW11 8QZ
10 June 2011 Record date

5 July 2011 Dividend payment date

5 August 2011 Announcement of intenm results for the six months to 30 June 2011

Shareholder information

If you require any information about your shareholding please contact the company's registrars, Equimb, Aspect House,
Spencer Road, Lancing, West Sussex BN99 6DA telephone 0871 3842215 Calls to this number cost 8p per minute from
a BT landhne, other providers’ casts may vary Lines are open from 8 30am to 5 30pm, Monday to Friday For overseas
callers the number to call 15 +44 (0})121 4157047

The registrar has introduced a service for shareholders which gives them on-line internet access to ther shareholding
To register please go to www shareview co uk You will need your shareholder account number and you will be asked
to select your own PIN If you have any further questions about this service please contact Equiniti on the above number

Our website
You can find out further information about Brammer plc and view company announcements on the Brammer website
at www brammer biz

ShareGift scheme
Some shareholders find themselves owning a very small number of shares that would cost them more to dispose of than
they are worth They bring with themn a tax hability and unwanted documentation

The ShareGift scheme 1 a registered chanty run by The Qrr Mackintosh Foundation Any shares donated to the ShareGift
scheme dre transferred into the name of The Orr Mackintosh Foundation, the shares are sold where possible and the proceeds
are donated to chanty

If you would like further information on the ShareGift Scheme please call 020 7930 3737 or visit its website at www sharegift org

Designed and produced by Simplifydesign | www simphfydesign com | Portrait photography by Charlie Best }
Photographs on pages 10 and 12 provided courtesy of Parker Hannifin Europe Sart | Printed by Moore




Brammer plc
Claverton Court
Claverton Road
Wythenshawe
Manchester M23 9NE

T +44 (0)161 902 5599
F +44 (0)161 902 5585
enquines@brammer biz
www brammer biz

g

5‘

BRAMMER




